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LIVEWIRE MOBILE INC NASDAQ LVWR is leading provider of managed

personalization services for mobile operators LiveWire Mobiles integrated

suite of music and video services includes ringback tones ringtones and full

track downloads as well as dedicated content and service marketing

LiveWire Mobile makes mobile personalization services easier to use and

helps operators drive service usage and adoption

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning

of the federal securities laws Forward-looking statements relate to future

events or future financial or operating performance Please refer to the

discussions in Item Business and Item Risk Factors in our annual

report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 for detailed

description of forward-looking statements and the risks related to our

business and industry



Fellow Shareholders

It is my pleasure to be writing to you as the CEO of LiveWire Mobile 2008 was an exciting year for

the Company culminating in the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business and our

corporate name change to LiveWire Mobile Inc from NMS Communications Corporation

Subsequently we began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market under the ticker LVWR We are

pleased to be operating as standalone company

Business Overview

LiveWire Mobile is leading provider of managed personalization services for mobile operators and

mobile subscribers Our integrated suite of services now includes ringback tones ringtones full

track downloads and other applications as well as dedicated content and service marketing

integrated storefront management and merchandising

We believe there will be significant market opportunity for our managed services as subscribers

increasingly seek to personalize their mobile identity and experience We have taken several steps

over the past year to build comprehensive platform capable of providing operators with an

integrated storefront solution for their subscribers mobile personalization needs LiveWire Mobile

will continue to help mobile operators deliver more compelling personalization experience with

the goal of achieving higher levels of service adoption usage and operator profitability

In response to both our increased corporate focus and the current economic environment we have

streamlined our organization to concentrate our efforts on managed mobile personalization services

primarily in the North American regiona market predicted to be $2.3 billion in 2010 according to

IDC Today our managed services customer footprint includes 11 mobile operators and greater

than one and half million active monthly mobile subscribers We believe the Company is making

progress towards profitability helped by the recurring revenue nature of our growing managed
service business which provides us increased revenue visibility and predictability

Looking ahead

As we look ahead our goal is to increase the number of mobile subscribers using our

personalization services while also growing the average monthly revenue ARPU of those

subscribers We believe there are several ways to grow the number of subscribers using our

services by launching services with new mobile operator customers by launching additional

services with our existing customer base and by growing the use of existing launched services

through proactive marketing collaboration with our customers We also believe there are

opportunities across our portfolio to increase ARPU including the bundling and cross-selling of

existing services as well as offering high-value subscription services Finally we will continue to

strive towards profitability by balancing disciplined expense and cash management with support for

managed services growth opportunities

would like to recognize the LiveWire Mobile team for all their hard work and dedication to

delivering innovative and industry-leading services would also like to thank our customers and our

shareholders for their ongoing support look forward to communicating with you throughout 2009

Joel Hughes
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of

Section 27A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 that involve substantial risks and uncertainties including but not limited to statements concerning

new services services development and offerings cash and non-cash charges product and price

competition competition and strategy customer diversification employees contingent consideration

payments deferred revenues economic and political market conditions potential government

regulation seasonal factors stock-based compensation revenue recognition profits growth of revenues

composition of revenues cost of revenues operating expenses sales and sales cycle marketing and

support expenses general and administrative expenses research and development expenses valuations

of investments technology relationships gross margins amortization expense goodwill and intangible

assets interest income interest expense anticipated operating and capital expenditure requirements

cash inflows contractual obligations borrowings advertising campaigns tax rates and deductions

SFAS 123R leasing and subleasing activities acquisitions divestitures liquidity litigation matters

intellectual property matters stock price restructuring impairment and other charges and potential

debt or equity financings Our actual results of operations and financial condition have varied and

could in the future
vary materially from those stated in any forward-looking statements If any of the

following risks and uncertainties actually occurs our business financial condition and operating results

would likely suffer You can identify these forward-looking statements by our use of the words

believes anticipates plans expects may will would intends estimates predicts

potential continue and similar expressions whether in the negative or affirmative We cannot

guarantee that we actually will achieve these plans intentions and expectations disclosed in the

forward-looking statements we make Factors that could cause actual results to differ from the forward-

looking statements include but are not limited to those discussed in Item 1A Risk Factors below as

well as other risks and uncertainties referenced in this annual report on Form 10-K We do not assume

any obligations to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this Form 10-K to

conform these statements to actual results

Live Wire Mobile and MyCaller are registered trademarks of LiveWire Mobile Inc All other brand

names or trademarks appearing in this annual report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective

holders

References in this Form 10-K to the Company the registrant we our and us refer to

LiveWire Mobile Inc and its subsidiaries

Overview

We are provider of managed personalization services for mobile operators and mobile

subscribers We infuse personalization capabilities into traditional mobile communications that are easy

to use for mobile subscribers and generate revenue for mobile operators Our integrated managed
service offerings include ringback tones ringtones full track downloads and other applications as well

as dedicated content and service marketing integrated storefront management and merchandising We
sell these offerings as managed service to mobile operators who then offer these services to their

subscribers as la carte purchases and through monthly subscriptions Mobile operators brand and

offer our services to increase subscriptions and subscriber content consumption and grow average

revenue per user ARPU and reduce subscriber turnover We also sell our MyCaller ringback

platform as bundled product hardware and licenses and service offering including installation

maintenance and support professional services and training which we refer to as cap-ex

arrangement We sell our products and services primarily through our direct sales force as well as



through channel partners Our offerings are deployed in approximately 32 operators around the world

with approximately seven million active subscribers

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1983 under the name Natural Microsystems Corporation and

changed our name to NMS Communications Corporation in May 2001 prior to changing our name to

LiveWire Mobile Inc in December 2008 We previously operated as one of three separate operating

business units which also included our Network Infrastructure business and our NMS Communications

Platforms business In an effort to focus our efforts on our managed personalization services to mobile

operators and mobile subscribers we undertook the following

On December 21 2007 we sold our Network Infrastructure business NI Business to Verso

Technologies Inc Verso for cash consideration of $0.9 million and 5374033 shares of Verso

common stock which was valued at $1.8 million as of December 31 2007 The Network

Infrastructure business focused on solutions for the radio access network RAN portion of

mobile operators infrastructure

On March 17 2008 we acquired Groove Mobile Inc Groove Mobile for total purchase

price of $15.9 million including cash consideration of $14.5 million and total transaction costs

and facility exit costs of approximately $1.4 million Of the total cash consideration paid

$1.2 million of which was placed into an escrow account to settle certain claims for

indemnification which could be made by the Company following the closing of the Groove

Mobile acquisition Groove Mobile is provider of mobile music solutions

On December 2008 we sold our NMS Communications Platforms business the Asset Sale

to Dialogic Corporation Dialogic for cash consideration of $28.0 million $2.8 million of

which was placed into an escrow account to settle certain claims for indemnification which can

be made by Dialogic following the closing of the Asset Sale and $0.4 million of which was

placed in escrow to settle certain contingencies that may arise related to levels of working

capital The NMS Communications Platforms business provided embedded technology and

platforms that enabled the rapid creation and deployment of broad range of value-added

services for mobile and converged networks ranging from voice mail and interactive voice

response solutions to video portals and mobile TV and multi-media messaging systems

The consummation of the Asset Sale and the subsequent restructuring of the Company to focus

exclusively on our mobile personalization services business has provided us with additional resources to

pursue the growing mobile personalization
services market

Our Service and Products

We believe our managed personalization offerings address the needs of mobile operators and their

subscribers We offer complete portfolio of integrated mobile personalization services including

ringback tones ringtones full-track downloads and other applications as well as dedicated content and

service marketing allowing mobile operators to deliver these popular services through an integrated

storefront management system resulting in better mobile experience for subscribers

Managed Personalization Suite Todays mobile subscribers are continually looking for ways to set

themselves apart Our suite of managed personalization services lets mobile subscribers create

unique mobile identity We tailor our managed services for an operators brand network and

subscribers We help to secure the success of deployed services by working with operators

marketing teams from concept to service launch

Ringback Tones Our ringback services give mobile subscribers the power to select world

class original recordings of music sounds and voices for callers to hear in place of the

conventional ringback We offer comprehensive suite of ringback services that have

broad appeal across the full spectrum of mobile subscribers Our ringback service gives



mobile subscribers access through multiple storefront options including Web Wireless

Application
Protocol WAP Interactive Voice Response IVR and Short Message

Service SMS
Full-Track Music Our mobile music service includes a-la-carte downloads rental

subscription service and the ability to side-load music from PC This service is

supported by our content catalog merchandising expertise
and marketing knowledge to

help mobile operators
deliver full -track music to their subscribers and includes the

following features

Web and WAP store enables mobile subscribers to browse discover purchase and

manage their mobile music The WAP store is designed for fast deployment and wide

handset penetration

Mobile Music Player
is full-featured software application designed specifically for

mobile subscribers It supports
aacPlus media and leverages artwork track metadata

and enhanced features including playlist management and music sharing to provide

mobile subscribers with rich mobile music experience

Ringtones Our ringtone service provides comprehensive set of real tones and polyphonic

ringtones
that allows mobile subscribers to personalize

their mobile phones ringer The

service is supported through Web and WAP interfaces

Achieve Marketing Service This service provides comprehensive life-cycle marketing and

content support
for our managed services The service tracks trends and shares information

including best practices operator benchmarks pre-launch
check lists and post-launch

reviews The Achieve Marketing Service also provides detailed assessments and consultation

to mobile operators focusing on service utilization content management and offers

marketing campaign brainstorming and user interface UI design In addition the service

provides access to our extensive content library and content merchandising designed to

encourage increased content consumption and greater service usage Our team of Achieve

regional music experts
is well-versed about the music industry and stays on top of current

hits and emerging artists

Infuse Infuse is service platform that powers our services and delivers complete

personalization capability
that encompasses simplified user experience

and service discovery

robust content management powerful personalization engines targeted marketing and

promotions and flexible services billing

Integrated Storefront This service enables mobile operators
to streamline business

operations and simplify their subscribers experience by offering range
of LiveWire

Mobiles mobile personalization
services and other third party services under single

storefront This integrated approach allows our team of content merchandising experts to

increase mobile operators service adoption usage and revenues by creating multi-content

multi-service cross-selling and up-selling opportunities such as promotional campaigns

content bundles and user-specific recommendations Powered by the Infuse service platform

the Integrated Storefront simplifies an operators business and network operations across

multiple content services by streamlining service management such as content ingestion

storefront merchandising and cross-service reporting

MyCaller Ringback This is the platform version of our ringback
service that is made available

through channel partners and to mobile operators
who prefer to purchase capital equipment

software licenses and support to deploy ringback service MyCaller Ringback gives
subscribers

the power to select world-class original recordings of music sounds and voices for callers to hear

in place of the conventional ringback



Competitive Strengths

We believe that we have the capability to develop deploy manage and market services that

address mobile operator needs for complete managed mobile personalization services suite We
believe that we will continue to be attractive to mobile

operators and mobile subscribers because of the

following strengths

Breadth of mobile personalization services which include ringback tones full-track music and

ringtones

Strong relationships with content providers across multiple media types

Achieve Marketing Services offering which provides marketing and operational benefits to our

mobile operator customers

Technology expertise in delivering end-to-end solutions into the mobile network

Platform expertise which spans from client to server and

Experience in delivering successful services on behalf of mobile operators

Growth Strategy

Our goal is to be the leading provider of managed personalization services for mobile operators
and mobile subscribers Our strategies for growth and to achieve this goal include the following

elements

Provide our customers with high-value offerings that enable them to bring services to market

quickly and grow revenue and increase profitability

Focus on the growing market
opportunity in North America for mobile personalization services

Leverage our leadership and highly-focused market position to build new customer relationships

with leading mobile operators

Expand our existing customer relationships by launching additional services from our mobile

personalization suite delivered via an integrated storefront

Bring best-in-class managed service programs of deployment operations and storefront

merchandising to the mobile personalization marketplace

Continue to investigate offerings that address the growing importance of the off-portal and

on-line marketplace and

Collaborate with content provider partners handset manufacturers and mobile operators on

content strategies and programs that increase ARPU

Business Segments and Geographic Information

We operate as one business segment For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006
34% 26% and 37% respectively of our total revenues were derived from

operations inside the

Americas For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 25% 19% and 2% of our total

revenues respectively were derived from Asia and 41% 55% and 61% of overall revenues

respectively were derived from Europe Middle East and Africa collectively For more geographic

information including revenue by geographic area for each of the three last fiscal years and long-lived
assets by geographic area for each of the two last fiscal years see our consolidated financial statements

included in this annual report on Form 10-K including Note 17 Segment and Geographic
Information



Customers

We sell our managed service offerings primarily through our direct sales force We also sell our

cap-ex offerings through our direct sales force and channel partners During 2008 three customers

Ericsson AB Samsung and Sprint Nextel Corporationrepresented 24% 18% and 17% respectively

of the Companys total revenues During 2007 three customersEricsson AB Leap Wireless

International Inc and Acisionrepresented 59% 22% and 17% respectively of the Companys total

revenues During 2006 three customersEricsson AB Acision and Nokia Corporationrepresented

72% 13% and 13% respectively of the Companys total revenues At December 31 2008 two

customersEricsson AB and Sprint Nextel Corporationrepresented 39% and 26% respectively of

the Companys outstanding accounts receivable balance At December 31 2007 two customers

Ericsson AB and Jabil Circuit Inc.represented 14% and 11% respectively of the Companys

outstanding accounts receivable balance The loss or reduction in revenue from one or more of the

foregoing customers would have material adverse effect on our business and operations

Sales and Marketing

We sell our managed service offerings primarily on direct basis to mobile operators We also sell

our cap-ex offerings through our direct sales force and channel partners As of December 31 2008 our

sales and marketing organization consisted of 28 employees in four countries worldwide including

employees in India 16 employees in the United States employee in Canada and employees in

the United Kingdom We also recruit and
partner

with the major and independent record labels to

create content library of over ten million assets

Our marketing strategy consists of three primary methods to increase awareness and create

demand for our offerings public and analyst relations collateral/thought leadership and trade show

events Our public relations efforts are focused on mobile entertainment and wireless industry-related

and general business media relationships which increase general awareness of our business and

services As complement to our public relations industry analysts act as independent references and

provide opinions on our service offerings With our collateral and thought leadership efforts we target

specific audiences with variety of sales tools and brand-building materials consisting of mostly

web-based communications We also speak sponsor and/or conduct meeting campaigns at selected large

and small industry trade shows in North America

Manufacturing

Through supply agreement we utilize Arrow Electronics Inc provider of manufacturing

services to assemble test and ship all of our hardware product offerings

Research and Product Development

We believe that the extension and enhancement of our existing services and offerings as well as the

development of new products and services are critical to our future success Therefore we undertake

direct research and development engage in joint product development with selected partners and

participate in the development of industry standards where appropriate Our research and development

activities consist of the design development testing and enhancement of our services and products

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we spent $7.5 million $5.7 million and

$8.2 million or 48% 44% and 92% respectively of our revenue on research and development As of

December 31 2008 our current product development is conducted by 79 employees located at our

headquarters in Littleton Massachusetts and at our office in Bangalore India



Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on proprietary technology and know-how We rely primarily on

combination of trade secret and copyright laws and restrictions on access to protect our trade secrets

and proprietary rights We hold certain issued patents and have filed additional patent applications with

respect to certain of our technology We distribute our products and services under license and other

agreements which grant customers non-exclusive license to use our software and services and contain

certain terms and conditions prohibiting unauthorized reproduction or transfer We enter into

confidentiality agreements with our suppliers and customers when we disclose proprietary information

to them In addition we enter into confidentiality agreements and assignment of invention agreements

with our employees and consultants Despite these precautions unauthorized third parties may copy

aspects of our products or obtain information that we regard as proprietary

We depend on development supply marketing licensing and other relationships with companies

for complementary technologies necessary for us to offer broad range of products and services These

relationships are generally non-exclusive and run for finite term

We believe that due to the rapid pace of innovation within the industry in which we participate

factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel and ongoing reliable product

maintenance and support are more important in establishing and maintaining leadership position

within the industry than are the legal protections for technologies conferred by intellectual property

laws

Competition

Competition in the markets that we target for our services is intense and diverse Our primary

competition comes from other providers of mobile managed services These can be providers of

individual services such as ringback tones or full-track music or providers of broader integrated

storefront solution which can include multiple service offerings In addition we compete against

marketing services companies that provide content marketing expertise and content catalogs In limited

cases we compete against platform technology companies who sell their products to mobile operators

that prefer to purchase equipment only and not services We believe that the trend for mobile network

operators to increasingly outsource their personalization services delivery needs will continue to

broaden our market opportunity We also believe that our key competitive differentiators in this market

include our ability to deliver complete suite of mobile personalization services through an integrated

storefront our dedicated marketing services to help mobile
operators

drive service adoption and usage

and our technology platform that provides advanced marketing and offering functionality Current

competitors for our services include RealNetworks Inc Motricity Inc Amdocs QPASS

Cellmania Inc Ericsson AB Amazon.com Inc and Apple Inc

Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 168 full-time employees consisting of 27 in services and

operations in sales 34 in finance business operations and administration 23 in marketing and 79 in

research and development None of our employees are represented by labor union We have never

experienced work stoppage and consider our relations with our employees to be good

Discontinued Operations

On December 21 2007 we sold the Network Infrastructure business to Verso Technologies Inc

pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement the Verso Asset Purchase Agreement On December

2008 we sold the NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic pursuant to an Asset Purchase

Agreement the CP Asset Purchase Agreement In accordance with Statement of Financial

Standards SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets



SFAS 144 the operating results of the Network Infrastructure Business and the NMS

Communications Platforms business have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the

consolidated statement of operations
and related disclosures included in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements and in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K for all periods presented Our

description
of the business focuses on continuing operations

Additional Information

Our common stock has been publicly traded since our initial public offering in 1994 and currently

trades on the NASDAQ Global Market under the ticker symbol LVWR Our principal executive

offices are located at One Monarch Drive Suite 203 Littleton MA 01460 and our main telephone

number is 978-742-3100 We maintain website with the address wwwlivewiremobile.com We are not

including the information contained on our website as part of or incorporating it by reference into

this annual report on Form 10-K We make available free of charge through our website our proxy

statements registration statements annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-0 and

current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13d or 15d of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish such material to the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC Our SEC filings are also available over the Internet at the SECs

website at wwwsec.gov You may also read and copy any document we file by visiting the SECs public

reference room in Washington D.C at 100 Street NE Washington D.C 20549 Please call the SEC

at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference room

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The risks presented below may not be all of the risks that we may face These are the factors that

we believe could cause actual results to be different from expected and historical results Other sections

of this report
include additional factors that could have an effect on our business operations and

financial performance The industry in which we operate is very competitive and changes rapidly

Sometimes new risks emerge and management may not be able to predict all of them or be able to

predict how they may cause actual results to be different from those contained in any forward-looking

statements You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as prediction of future results If

any of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs our business financial condition and

operating results would likely suffer

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Failure to timely or successfully complete the transition of our resources to our business or restructure

our business may have material adverse consequences for the Company

In connection with the Asset Sale we have begun to transition all of the NMS Communications

Platform businesss resources to the business and restructure the business which includes consolidating

our staff and facilities If we are unable to successfully and timely complete this transitioning and

restructuring we may not achieve meaningful growth and sustainable profitability our remaining assets

could lose value we may not be able to retain key employees or key customer relationships we may

not have sufficient resources to successfully manage our business as stand-alone entity and we may

not be able to perform our obligations under various contracts and commitments Any of these

outcomes may have material adverse consequences for us and substantial negative impacts on our

business and our stock price



We have history of net losses in recent years we may incur net losses in the future and we may not

achieve profitability

We have incurred significant losses in the past three years including net losses of $38.1 million

$9.3 million and $15.8 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Past operating losses have adversely

affected our working capital total assets and stockholders equity We also
expect to incur non-GAAP

net loss from continuing operations of approximately $3.0 million in 2009 Our current operating plan

for 2009 has established cost structure the goal of which based on expected revenue growth will

position us for profitability in the future If revenues do not improve or if expenses are greater than

we anticipate we may continue to experience losses which could cause us to take actions to reduce

operating costs Accordingly we may not be able to achieve profitability in the future

We have limited cash to fund our business and operations and may need additional capital in the

future to sufficiently fund our operations which may not be available to us on favorable terms or at

all Failure to obtain any required financing would harm our ability to grow our business

Our operations may require additional funding in large part due to continued losses operating

expenses increases in capital expenditures and contractual obligations for the foreseeable future In

addition deterioration in the business environment and market conditions could negatively impact

operating results and liquidity We have limited amount of cash to fund our business and operations

Our cash balances at December 31 2008 were $19.3 million As result of expected payments of lease

termination costs restructuring costs transaction costs associated with the sale of the NMS
Communications Platforms business in 2008 and cash expected to be used in operations in 2009 we
estimate our cash balances to be approximately $8.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2009 including

anticipated receipt of escrow funds of $3.2 million relating to the sale of the NMS Communications

Platforms business If our cash and cash equivalents balances and any cash generated from operations

are not sufficient to meet our cash requirements we will require additional funding We expect to

finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings and debt financings as well as bank

borrowings and through interest income earned on the investment of our cash balances Our ability to

raise funds may be adversely impacted by current economic conditions including the effects of the

recent disruptions to the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide As result

of these and other factors we do not know whether additional financing will be available when needed
or that if available we will be able to obtain financing on terms favorable to our stockholders or us

Financings if available may be on terms that are dilutive or potentially dilutive to our stockholders If

new sources of financing are required but are insufficient or unavailable we would be required to

modify our growth and operating plans to the extent of available funding which would harm our ability

to maintain or grow our business

We currently partner with mobile operators to market and distribute our services and thus to generate

our revenues The loss of or change in any significant mobile operator relationships would cause us

to lose access to their subscribers and thus materially reduce our revenues

We sell our managed service offerings primarily through our direct sales force We also sell our

cap-ex offerings through our direct sales force and channel partners During 2008 three customers
Ericsson AB Samsung and Sprint Nextel Corporationrepresented 24% 18% and 17% respectively

of the Companys total revenues During 2007 three customersEricsson AB Leap Wireless

International Inc and Acisionrepresented 59% 22% and 17% respectively of the Companys total

revenues Our future success is highly dependent upon maintaining successful relationships with the

mobile
operators with which we currently work and establishing new mobile operator relationships

significant portion of our revenues is derived from
very limited number of mobile operators including

Sprint Nextel Corporation Our failure to maintain our relationships with or significant reduction in



revenues from one or more of these mobile operators would materially reduce our revenues and thus

harm our business operating results and financial condition

Because substantial portion of our revenues are currently derived from three mobile operators if any

of our significant mobile operators are unable to fulfill its payment obligations our financial condition

and results of operations would suffer

At December 31 2008 two customersEricsson AB and Sprint Nextel Corporationrepresented

39% and 26% respectively of the Companys outstanding accounts receivable balance Since 65% of

our outstanding accounts receivable at December 31 2008 were with these two customers we have

concentration of credit risk If any of these customers is unable to fulfill its payment obligations to us

under our agreements with them our revenues and cash flows could decline significantly and our

financial condition would be harmed In addition recent disruptions in national and international credit

markets have lead to scarcity of credit tighter lending standards and higher interest rates on

consumer and business loans Continued disruptions in credit markets may materially limit consumer

credit availability and restrict credit availability of our mobile operators which may also impact their

ability to fulfill their payment obligations

Our business has limited operating history as stand-alone entit which may make it difficult to

evaluate our business

Since we completed the Asset Sale in December 2008 we have only limited history of generating

revenues solely from our managed mobile personalization services as stand-alone entity and the

future revenue potential of operating our business is uncertain As result of our short operating

history we have limited financial data that can be used to evaluate our business Any evaluation of our

business and our prospects must be considered in light of the limited operating history of our business

and the risks uncertainties expenses and difficulties encountered by companies in our stage of

development in the emerging mobile entertainment industry To address these risks and uncertainties

we must do the following

maintain our current and develop new mobile operator relationships

maintain and expand our current and develop new relationships with third-party services

owners

retain or improve our current revenue-sharing arrangements with mobile operators and third-

party branded services owners

maintain and enhance our own brand

continue to develop and upgrade our technology either internally or with third parties

continue to enhance our information processing systems

increase the number of mobile subscribers for our mobile services

execute our business and marketing strategies successfully

respond to competitive developments and

attract integrate retain and motivate qualified personnel

We may be unable to accomplish one or more of these objectives which could cause our business

to suffer In addition accomplishing many of these efforts might be very expensive or may take

significant amount of time which would adversely impact our operating results and financial condition



Our operating results fluctuate and are difficult to predict which could cause our stock price to

decline

Our revenues and operating results could vary significantly from quarter to quarter because of

variety of factors many of which are outside of our control As result comparing our operating

results on period-to-period basis may not be meaningful In addition we may not be able to predict

our future revenues or results of operations We base our current and future expense levels on our

internal operating plans and sales forecasts and our operating costs are to large extent fixed As

result we may not be able to reduce our costs sufficiently or soon enough to compensate for an

unexpected shortfall in revenues and even small shortfall in revenues could disproportionately and

adversely affect financial results for that quarter Individual mobile operator relationships represent

meaningful portions of our revenues and net loss in any quarter In addition some payments from

mobile operators that we recognize as revenue on cash basis may be delayed unpredictably

In addition to other risk factors discussed in this item factors that may contribute to the variability

of our quarterly results include

timing and market acceptance of new services or enhancements introduced by us or our

competitors

timing and level of expenditures for sales marketing and product and services development

the popularity of new services released in prior periods

changes in prominence of deck placement for our services and those of our competitors

changes in pricing policies by us our competitors or our mobile operator customers and channel

partners

fluctuations in the size and rate of growth of overall subscriber demand for our services

the seasonality of our industry

strategic decisions by us or our competitors such as acquisitions divestitures spin-offs joint

ventures strategic investments or changes in business strategy and

general industry trends and market conditions

In addition if our quarterly revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or

public market analysts our common stock price may decline substantially

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited

As of December 31 2008 we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $310.6 million

for federal income tax purposes and federal tax credits of approximately $3.6 million which exclude the

impact of any unrecognized tax benefits residing within our subsidiaries If certain transactions occur

with respect to our capital stock including issuances redemptions recapitalizations exercises of

options conversions of convertible debt purchases or sales by 5%-or-greater shareholders and similar

transactions that result in cumulative change of more than 50% of the ownership of capital stock

over three-year period as determined under rules prescribed by the U.S Internal Revenue Code and

applicable Treasury regulations an annual limitation would be imposed with respect to the ability to

utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and federal tax credits Similar provisions may exist for state

tax purposes and vary by jurisdiction Because substantially all of our net operating loss carryforwards

are reserved for by valuation allowance we would not expect an annual limitation on the utilization

of our net operating loss carryforwards to significantly reduce our net deferred tax asset although the

timing of our cash flows may be impacted to the extent any such annual limitation deferred the

utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards to future tax years

10



Our common stock may be delisted from The NASDAQ Global Market which could negatively impact

the price of our common stock and our ability to access the capital markets

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market On August 20 2008 the Company

received letter from The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC NASDAQ advising that for the previous

30 consecutive business days the bid price of the Companys common stock had closed below the

minimum $1.00 per
share requirement for continued inclusion on The NASDAQ Global Market

NASDAQ has suspended its rules requiring minimum bid price of $1.00 until July 20 2009 If this

rule is enforced again beginning on July 20 2009 then we have until November 20 2009 to regain

compliance with the minimum bid price requirement If we fail to comply with this minimum bid price

requirement or any other listing standards applicable to issuers listed on The NASDAQ Global Market

our common stock may be delisted from The NASDAQ Global Market The delisting of our common

stock could significantly affect the ability of investors to trade our securities and could significantly

negatively
affect the value and liquidity of our common stock In addition the delisting of our common

stock could materially adversely affect our ability to raise capital or make acquisitions using our

common stock on terms acceptable to us or at all Delisting from The NASDAQ Global Market could

also have other negative results including the potential loss of confidence by customers and employees

the loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities

The markets we serve are highly competitive and we may be unable to compete effectively which could

adversely affect demand for our services our margins and our market share

The development distribution and sale of mobile services are highly competitive For mobile

subscribers we compete primarily on the basis of brand service quality and price For mobile

operators we compete for deck placement based on these factors as well as historical performance and

perception of sales potential and relationships with licensors of brands and other intellectual property

For services and brand licensors we compete based on royalty and other economic terms perceptions

of development quality porting abilities speed of execution distribution breadth and relationships with

mobile operators We also compete for experienced and talented employees

There are companies currently marketing services that compete directly with our services

Moreover our competitors and customers may be able to develop services that are superior to our

mobile personalization services that achieve greater customer acceptance or that have significantly

improved functionality or content as compared to our existing and future services By focusing all of

their efforts on specific niche of the market some of our competitors may succeed in introducing

services that change the competitive dynamic in that market niche and adversely affect demand for our

services Our competitors may be able to negotiate alliances with strategic partners on more favorable

terms than we are able to negotiate These competitive factors could render one or more of our

services obsolete which would adversely affect our revenues Current competitors for our services

include RealNetworks Inc Motricity Inc Amdocs QPASS Ceilmania Inc Ericsson AB
Amazon.com Inc and Apple Inc

If we are unable to compete effectively or we are not as successful as our competitors in our target

markets our sales could decline our margins could decline and we could lose market share any of

which would materially harm our business operating results and financial condition

If we are unsuccessful in establishing and increasing awareness of our brand and recognition of our

managed personalization services or if we incur excessive expenses promoting and maintaining our

brand or our mobile personalization services our potential revenues could be limited our costs could

increase and our operating results and financial condition would be harmed

Although we previously operated the business as division under the name LiveWire Mobile we

only recently changed our corporate name to LiveWire Mobile Inc We believe that establishing and
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maintaining our brand is critical to retaining and expanding our existing relationships with mobile

operators as well as developing new relationships Promotion of the LiveWire Mobile brand will

depend on our success in providing high-quality mobile personalization services Similarly recognition

of our mobile personalization services by mobile subscribers will depend on our ability to develop

content-rich high-quality engaging services However our success will also depend in part on the

services and efforts of third parties over which we have little or no control For instance if our mobile

operators fail to provide high levels of service their subscribers ability to access our mobile

personalization services may be interrupted which may adversely affect our results of operations and

our brand If mobile subscribers and mobile
operators

do not perceive our existing mobile

personalization services as high-quality or if we introduce new services that are not favorably received

by our mobile subscribers and mobile operators then we may be unsuccessful in building brand

recognition and brand loyalty in the marketplace In addition extending our brand and recognition of

our mobile personalization services will be costly and will involve extensive management time to

execute successfully If we fail to increase brand awareness and consumer recognition of our mobile

personalization services our potential revenues could be limited our costs could increase and our

business operating results and financial condition would suffer

Our growth strategy relies on managed services offerings that may not generate revenues and may

negatively affect our financial performance

Our growth strategy relies on revenue derived from recurring monthly subscription revenues and

download or transaction fees from customers of our managed service offerings In the managed services

model we receive payment from our customers based on subscriber counts and subscriber usage of our

solutions This business model may prove to be unsuccessful adversely affecting our revenue streams If

we cannot achieve expected revenue streams we will likely need to accelerate the depreciation of assets

capitalized for managed services further negatively affecting our financial performance

The success of our business depends upon our ability to increase subscription revenues and

transaction or download revenue

Our operating results could be adversely impacted by the loss of subscription revenue and

transaction or download revenue Mobile subscription and revenue share businesses are relatively new

media delivery model and we cannot predict with accuracy our long-term ability to maintain or increase

subscription and related revenue Subscribers may cancel their subscriptions to or usage of our

services for many reasons including perception that they do not use the services sufficiently or that

the service does not provide enough value lack of attractive or exclusive services generally or as

compared to competitive service offerings or because customer service issues are not satisfactorily

resolved

We are focusing our business on managed services and expect our cap-ex revenue to decline in the

future If cap-ex revenues decline more or faster than anticipated and our managed services revenues

are unable to offset that decline our business operating results and financial condition would suffer

As we focus on our managed services business we expect revenues from our cap-ex business to

decline significantly over time We offer our MyCaller ringback platform as bundled products and

services under cap-ex arrangements We sell our cap-ex offerings through our direct sales force and

channel partners We have notified certain of our cap-ex channel partners that we do not plan to

extend our agreements with them beyond their current terms Accordingly we expect revenues from

these arrangements to decline over time If revenues from our cap-ex business decline more or faster

than anticipated and we cannot grow our managed services revenues quickly enough our revenue

would decline and thus harm our business operating results and financial condition
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Contracts with our mobile operators subject us to significant risks that could negatively impact our

revenue or otherwise harm our operating results

We derive material portion of our revenue from mobile operator managed services Furthermore

many of these contracts do not provide for guaranteed minimum payments or usage levels Because

most of our mobile operator contracts are non-exclusive it is possible that our mobile operators
could

purchase similar services from third parties and cease to use our services in the future As result our

revenue derived under these agreements could be substantially reduced depending on the pricing
and

usage decisions of our mobile operators

Revenue related to our managed services is to large extent dependent upon the marketing and

promotion activities of our mobile operators The loss of mobile operators or reduction in marketing

or promotion of our applications
would likely result in the loss of future revenues from our mobile

operator managed services

Many of our mobile operator contracts are short term and allow for early termination by the

mobile operator with or without cause These contracts are therefore subject to renegotiation of pricing

or other key terms that could be adverse to our interests and leave us vulnerable to non-renewal by

the mobile operators If our mobile operator contracts are terminated not renewed or renegotiated in

manner less favorable to us our managed services revenue would be negatively impacted

Finally certain number of our mobile operator contracts obligate us to indemnify the mobile

operator for certain liabilities and losses incurred by them including liabilities resulting from third

party claims for damages that arise out of the use of our technology These indemnification terms

provide us with certain procedural rights including in some cases the right to control the defense of

the indemnified party Any claims against which we may be obligated to defend our mobile operators

could result in paying amounts pursuant to these obligations that could materially harm our operating

results

Mobile operators generally control the price charged for our mobile services and the billing and

collection for sales of our mobile personalization services and could make decisions detrimental to us

Mobile operators generally control the price charged for our mobile personalization services either

by approving or establishing the price of the services charged to their subscribers Some of our mobile

operator agreements also restrict our ability to change prices In cases where mobile operator approval

is required approvals may not be granted in timely manner or at all failure or delay in obtaining

these approvals the establishment of prices by the mobile operators for our services or changes in

these prices could adversely affect market acceptance of those services failure or delay by these

mobile operators in adjusting the retail price for our mobile personalization services could adversely

affect sales volume and our revenues for those services

Inferior mobile handset deck placement would likely adversely impact our revenues and thus our

operating results and financial condition

Mobile operators provide limited selection of services that are accessible to their subscribers

through deck on their mobile handsets The inherent limitation on the number of services available

on the deck is function of the limited screen size of handsets and mobile operators perceptions of

the depth of menus and numbers of choices mobile subscribers will generally utilize Mobile operators

typically provide one or more top level menus highlighting services that are recent top sellers that the

mobile operator believes will become top
sellers or that the mobile operator otherwise chooses to

feature in addition to link to menu of additional services sorted by genre We believe that deck

placement on either the top level or featured menu or toward the top of genre-specific or other

menus rather than lower down or in sub-menus is likely to result in services achieving greater

degree of commercial success If mobile operators choose to give our services less favorable deck
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placement our services may be less successful than we anticipate our revenues may decline and our

business operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed

If we fail to maintain and enhance our capabilities for porting services to broad array of mobile

handsets our attractiveness to mobile operators and branded services owners may be impaired and

our sales could suffer

Once developed our services may be required to be ported to or converted into separate versions

for more than 1000 different handset models many with different technological requirements These

include handsets with various combinations of underlying technologies user interfaces keypad layouts

screen resolutions sound capabilities and other mobile operator-specific customizations If we fail to

maintain or enhance our porting capabilities our sales could suffer and mobile operators might choose

to give our services less desirable deck placement or not to give our services placement on their decks

at all

Changes to our development processes to address new features or functions of handsets or

networks might cause inefficiencies in our porting process or might result in more labor intensive

porting processes In addition we anticipate that in the future we may be required to port existing and

new services to broader array of handsets If we utilize more labor intensive porting processes our

margins could be significantly reduced and it might take us longer to port services to an equivalent

number of handsets This in turn could harm our business operating results and financial condition

If our independent third-party suppliers cease development or provision of new services for us and we
are unable to find comparable replacements we may have to reduce the number of services that we
intend to introduce delay the introduction of some services or increase our internal development staff

which would be time-consuming and potentially costly process and as result our competitive

position would be adversely impacted

We may rely on independent third-party developers or suppliers to develop or provide some
elements of our services which subjects us to the following risks

key developers or suppliers who worked with us in the past may choose to work for or be

acquired by our competitors

developers or suppliers currently under contract may try to renegotiate our agreements with

them on terms less favorable to us and

our developers or suppliers may be unable or unwilling to allocate sufficient resources to

complete our services in timely or satisfactory manner or at all

If our developers or suppliers terminate their relationships with us or negotiate agreements with

terms less favorable to us we may have to reduce the number of services that we intend to introduce

delay the introduction of some services or increase our internal development staff which would be

time-consuming and potentially costly process and as result our business operating results and

financial condition would be harmed

If one or more of our services were found to contain hidden objectionable services our reputation and

operating results could suffer

Hidden services may be included in our services by an employee who was not authorized to do so

or by an outside developer or supplier without our knowledge These hidden services and features may
contain profanity and sexually explicit or otherwise objectionable material Our design and porting

process and the constraints on the file size of our services reduce the possibility of hidden

objectionable services appearing in the services we publish Nonetheless these processes and constraints

may not prevent this content from being included in our services If our services were found to contain
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hidden objectionable services our customers could refuse to sell it and consumers could refuse to buy

it or demand refund of their money This could have materially negative impact on our business

operating results and financial condition In addition our reputation could be harmed which could

impact sales of other services we sell and our attractiveness to mobile operators or other customers of

our services If any of these consequences were to occur our business operating results and financial

condition could be significantly harmed

If wireless subscribers do not continue to use their mobile handsets to access our services our

business growth and future revenues would be adversely affected

We operate in developing industry Our success depends on growth in the number of wireless

subscribers who use their handsets to access data services and in particular entertainment services of

the type we develop and distribute New or different mobile services developed by our current or future

competitors may be preferred by subscribers to our services If the market for our services does not

continue to grow or we are unable to acquire new mobile subscribers our business growth and future

revenues would be adversely affected If mobile subscribers switch their entertainment spending away

from our services our revenues would likely decline and our business operating results and financial

condition would suffer

Mobile subscriber tastes are continually changing and are often unpredictable if we fail to develop

new services that achieve market acceptance our sales would suffer

Our business depends on services that mobile operators will offer and mobile subscribers will buy

We must continue to invest significant resources in licensing efforts research and development and

marketing to enhance our offering of mobile personalization services and introduce new services and

we must make decisions about these matters well in advance of service release in order to implement

them in timely manner Our success depends in part on unpredictable and volatile factors beyond

our control including end-user preferences competing services and the availability of other

entertainment activities If our services are not responsive to the requirements of our mobile operator

customers or the preferences of mobile subscribers or they are not brought to market in timely and

effective manner our business operating results and financial condition would be harmed Even if our

services are successfully introduced and initially adopted subsequent shift in our mobile operator

customers or the preferences of mobile subscribers could cause decline in popularity that could

materially reduce our revenues and harm our business operating results and financial condition

Acquisitions and potential future acquisitions could be difficult to integrate divert the attention of key

personnel disrupt our business dilute stockholder value and impair our financial results

As
part

of our business strategy we acquired Groove Mobile and intend to consider additional

acquisitions of companies technologies and services that we believe could accelerate our ability to

compete in our core markets or allow us to enter new markets Acquisitions involve numerous risks

any of which could harm our business including

difficulties in integrating the operations technologies products existing contracts accounting

and personnel of the target company and realizing the anticipated synergies of the combined

businesses

difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers if any of the target company

diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations

the price we pay or other resources that we devote may exceed the value we realize or the value

we could have realized if we had allocated the purchase price or other resources to another

opportunity
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risks of entering new markets in which we have limited or no experience

potential loss of key employees customers and strategic alliances from either our current

business or the target companys business

assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities such as problems with the quality of

the target companys services and

inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs

Acquisitions also frequently result in the recording of goodwill and other intangible assets which

are subject to potential impairments in the future that could harm our financial results In addition if

we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities our existing stockholders may be

diluted which could lower the market price of our common stock As result if we fail to properly

evaluate acquisitions or investments we may not achieve the anticipated benefits of any such

acquisitions and we may incur costs in excess of what we anticipate The failure to successfully evaluate

and execute acquisitions or investments or otherwise adequately address these risks could materially

harm our business and financial results

We will have continuing obligations to indemnify Dialogic Corporation in connection with the Asset

Sale

In connection with the Asset Sale we have agreed to indemnify Dialogic until December 2009

for number of specified matters including the breach of our representations warranties and covenants

contained in the asset purchase agreement and in some cases until the expiration of the applicable

statute of limitations following the closing of the asset sale Under our agreement with Dialogic

$2.8 million of the total upfront cash payment was deposited into an escrow account to secure our

indemnification obligations to Dialogic following the closing We cannot predict the liabilities that may
arise as result of the Asset Sale Any liability claims related to the Asset Sale or any indemnification

claims made by Dialogic could materially and adversely affect our financial condition

Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual

property infringement damages caused by malicious software and other losses

In the ordinary course of our business most of our agreements with mobile operators include

indemnification provisions In these provisions we agree to indemnify them for losses suffered or

incurred in connection with our products or services including as result of intellectual property

infringement and damages caused by viruses worms and other malicious software The term of these

indemnity provisions could be perpetual after execution of the corresponding license or service

agreement and the maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make

under these indemnification provisions may be unlimited Large future indemnity payments would harm

our business operating results and financial condition

Changes in foreign exchange rates and limitations on the convertibility of foreign currencies could

adversely affect our business and operating results

We currently transact majority of our business in U.S Dollars We also transact small portion

of our business in other currencies primarily Euros Indian Rupees British Pounds and Canadian

Dollars We also maintain intercompany accounts with our foreign subsidiaries that expose us to

revaluation risk Conducting business in currencies other than U.S Dollars subjects us to fluctuations in

currency exchange rates that could have negative impact on our reported operating results

Fluctuations in the value of the U.S Dollar relative to other currencies impact our revenues cost of

revenues gross margins and operating expenses and result in foreign currency transaction gains and

losses To date we have not engaged in exchange rate hedging activities Even if we were to implement
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hedging strategies to mitigate this risk these strategies might not eliminate our exposure to foreign

exchange rate fluctuations and would involve costs and risks of their own such as ongoing management

time and expertise external costs to implement the strategies and potential accounting implications

There is also additional risk if the currency is not freely or actively traded

Internal development efforts by mobile operators may adversely affect demand for our services

Some mobile operators may have the technical and financial ability to design and produce

components replicating or improving on the functionality of most of our services These organizations

may consider in-house development of technologies and services as an alternative to doing business

with us We cannot be certain that these mobile operators will choose to work with us rather than

attempting to develop similar technology and services internally or to obtain them through acquisition

If mobile operators choose to produce internally rather than purchase from us it will decrease the size

of the market for our services

Our network is subject to security risks that could harm our business and reputation and expose us to

litigation or liability

Our business depends on the ability to transmit confidential information and license intellectual

property securely over private and public networks Any compromise of our ability to transmit and

store such information and data securely and any costs associated with preventing or eliminating such

problems could hurt customer demand for our products and services hurt our ability to distribute

products and services and collect revenue threaten the proprietaly or confidential nature of our

technology harm our reputation and expose us to litigation or liability We also may be required to

expend significant capital or other resources to alleviate problems caused by such breaches or attacks

which expenditures could adversely affect our operating results

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property which may facilitate the

development of competing services by others

We rely on combination of trade secret and copyright laws restrictions on disclosure and patents

to protect our intellectual property rights Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights third

parties may copy or otherwise obtain and use our services or technology The laws of some foreign

countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as the laws of the United States If

we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights it will be easier for our competitors to sell

competing services

Our services may infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties which may result in

lawsuits and prohibit us from selling our services or subject us to litigation costs and monetary

damages

There is risk that third parties have filed or will file applications for or have received or will

receive patents or obtain additional intellectual property rights relating to materials or processes that

we use or propose to use As result from time to time third parties may assert patent or other

intellectual property rights to technologies that are used in our services or are otherwise important to

us In addition third parties may assert claims or initiate litigation against us or our manufacturers

suppliers customers or partners with respect to existing or future services or other proprietary rights

We generally undertake to indemnify our customers and partners against intellectual property

infringement claims asserted against them with respect to the services we sell to or distribute through

them Any claims against us or customers or partners that we indemnify against intellectual property

claims with or without merit may be time-consuming result in costly litigation or monetary damages

and diversion of technical and management personnel or require us to develop non-infringing

technology If claim is successful we may be required to obtain license from the parties claiming
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the infringement If we are unable to obtain license we may be unable to market our affected

services Limitations on our ability to market our services and delays and costs associated with

monetary damages and redesigns in compliance with an adverse judgment or settlement would harm

our business

Growth may place significant demands on our management and our infrastructure

We have significantly reduced the size of our operations in connection with the Asset Sale and

may experience growth in our business through internal growth and acquisitions Growth to our

business and operations could place significant demands on our management and our operational and

financial infrastructure and could strain our ability to

develop and improve our operational financial and management controls

enhance our reporting systems and procedures

recruit train and retain highly skilled personnel

maintain our quality standards and

maintain branded services owner mobile operator and end-user satisfaction

Managing our growth will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management
resources If we fail to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows our

business operating results and financial condition would be harmed

If we are unable to attract and retain additional skilled personnel we may be unable to grow our

business

Our future success depends in part on our ability to attract hire integrate and retain key

personnel including the continued contributions of our executive officers and other key personnel each

of whom may be difficult to replace The loss of services of any of these executive officers or other key

personnel or the inability to continue to attract qualified personnel could have material adverse effect

on our business The replacement of any of these executive officers or key personnel would involve

significant time and expense and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business

objectives

To execute our growth plan we must attract and retain additional highly-qualified personnel

Competition for hiring these employees is intense Many of the companies with which we compete for

hiring experienced employees have greater resources than we have In addition in making employment

decisions particularly in the mobile communication industry job candidates often consider the value of

the equity they are to receive in connection with their employment Therefore significant volatility in

the price of our stock or limitation on the number of equity based awards we can make under our

equity plans may adversely affect our ability to attract or retain technical personnel Furthermore

changes to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States relating to the expensing of

stock options may discourage us from granting the sizes or types of stock options that job candidates

may require to accept our offer of employment If we fail to attract new technical personnel or fail to

retain and motivate our current employees our business and future growth prospects could be severely

harmed

Economic conditions and any associated impact on consumer spending could have material adverse

effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

We are subject to macroeconomic fluctuations in the United States and worldwide economy

including those that impact discretionary consumer spending Continued economic uncertainty and

reductions in discretionary consumer spending may result in reductions in sales of our mobile
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personalization services which would adversely affect our business results of operations and our

financial condition If these issues persist or if the economy continues this prolonged period of

decelerating growth or recession our results of operations may be harmed

International conditions could interrupt international operations exposing us to significant costs

We maintain offshore development operations in India International operations expose us to

potential operational disruptions as result of currency valuations political turmoil and labor issues

Any such disruptions may have negative effect on our operations on customer satisfaction and on

our ability to timely develop our products and services on our ability to attract or maintain customers

Maintaining and improving our financial controls and the requirements of being public company

may strain our resources divert managements attention and affect our ability to attract and retain

qualified members for our board of directors

As public company we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of The

NASDAQ Global Market The requirements of these rules and regulations
increases our legal

accounting and financial compliance costs makes some activities more difficult time-consuming and

costly and may also place undue strain on our personnel systems and resources

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires among other things that we maintain effective disclosure

controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting This can be difficult to do For

example we depend on the reports of mobile operators for information regarding the amount of sales

of our music and related offerings and to determine the amount of royalties we owe branded services

licensors and the amount of our revenues These reports may not be timely and may contain errors

In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and

internal control over financial reporting we expend significant resources and provide significant

management oversight to implement appropriate processes document our system of internal control

over relevant processes assess their design remediate any deficiencies identified and test their

operation As result managements attention may be diverted from other business concerns which

could harm our business operating results and financial condition These efforts also involve substantial

accounting-related costs In addition if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements we may

not be able to remain listed on The NASDAQ Global Market

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of The NASDAQ Global Market make it

more difficult and more expensive for us to maintain directors and officers liability insurance and we

may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain coverage If

we are unable to maintain adequate directors and officers insurance our ability to recruit and retain

qualified directors especially those directors who may be considered independent for purposes of The

NASDAQ Global Market rules and officers will be significantly curtailed

Anti-takeover provisions in Delaware law and our corporate documents may affect the value of our

common stock

Provisions of Delaware law and our corporate documents may make it difficult and expensive for

third party to remove our board of directors or management or to acquire us For example our

certificate of incorporation provides for the election of members to our board of directors for staggered

three-year terms The existence of these anti-takeover provisions may substantially impede the ability of

third party to acquire control of us or accumulate large blocks of our common stock which may

adversely affect our stock price
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRY

Wireless communications technologies are changing rapidly and we may not be successful in working

with these new technologies

Wireless network and mobile handset technologies are undergoing rapid innovation New handsets

with more advanced processors and supporting advanced programming languages continue to be

introduced In addition networks that enable enhanced features such as multiplayer technology are

being developed and deployed We have no control over the demand for or success of these services

or technologies The development of new technologically advanced mobile services to match the

advancements in handset technology is complex process requiring significant research and

development expense as well as the accurate anticipation of technological and market trends If we fail

to anticipate and adapt to these and other technological changes the available channels for our mobile

personalization services may be limited and our market share and our operating results may suffer Our

future success will depend on our ability to adapt to rapidly changing technologies develop mobile

personalization services to accommodate evolving industry standards and improve the performance and

reliability of our services In addition the widespread adoption of networking or telecommunications

technologies or other technological changes could require substantial expenditures to modify or adapt

our mobile personalization services

Technology changes in our industry require us to anticipate sometimes years
in advance which

technologies we must implement and take advantage of in order to make our mobile personalization

competitive in the market Therefore we usually start our product development with range of

technical development goals that we hope to be able to achieve We may not be able to achieve these

goals or our competition may be able to achieve them more quickly and effectively than we can In

either case our services may be technologically inferior to those of our competitors less appealing to

mobile subscribers or both If we cannot achieve our technology goals within the original development

schedule of our services then we may delay their release until these technology goals can be achieved

which may delay or reduce our revenues increase our development expenses and harm our reputation

Alternatively we may increase the resources employed in research and development in an attempt

either to preserve our product launch schedule or to keep up with our competition which would

increase our development expenses In either case our business operating results and financial

condition could be materially harmed

Future mobile handsets may significantly reduce or eliminate mobile operators control over delivery of

our services and force us to rely further on alternative sales channels which if not successful could

require us to increase our sales and marketing expenses significantly

Substantially all our services are currently sold through mobile operators branded e-commerce

services We have invested significant resources developing this sales channel However growing

number of handset models currently available allow wireless subscribers to browse the Internet and in

some cases download services from sources other than mobile operators branded c-commerce

service such as Amazon.com Inc or iTunes i.e off-portal or c-commerce access In addition the

development of other application delivery mechanisms such as premium-SMS may enable subscribers to

download services without having to access mobile operators branded c-commerce service Increased

use by subscribers of open operating system handsets or premium-SMS delivery systems that allow

off-portal or c-commerce access will enable them to bypass mobile operators branded c-commerce

services and could reduce the market power of mobile operators This would force us to rely further on

alternative sales channels where we may not be successful selling our services and would likely require

us to increase our sales and marketing expenses significantly This would harm our business operating

results and financial condition
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The complexity of and incompatibilities among mobile handsets may require us to use additional

resources for the development of our mobile personalization services

To reach large numbers of wireless subscribers mobile service providers like us must support

numerous mobile handsets and technologies However keeping pace with the rapid innovation of

handset technologies together with the continuous introduction of new and often incompatible handset

models by mobile operators requires us to make significant investments in research and development

including personnel technologies and equipment In the future we may be required to make

substantial investments in our development if the number of different types of handset models

continues to proliferate

If we fail to deliver our services at the same time as new mobile handset models are commercially

introduced our sales may suffer

Our business is dependent in part on the commercial introduction of new handset models with

enhanced features including larger higher resolution color screens improved audio quality and greater

processing power memory battery life and storage We do not control the timing of these handset

launches Some new handsets are sold by mobile operators
with one or more services or other

applications pre-loaded and many mobile subscribers who download our services do so after they

purchase their new handsets to experience the new features of those handsets Some handset

manufacturers give us access to their handsets prior to commercial release If one or more major

handset manufacturers were to cease to provide us access to new handset models prior to commercial

release we might be unable to introduce compatible versions of our services for those handsets in

coordination with their commercial release and we might not be able to make compatible versions for

substantial period following their commercial release If because of new service-launch or upgrade

delays we miss or are not provided the opportunity to sell services when new handsets are shipped or

our mobile subscribers upgrade to new handset or if we miss key selling period either because the

introduction of new handset is delayed or we do not deploy our services in time our revenues would

likely decline and our business operating results and financial condition would likely suffer

Our industry is subject to risks generally associated with the entertainment industr any of which

could significantly harm our operating results

Our business is subject to risks that are generally associated with the entertainment industry many

of which are beyond our control These risks could negatively impact our operating results and include

the popularity and timing of release of music and the mobile handsets on which they are played

economic conditions that adversely affect discretionary consumer spending changes in consumer

demographics the availability and popularity of other forms of entertainment and critical reviews and

public tastes and preferences which may change rapidly and cannot necessarily be predicted

System or network failures could reduce our sales increase costs or result in loss of mobile

subscribers of our services

Mobile services providers rely on mobile operators networks to deliver services to mobile

subscribers and on their or other third parties billing systems to track and account for the downloading

of their services In certain circumstances mobile services providers may also rely on their own servers

to deliver services on demand to mobile subscribers through their mobile operators networks Any

failure of or technical problem with mobile operators third parties or our billing systems delivery

systems information systems or communications networks could result in the inability of mobile

subscribers to download our services prevent the completion of or result in errors related to billing

or interfere with access to some aspects of our services If any of these systems fail or if there is an

interruption in the supply of power an earthquake fire flood or other natural disaster or an act of

war or terrorism mobile subscribers might be unable to access our services For example from time to

21



time our mobile operators have experienced failures with their billing and delivery systems and

communication networks including gateway failures that reduced the provisioning capacity of their

branded c-commerce system Any failure of or technical problem with the mobile operators other

third parties or our systems could cause us to lose mobile subscribers or revenues or incur substantial

repair costs or damages and distract management from operating our business This in turn could

harm our business operating results and financial condition

shift of technology platform by mobile operators and mobile handset manufacturers could lengthen
the development period for our services increase our costs and cause our services to be of lower

quality or to be launched later than anticipated

Mobile subscribers must have mobile handset with multimedia capabilities enabled by

technologies capable of running third-party services and related applications such as ours If one or

more of these technologies fall out of favor with handset manufacturers and mobile
operators and

there is rapid shift to technology platform such as Adobe Flash Lite iPod iPhone or Google
Android or new technology where we do not have development experience or resources the

development period for our services may be lengthened increasing our costs and the resulting services

may be of lower quality and may be launched later than anticipated In such an event our reputation

business operating results and financial condition could suffer

We may experience fluctuations in revenue due to seasonalit

We may experience seasonality in our business as we expect sales to follow typical consumer

buying patterns of mobile handsets as well as impacts from mobile operator customer advertising

campaigns These factors may result in increasing seasonality in our business and we cannot predict

with accuracy how these factors will impact our quarterly financial results

Our business depends on the growth and maintenance of wireless communications infrastructure

Our success will depend on the continued growth and maintenance of wireless communications

infrastructure in the United States and internationally This includes deployment and maintenance of

reliable next-generation digital networks with the speed data capacity and
security necessary to provide

reliable wireless communications services Wireless communications infrastructure may be unable to

support the demands placed on it if the number of subscribers continues to increase or if existing or

future subscribers increase their bandwidth requirements Wireless communications have experienced

variety of outages and other delays as result of infrastructure and equipment failures and could face

outages and delays in the future These outages and delays could reduce the level of wireless

communications usage as well as our ability to distribute our services successfully In addition changes

by mobile operator to network infrastructure may interfere with downloads of our services and may
cause subscribers to lose functionality in services that they have already downloaded This could harm
our business operating results and financial condition

If wireless subscribers do not continue to use their mobile handsets to access services and other

applications our business growth and future revenues would be adversely affected

We operate in developing industry Our success depends on growth in the number of wireless

subscribers who use their handsets to access data services and in particular entertainment
applications

of the type we develop and distribute New or different mobile entertainment applications such as

streaming video or music applications developed by our current or future competitors may be

preferred by subscribers to our services In addition other mobile platforms such as the iPod iPhone

and the Google Android platform may become more widespread and mobile subscribers may choose

to switch to these platforms If the market for our services does not continue to grow or we are unable

to acquire new mobile subscribers our business growth and future revenues would be adversely
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affected If mobile subscribers switch their entertainment spending away from the services and related

applications that we publish or distribution where we do not have comparative strengths our revenues

would likely decline and our business operating results and financial condition would suffer

Actual or perceived security vulnerabilities in mobile handsets or wireless networks could adversely

affect our revenues

Maintaining the security of mobile handsets and wireless networks is critical for our business

There are individuals and groups who develop and deploy viruses worms and other illicit code or

malicious software programs that may attack wireless networks and handsets Security experts have

identified computer worm programs such as Cabir and Commwarrior.A and viruses such as

Lasco.A that target handsets running on the Symbian operating system Although these worms have

not been widely released and do not present an immediate risk to our business we believe future

threats could lead some mobile subscribers to seek to return our services reduce or delay future

purchases of our services or reduce or delay the use of their handsets Mobile operators and handset

manufacturers may also increase their expenditures on protecting their wireless networks and mobile

phone services from attack which could delay adoption of new handset models Any of these activities

could adversely affect our revenues and this could harm our business operating results and financial

condition

Changes in government regulation of the media and wireless communications industries may adversely

affect our business

It is possible that number of laws and regulations may be adopted in the United States and

elsewhere that could restrict the media and wireless communications industries including laws and

regulations regarding customer privacy taxation services suitability copyright distribution and

antitrust Furthermore the growth and development of the market for electronic commerce may

prompt calls for more stringent consumer protection laws that may impose additional burdens on

companies such as ours conducting business through mobile operators We anticipate that regulation of

our industry will increase and that we will be required to devote legal and other resources to address

this regulation Changes in current laws or regulations or the imposition of new laws and regulations in

the United States or elsewhere regarding the media and wireless communications industries may lessen

the growth of wireless communications services and may materially reduce our ability to increase or

maintain sales of our services

number of studies have examined the health effects of mobile phone use and the results of

some of the studies have been interpreted as evidence that mobile phone use causes adverse health

effects The establishment of link between the use of mobile phone services and health problems or

any media reports suggesting
such link could increase government regulation of and reduce demand

for mobile phones and accordingly the demand for our services and this could harm our business

operating
results and financial condition
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

We lease one facility totaling approximately 32000 square feet for our corporate headquarters in

Littleton Massachusetts The lease on this facility expires in June 2013 We also lease 72256 square
feet of our former corporate headquarters at 200 Crossing Boulevard in Framingham Massachusetts

The lease for 46256 square feet at 200 Crossing Boulevard expires in May 2012 with the remaining

26000 square feet expiring in April 2009 We sublease all of the space at 200 Crossing Boulevard to

several third parties We previously used the subleased office space as supplementary conference

training and corporate office space

We lease facilities in Bangalore India primarily used for our research and development and

marketing activities and MontrØal Quebec Canada primarily for our technical support activities

We believe our facilities are adequate for our current needs and that we will be able to secure

suitable space as needed in the future on commercially reasonable terms

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are party to various legal proceedings incidental to our business

However we have no material legal proceedings currently pending

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITIES HOLDERS

On November 19 2008 we held Special Meeting of Stockholders to consider matters related to

the Asset Sale and other corporate matters The matters considered at the meeting consisted of the

following

Approval of the sale of substantially all of the Companys assets under Delaware law through
the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic Corporation pursuant to the Asset

Purchase Agreement by and between the Company and Dialogic Corporation dated as of

September 12 2008

BROKER NON
FOR ABSTAIN AGAINST VOTES

35716565 124957 7435772 6632033

Approval of an amendment to the Companys Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of

Incorporation to change the Companys name to LiveWire Mobile Inc upon the closing of the Asset

Sale

BROKER NON
FOR ABSTAIN AGAINST VOTES

41968492 215704 1093098

Approval of an amendment to the Companys Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of

Incorporation to allow the Board of Directors to effect reverse stock split at maximum of 1-for-lO

of the Companys outstanding common stock par value per share $0.01

BROKER NON
FOR ABSTAIN AGAINST VOTES

41268767 307436 1701091
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS AND IS SUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol LVWR The

table below shows the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock as reported on The

NASDAQ Global Market for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31 2007 High Low

First Quarter $2.25 $1.63

Second Quarter 1.97 1.62

Third Quarter 1.86 1.20

Fourth Quarter 1.78 1.25

Year Ended December 31 2008 High Low

First Quarter $1.69 $1.20

Second Quarter 1.49 1.05

Third Quarter 1.19 0.31

Fourth Quarter 0.41 0.06

As of March 13 2009 we had approximately 205 stockholders of record of our common stock

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock We do not anticipate paying

any cash dividends in the foreseeable future We currently intend to retain future earnings to fund the

development and growth of our business
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Comparison of Cumulative Stockholder Return

The following performance graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31 2003 and

compares the change to December 31 2008 in the market price of the Common Stock with broad

market index SP 500 and an industry index SP Communications Equipment The Company paid

no dividends during the periods shown The performance of the indices is shown on total return

dividend reinvestment basis The graph lines merely connect the prices on the dates indicated and do

not reflect fluctuations between those dates

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATiVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG LIVEWIRE MOBILE INC

SP 500 INDEX AND SP GROUP INDEX

2008

LIVE WIRE MOBILE INC

SP500INDEX
-A- -SP COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DEC 31 2003

ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DEC 31 2008

Cumulative Total Return

_______ _______
12/05 12/06

55.93 32.85

THE COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL STOCKHOLDER RETURN ABOVE SHALL NOT
BE DEEMED SOLICITING MATERIAL OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO ANY OF THE
COMPANYS FILINGS WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

L1VEWIRE MOBILE INC

SP 500 INDEX

SP COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT

12/03

100.00

100.00

100.00

12/04

101.12

110.88

103.01

________ ________
12/07

25.96

116.33 134.70 142.10

105.20 121.51 124.00

12/08

1.52

89.53

74.18
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Issuance of Unregistered Securities

We acquired Inno Media Logic Company IML of St Hubert Quebec in July 2000 the

IML Closing for combination of cash and stock At the time of the IML Closing we and our

wholly-owned Canadian subsidiaries issued to the stockholders of IML 982296 shares of our common

stock In addition the stockholders of IML had the right to exchange for an additional 1653004 shares

of our common stock that were not exchanged at the IML Closing For the
year

ended December 31

2008 we issued 97970 shares of our common stock in exchange for such exchangeable shares As of

December 31 2008 an aggregate of 1653004 shares of our common stock had been issued in

exchange for these exchangeable shares The shares of our common stock and the exchangeable shares

were issued as to acquirers in the United States in reliance on the exemption set forth in Section 42
of the Securities Act of 1933 the Act and as to acquirers outside the United States pursuant to

Regulation under the Act We registered on Form S-3 under the Act effective August 25 2000 for

public
sale in the United States all the shares of our common stock which were or are to be issued to

the former shareholders of IML

Equity Compensation Plans

See Part III Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under existing

equity compensation plans

Issuer Repurchase of Equity Securities

We did not make any repurchases of our securities during the year ended December 31 2008
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements the related notes and with Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other financial data included elsewhere in this

annual report on Form 10-K The selected consolidated statement of operations data for 2008 2007

and 2006 and balance sheet data for 2008 and 2007 are derived from the audited consolidated financial

statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data1

Revenues

Gross profit loss

Restructuring and other related charges

Impairment of intangible assets and other

long-lived assets

Impairment of goodwill

Operating loss

Loss from continuing operations before income

taxes

Loss from continuing operations

Net income loss
Loss per common share from continuing

operationsbasic

Loss per common share from continuing

operationsdiluted

Net income loss per common sharebasic

Net income loss per common sharediluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data2

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

In thousands except per share data

$15616 $13223 8896 6769
4139 2998 3287 1998

7871 5469

11616

11048

58376 27856 37376 21240 18827

59728 27312 36432 19885 20459
59936 27473 36523 19979 20476
38150 9310 15751 4972 4102

0.63 0.75 0.41 0.44

0.21 0.33 0.10 0.09

0.21 0.33 0.10 0.09

December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005

In thousands

$69330 $93303

As result of the disposition of the NMS Communications Platforms business and the NI Business

in the fourth quarters of 2008 and 2007 respectively we are reporting these businesses as

discontinued operations for all periods presented See Note 18 Discontinued Operations in the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the disposition of the

NMS Communications Platforms business and NI Business On March 17 2008 we acquired
Groove Mobile Inc The acquisition of Groove Mobile was accounted for as purchase business

combination and accordingly the results of the operations of Groove Mobile were included with

those of the Company for periods subsequent to the date of the acquisition Effective January
2007 we adopted the provisions of FIN 48 On January 2006 we adopted the provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123R Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R
which requires us to record compensation expense for employee stock awards at fair value at time

of grant

As result of our adoption of SFAS 123R our stock-based compensation expense increased in

2006 causing our loss from continuing operations and net loss to decrease For the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 stock-based compensation included in loss from continuing

operations was $3.2 million $4.5 million and $4.4 million respectively For the
years

ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 stock-based compensation included in net loss was

$4.1 million $5.1 million and $4.8 million respectively

370

562

1.32 0.63 0.75 0.42 0.46

1.32

0.84
0.84

Total assets

Long-term debt

$32428 $67740
360

2004

$108427
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We operate in the large and rapidly evolving mobile telecommunications industry We are

provider of managed personalization services for mobile operators and mobile subscribers Our

integrated managed services offerings include ringback tones ringtones full track downloads and other

applications as well as dedicated content and service marketing integrated
storefront management and

merchandising We sell these offerings as managed service to mobile operators
who then offer these

services to their subscribers as la carte purchases and through monthly subscriptions We sell our

products and services through our direct sales force and our channel partners We sell our products and

services predominantly in North America but also have established relationships in South America

with North America collectively the Americas Europe the Middle East Africa collectively

EMEA and Asia Our research and development activities focus primarily on enhancing our existing

offerings as well as opportunities relating to emerging technologies

We previously operated as one of three separate operating business units which also included our

NMS Communications Platforms business and Network Infrastructure Business NI In an effort to

focus our efforts on our managed personalization services to mobile operators
and mobile subscribers

we undertook the following

On December 21 2007 we sold our NI Business to Verso During the year
ended December 31

2008 we incurred additional severance costs and transaction costs related to the disposition of

the NI Business Loss from discontinued operations was $0.4 million net of income tax benefit

of zero $2.4 million net of income tax benefit of $0.1 million and $7.7 million net of income

tax benefit of $0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

We recognized $1.6 million gain net of income tax expense of $6000 on the disposal for the

year ended December 31 2007 During the first quarter of 2008 we recorded an

other-than-temporary impairment of the Verso common stock that had been issued to us by

Verso in connection with the sale of our NI Business totaling $1.9 million related to Versos

announced bankruptcy in April 2008

In March 2008 to contribute to the growth strategy of our business we acquired Groove Mobile

for total purchase price of $15.9 million including total transaction costs and facility exit costs

of approximately $1.4 million Groove Mobile provided mobile music solutions We believe the

acquisition has enabled us to expand our ability to offer portfolio of managed services

including ringback tones ringtones and full track music and other applications delivered

through an integrated storefront

On December 2008 we sold our NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic for

cash consideration of $28.0 million $2.8 million of which was placed into an escrow account to

settle certain claims for indemnification which can be made by Dialogic following the closing of

the Asset Sale and $0.4 million of which was placed in escrow to settle certain contingencies
that

may arise related to levels of working capital Income from discontinued operations was

$5.9 million net of income tax provision of $0.6 million $18.9 million net of income tax

provision of $0.1 million and $28.4 million net of income tax provision of $0.1 million for the

years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively We recognized $16.3 million gain

net of income tax provision of zero on disposal for the year ended December 31 2008

The consummation of the Asset Sale and the subsequent restructuring of the Company to focus

exclusively on our mobile personalization services business has provided us with additional resources to

pursue the growing mobile personalization services market Today the business operates as one

reporting segment

29



For the year ended December 31 2008 we incurred net loss from continuing operations of

$59.9 million Our net loss from continuing operations increased $32.4 million from $27.5 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 Our net loss increased primarily due to impairments of our

goodwill of $11.0 million and our other long-lived assets including intangibles of $11.6 million

$7.9 million in restructuring charges and $1.7 million increase in research and development expenses

primarily related to the acquisition of Groove Mobile in March 2008 partially offset by growth in our

gross profit of $1.1 million based on revenue growth of $2.4 million

During the year ended December 31 2008 management took several restructuring actions to

reduce our cost structure These actions included workforce reductions exiting office
space including

the office previously used as our former corporate headquarters and the impairment of assets

associated with these exited spaces

In response to weak market conditions in the second half of 2006 management took
restructuring

actions to reduce our cost structure These actions included the closure of our New Jersey facility

workforce reductions and the sublease of portion of our prior corporate headquarters office space

Management continually monitors the activities of our competitors and analyzes the future of our

industry to appropriately align our business focus

At December 31 2008 we performed our annual goodwill impairment analysis and we also

determined that due to an expected goodwill impairment brought on by indicators described below we
also determined that triggering event had occurred requiring an assessment for impairment of other

long-lived assets including intangibles The indicators that caused management to make the

determination was decline in the price of our common stock to price that was below our carrying

value for period of time during the fourth quarter As result of this analysis we recorded an

impairment of goodwill of $11.0 million and an impairment of intangible and certain long-lived assets

of $11.6 million

During the year ended December 31 2008 we utilized $15.2 million of cash to support operations

Relating to the sale of our NMS Communications Platforms business we received approximately

$22.0 million in cash from Dialogic net of deal costs ii paid $2.8 million funded into an escrow

account to support any indemnification claims iii paid $0.4 million which is being be held in escrow

to settle certain
contingencies that may arise related to levels of working capital and iv subsequent to

the consummation of the Asset Sale on December 2008 entered into Receivables Purchase

Agreement with Dialogic to purchase $4.0 million of certain billed accounts receivables owned by

Dialogic for $3.8 million in cash Additionally we paid approximately $13.6 million in connection with

the acquisition of Groove Mobile net of cash acquired As of December 31 2008 we borrowed

$2.6 million under the Amended Credit Facility as defined below As of December 31 2008 we had

$19.3 million in cash and cash equivalents We have used and will use our cash for general corporate

purposes which may include working capital and capital expenditures

We believe the Company has sufficient cash available to execute its business objectives for at least

the next twelve months

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our

condensed consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP The preparation of these

financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of

assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On

an on-going basis we evaluate our estimates including those related to stock-based compensation

revenue recognition allowances for doubtful accounts write-downs for excess and obsolete inventories

possible impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill income taxes restructuring and other related
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charges and accounting for acquisitions
and dispositions We base our estimates on historical

experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances

the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources We have noted that our estimates used in

the past have been consistent with actual results Actual results may differ from these estimates under

different assumptions or conditions For discussion of how these estimates and other factors may

affect our business see also our discussion under the heading Risk Factors in this annual report on

Form 10-K

We believe the following critical accounting policies involve our more significant judgments and

estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition We derive revenues from two sources services including managed

services maintenance and support services and professional services and ii sales of products

including hardware and software licenses Managed services consist of supplying outsourcing and/or

maintaining mobile personalization systems for the benefit of customers The systems related to these

services may be Company-owned pursuant to managed services arrangement or customer-owned

Maintenance and support services consist of on-site support bug-fixes telephone and online support

and training Professional services projects may consist of multiple elements including hardware and/or

software installation configuration integration and customization services provided to customers

We sell our services and products through our direct sales force and through channel partners For

products that are not software or software related we recognize revenue pursuant to the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 104 Revenue Recognition

When the software is more than incidental and is essential to the functionality of the hardware we

recognize revenue in accordance with the provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public

Accountants AICPA Statement of Position SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition

SOP 97-2 and related interpretations We recognize revenue from the sale of products when

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred the fee is fixed or determinable

and collection is considered probable For all sales we use binding contract and/or purchase order

as evidence of an arrangement with the customer or channel partner Sales to our channel partners are

evidenced by master agreement governing the relationship together with binding purchase orders for

individual transactions We consider delivery to occur when we ship the product so long as title and risk

of loss have passed to the customer At the time of transaction we assess whether the sale amount is

fixed or determinable based upon the terms of the documented agreement If we determine the fee is

not fixed or determinable we recognize revenue when the fee is fixed We assess if collection is

probable based on number of factors including past transaction history and the creditworthiness of

the customer If we determine that collection is not probable we do not record revenue until such time

as collection becomes probable which is generally upon the receipt of cash or when payments become

due

For arrangements with customers that include acceptance provisions we recognize revenue upon

the customers acceptance of the product which occurs upon the earlier of receipt of written

customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period In some circumstances we recognize

revenue on arrangements that contain certain acceptance provisions when we have historical experience

that the acceptance provision is perfunctory

When an arrangement involves multiple elements such as hardware and software products that are

more than incidental maintenance and/or professional services we allocate the entire sale price to each

respective
element based on vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value for each

undelivered element When arrangements contain multiple elements and VSOE of fair value exists only

for all undelivered elements we recognize revenue for the delivered elements using the residual

method in accordance with the provisions of the AICPA SOP 98-9 Modification of SOP 97-Z Software
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Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions SOP 98-9 The residual method requires

that the portion of the total arrangement fee attributable to undelivered elements as indicated by

VSOE of fair value be deferred and subsequently recognized when delivered We establish VSOE of

fair value for undelivered elements based on either substantial renewal rates of maintenance and

support agreements the price we charge when the same element is sold separately For arrangements

containing multiple elements where VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements we
defer revenue for the delivered and undelivered elements until VSOE of fair value exists for all

undelivered elements or all elements have been delivered

For revenue attributable to the NMS Communications Platforms business sold in December 2008
we reduced revenue by provisions for estimated sales returns associated with rights offered to limited

number of channel partners These rights allowed the channel
partner to exchange percentage of its

inventory based on the volume of its prior purchases We provided for these return rights each quarter

in an amount equal to estimated returns On quarterly basis we reviewed our estimates and

compared them to our actual returns experience Our actual results have been in line with our

expectations An increase in our allowance for sales returns would reduce our revenue in the period for

which the increase is recorded

We evaluate our revenue recognition policies based on the specific facts and circumstances related

to each of our channel partners When selling to resellers and distributors we generally do not

recognize revenue upon shipment unless credit history has been established since many of these

customers are thinly capitalized and their ability to pay is in substance contingent upon their resale of

our product In these cases we defer revenue until collection is deemed probable When revenue is

deferred if reliable reporting from the reseller or distributor exists we will recognize revenue when the

reseller or distributor sells the product to an end-user sell through When reliable reporting does

not exist revenue will be recognized upon our receipt of payment or in limited circumstances upon

receipt of letter of credit or similar arrangement We further monitor the payment history of our

resellers and distributors and overall days of sales outstanding DSO We believe this revenue

recognition policy minimizes the risk that product is shipped in excess of end-user demand and allows

us to reasonably and reliably estimate any sales returns

Services revenue is primarily comprised of managed services maintenance and support services

and professional services We recognize revenue from professional services as the services are

performed We recognize revenue from managed services as the services are delivered or performed or

as reported by customer if its reporting is used

We provide managed services under long term arrangements typically two to three years The

arrangements may contain provisions requiring customer acceptance of the set-up activities including

installation and implementation activities prior to the commencement of the ongoing services

arrangement Maintenance and support services which are typically sold separately from products

consist of on-site support telephone and on-line support and training We defer maintenance and

support services revenue whether sold separately or as part of multiple element arrangement and

recognize it ratably over the term of the maintenance contract generally twelve months

When there are shipping and handling fees we invoice customers for such fees We recognize the

invoiced amounts as revenue and the related costs are recognized as cost of revenue

Capitalization of Managed Services Costs We may capitalize certain costs associated with the

set-up activities of managed services arrangement These costs represent incremental external or

internal costs that are directly related to the set-up enhancement or expansion of certain managed
services offerings The types of costs that are capitalized may include labor and related fringe benefits

subcontractor costs consulting costs travel costs inventory costs and third
party product costs We

begin to capitalize costs in the period when there is existence of an arrangement Managed services

arrangements may also require the procurement of equipment development of internally developed
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software and consulting services related to system enhancements and expansions These costs may also

be capitalized We amortize these capitalized costs upon acceptance or commercial launch of the initial

set-up enhancement or expansion of the service over the expected relationship period or the expected

economic useful life as appropriate using the straight-line method Expenses incurred to maintain and

sustain the service delivery after the initial setup enhancement or expansion of managed services

arrangement are expensed as incurred We evaluate the lives and realizability of the capitalized costs on

periodic basis or as needed

In the event indications exist that capitalized managed service cost balances may be impaired

undiscounted estimated cash flows of the contract or series of contracts are projected over the

remaining term and compared to the unamortized managed services cost balance If the projected cash

flows are not adequate to recover the unamortized cost balance the balance would be adjusted to

equal the fair value in the period such determination is made The primary indicator used to determine

when impairment testing should be performed is when material contract is materially

underperforming or is expected to materially under-perform in the future as compared to the financial

model that was developed as part of the original proposal process
and subsequent annual budgets or in

the event of non-renewal or loss of major managed service customer

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard no 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

SFAS 144 we evaluated the carrying value of these long-lived assets as of December 31 2008

SFAS 144 first requires an assessment of whether circumstances currently exist which
suggest

the

carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable At December 31 2008 we believed such

conditions existed related to specific long-lived assets that we believed had no third party liquidation

value including managed service assets We performed our assessment at the asset group level which

represented the lowest level of cash flows that are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and

liabilities For LiveWire Mobile this asset grouping is at the reporting unit level and consists of

acquired technology and customer relationships which were recorded as result of the acquisitions of

Groove Mobile and Openera as well as our property and equipment and long term deposits on leased

space When performing this test at the reporting unit level goodwill is included in the carrying value

of the asset group We assessed the recoverability of the carrying value of our long-lived assets based

on estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from such assets In assessing the recoverability

of these assets we projected estimated enterprise-level flows based on expected future revenues We

performed discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted discount rate of 30% based on our

projected losses early operating stage and broader market risks in the current economic environment

Given the fair value of the Companys enterprise value as compared to the fair value of its tangible

assets to its enterprise value we determined that the intangible assets had no fair value and were fully

impaired as of December 31 2008 As result we recorded an impairment charge of $2.0 million

including $1.1 million of managed service assets $0.8 million of property plant and equipment and

$0.1 million of other long-lived assets

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon
our historical experience and any specifically identified customer collection issues We monitor and

analyze accounts receivable and the composition of the accounts receivable aging historical bad debts

and current economic trends regional factors and other known factors when evaluating the adequacy of

the allowance for doubtful accounts Based upon the analysis and estimates of the uncollectibility of

our accounts receivable we record an allowance for doubtful accounts when the prospect of collecting

specific account receivable becomes doubtful Actual results could differ from the allowances for

doubtful accounts of $0.1 million recorded as of December 31 2008 and this difference may have

material effect on our financial position and results of operations

Write-down of Excess and Obsolete Inventories We value our inventories at the lower of cost

first-in first-out method or market We regularly review our inventories and record charges for excess
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and obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated forecast of product demand and production

requirements for the next twelve months Actual excess and obsolete inventory could differ from the

write-down of excess and obsolete inventories of $0.7 million recorded as of December 31 2008

Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets and GoodwilL We review long-lived assets including

definite-lived intangible assets to determine if any adverse conditions exist that would indicate

impairment SFAS 144 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets used in

operations when indicators of impairment are present and the projected undiscounted cash flows

estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the long-lived assets carrying value We assess

the recoverability of long-lived assets based on the projected undiscounted future cash flows over the

assets remaining life The amount of impairment if any is measured based on the excess of the

carrying value over fair value Fair value is generally calculated as the present value of estimated future

cash flows using risk-adjusted discount rate which requires significant management judgment with

respect to revenue and expense growth rates and the selection and use of an appropriate discount rate

We performed an assessment as of December 31 2008 and determined that triggering event had

occurred The continued marked decline of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2008

75% decline during the fourth quarter of 2008 along with an anticipated impairment of goodwill were

indicators that the carrying value of our long-lived assets might not be recoverable We performed our

assessment at the asset group level which represented the lowest level of cash flows that are largely

independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities For LiveWire Mobile this asset grouping is at

the reporting unit level and consists of acquired technology and customer relationships which were

recorded as result of the acquisitions of Groove Mobile and Openera property and equipment

managed service assets and long term deposits on leased space When performing this test at the

reporting unit level goodwill is included in the carrying value of the asset group We assessed the

recoverability of the carrying value of our long-lived assets based on estimated undiscounted cash flows

to be generated from such assets The carrying value of the reporting unit including goodwill prior to

the goodwill impairment charge described below was greater than the undiscounted cash flows

indicating an impairment We performed step two of the impairment test and determined there was

full impairment of our intangible assets and partial impairment of the property and equipment and

deposits reducing those assets to their fair value The fair value was determined based on the price

that willing buyer would pay in an orderly liquidation of those assets As result we recorded an

impairment charge of $9.6 million related to the intangible assets and $2.0 million related to other

long-lived assets including managed service assets of $1.1 million property and equipment of

$0.8 million and other long-lived assets of $0.1 million We also reassessed the depreciation method and

remaining depreciation period for the property and equipment and determined that no changes to the

depreciation period or method were necessary

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible

assets acquired We review goodwill for impairment annually as of the fiscal year end date and more

frequently if certain indicators are present When conducting our impairment evaluation we compare

the carrying value of the reporting unit to the fair value of the reporting unit We have determined that

the reporting unit is the Company as whole If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its

fair value then the carrying value of that reporting units goodwill is compared to the implied fair value

of the goodwill and an impairment loss is recorded in an amount equal to that excess if any Fair value

is calculated using widely accepted valuation techniques including the present value of estimated future

cash flows using risk-adjusted discount rate and market-multiple analyses These types of analyses

require significant judgments by management
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Conditions that could trigger more frequent impairment assessment include but are not limited

to significant adverse change in certain agreements an economic downturn in our customers

industries increased competition or other information regarding our market value such as reduction

in our stock price

Our assessment for impairment was conducted in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142 which required

us to determine the fair value of the Company as whole since it is considered the reporting unit to

which all goodwill is allocated We estimated the fair value of the reporting unit utilizing industry

accepted valuation techniques that included the present value of estimated future cash flows using

risk-adjusted discount rate of 30% and market-multiple approach which considered our market

capitalization adjusted for control premium These valuation techniques require significant judgments

by management including estimates and assumptions about our projected future operating results

discount rates and long-term growth rates Our forecasts of future revenue were based on expected

future growth from new as well as existing customers and historical trends In addition we considered

the expected gross margins attainable in the future and the required level of operating expenses needed

to conduct our business

The Company performed its annual impairment assessment of its goodwill at December 31 2008

Step one of this assessment resulted in the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeding the fair value

In step two of the impairment analysis the Company compared the implied fair value of goodwill to its

carrying value The implied fair value of goodwill was determined to be zero Consequently we

determined that goodwill was fully impaired resulting in an impairment charge of $11.0 million for the

year ended December 31 2008

Stock-based Compensation Expense On January 2006 we implemented the provisions of SFAS

No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R and related interpretations SFAS 123R

requires that all share-based payments to employees including grants of stock options be recognized in

the financial statements based on their fair value We selected the modified prospective transition

method for implementing SFAS 123R and began recognizing compensation expense for stock-based

awards granted on or after January 2006 plus any unvested awards granted prior to January 2006

Under this transition method prior periods have not been restated Stock-based compensation expense

for awards granted on or after January 2006 is based on the grant date fair value calculated in

accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R Stock-based compensation related to any unvested

awards granted prior to January 2006 is based on the grant date fair value calculated in accordance

with the original provisions of SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation The fair value

of our stock-based awards less estimated forfeitures is amortized over the awards vesting periods on

straight-line basis

The fair value of each option award on the grant date is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model with the following assumptions expected dividend yield expected stock price volatility

weighted average risk-free interest rate and weighted average expected life of the options Under

SFAS 123R we establish the volatility assumption based exclusively on historical volatility and the

expected life assumption is established based upon an analysis of historical option exercise behavior

The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on U.S Treasury

zero-coupon issues with remaining term approximating our expected term assumptions We have

never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and have no current plans to pay cash

dividends on our common stock The payment of any future cash dividends will be determined by our

board of directors in light of conditions then existing including our earnings financial condition and

capital requirements restrictions in financing agreements business conditions tax laws certain

corporate law requirements and various other factors
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The choice of valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying

assumptions for that technique involve significant judgments These judgments reflect our assessment

of the most accurate method of valuing the stock options we issue based on historical experience

knowledge of current conditions and beliefs of what could occur in the future given available

information Our judgments could change over time as additional information becomes available or the

facts underlying the assumptions change over time Any change in judgments could have material

impact on our financial statements We believe that these estimates incorporate all relevant information

and represent reasonable approximation in light of the difficulties involved in valuing non-traded

stock options

Stock Option Acceleration As result of the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms

business we accelerated options to purchase 747966 shares of our common stock The acceleration

occurred as result of certain employees having change of control clause in each of their stock

option or other agreements Accordingly the unvested portion of the related stock option grants was

accelerated and we recognized expenses totaling $0.6 million during the year ended December 31 2008

Stock Option Modification During the
year

ended December 31 2008 we canceled 300000 shares

of restricted stock that was granted to an executive of the Company in 2007 in exchange for bonus

payout contingent upon change in control of the Company Pursuant to FAS 123R we consider

modification of the terms or conditions of an existing equity award as an exchange of the original

award for new award We determined that the original equity based award was modified to liability-

based award due to the nature of the bonus arrangement Accordingly upon change of control of the

Company in December 2008 in connection with the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms

business to Dialogic we recorded stock compensation liability in the amount of $0.4 million and

expensed the amount of unrecognized compensation expense to date The difference between the

original fair value of the restricted stock award and the actual amount paid was recognized as stock

compensation expense The Company paid the stock compensation liability of $0.4 million in

December 2008

Restructuring and Other Related Charges We continually evaluate our staffing levels to meet our

business objectives and our strategies to reduce our costs of operations Severance costs are reviewed

periodically to determine whether severance charge is required to be recorded in accordance with

SFAS No 112 EmployersAccounting for Post-employment Benefits SFAS 112 The provisions of

SFAS 112 require us to accrue post-employment benefits if certain specified criteria are met

Post-employment benefits include salary continuation severance benefits and continuation of benefits

such as health and life insurance

From time to time we announce reorganization plans that may include eliminating employee

positions or exiting facilities Each plan is reviewed to determine whether restructuring charge is

required to be recorded in accordance with SFAS No 146 Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or

Disposal Activities SFAS 146 The provisions of SFAS 146 require us to record an estimate of the

fair value of any termination costs based on certain facts circumstances and assumptions including

specific provisions included in the underlying reorganization plan Also from time to time we may

cease to use certain facilities prior to expiration of the underlying lease agreements Exit costs are

reviewed in each of these circumstances on case-by-case basis to determine whether restructuring

charge is required to be recorded in accordance with SFAS 146 The provisions of SFAS 146 require us

to record an estimate of the fair value of the exit costs based on certain facts circumstances and

assumptions including remaining minimum lease payments potential sublease income and specific

provisions included in the underlying lease agreements

Subsequent to recording such accrued liabilities changes in market or other conditions may result

in changes to assumptions upon which the original liabilities were recorded that could result in an

adjustment to the liabilities and depending on the circumstances such adjustment could be material
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Income Taxes The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to provide for

income taxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate including those outside the United States

that may be subject to certain risks that ordinarily would not be expected in the United States

change in our income by jurisdiction
could cause change in our annual effective tax rate The income

tax accounting process involves estimating our current income tax expense benefit including our

uncertain tax positions together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment

of certain items for tax and accounting purposes These differences result in the recognition of deferred

tax assets and liabilities We must then record valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets if

their realization does not meet the more likely than not criteria under SPAS 109 based on our

current and projected financial statements

Managements judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes our deferred

tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the majority of our deferred tax

assets We have recorded valuation allowance of $160.4 million as of December 31 2008 due to

uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets primarily consisting of net

operating loss carry forwards We establish valuation allowances based on historical levels of

profitability as well as our estimates of future taxable income by each jurisdiction in which we operate

and the period over which our deferred tax assets will be recoverable If actual results differ from these

estimates or we adjust these estimates in future periods we may need to adjust our valuation

allowance which could materially impact our consolidated financial position and results of operations

The provision for income taxes is computed based on pre-tax
income included in the consolidated

statements of operations We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax

consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements Under this method

deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial

statement carrying amounts and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for

the year in which the differences are expected to reverse

We determine our effective tax rate by dividing our income tax expense by our income before taxes

as reported
in our consolidated statement of operations For reporting periods prior to the end of the

fiscal year we record income tax expense based upon an estimated annual effective tax rate This rate

is computed using the statutory tax rate and an estimate of annual net income adjusted for an estimate

of deductible and non-deductible expenses

On January 2007 we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Interpretation

No 48 Accounting for Uncertainly in Income Taxesan Interpretation of FASB Statement 109

FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an

enterprises financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109 Accounting for Income Taxes

SPAS 109 FIN 48 prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the financial

statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken in or expected to be taken in tax

return This interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition classification interest and

penalties accounting in interim periods and disclosure and transition We had no adjustments to

retained earnings as result of the implementation of FIN 48 The majority of our deferred tax assets

have full valuation allowance recorded against them as their realization does not meet the more

likely than not criteria under SFAS 109 based on our current and projected financial status As of

December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 we had accrued $1.0 million and $0.6 million respectively

for uncertain tax positions all of which will impact our effective tax rate when recognized It is

reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease in the

next twelve months As of the filing date of this annual
report on Form 10-K an estimate of the range

that will reverse in the next twelve months of reasonably possible outcomes cannot be made Estimated

interest and penalty charges related to unrecognized tax benefits are classified as income tax expense in

the accompanying consolidated statements of operations At December 31 2008 and 2007 we had
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$0.1 million and $0.1 million respectively of accrued interest expense related to uncertain tax

positions

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain items from our consolidated

statements of operations as percentage of revenues

47.7

50.4

74.4

70.7
_____ _____

400.3
_____ _____

373.8

8.7
_____ _____

382.5 _____ _____

1.3
_____ _____

383.8%
_____ _____

Revenues Revenues consist of services revenues including managed services maintenance and

support and professional services and product and license sales provided to our customers

Cost of revenues Cost of revenues consist primarily of the costs to deliver services and products

to our customers including the costs of delivering and hosting managed services product and hardware

costs and overhead associated with fulfillment operations Our manufacturing process is outsourced to

contract manufacturer The amortization of certain acquired intangible assets and stock-based

compensation expense are also included in cost of revenues

Selling general and administrative expenses Selling general and administrative expenses consist

primarily of salaries stock-based compensation commissions and related personnel and overhead

expenses for those engaged in our sales marketing executive finance and administrative activities The

amortization of intangible assets related to acquired customer relationships from Groove Mobile and

Openera is also included in selling general and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses consist primarily of

salaries personnel expenses stock-based compensation and other discretionary fees related to the

design development testing and enhancement of our products and services These costs are expensed

as incurred

Restructuring and other related charges Restructuring charges consist of involuntary severance

related costs facility closures or downsizing and disposal of excess or unused assets

Impairment charges related to goodwill Impairment charges related to goodwill represent the

charges incurred to write down our goodwill to its fair value

Year Ended December 31

2008

100.0%

73.5

26.5

2007

100.0%

77.3

22.7

2006

100.0%

63.1

36.9

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Restructuring and other related charges

Impairment of intangible assets and long-lived assets

Impairment of goodwill

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss
Other income expense net

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss from continuing operations

157.1 189.9 303.3

43.5 92.3

61.5

233.4

210.7

4.1

206.6

1.2

207.8%

457.1

420.2

10.6

409.6

1.0

410.6%
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Impairment of intangible assets and long-lived assets Impairment of intangible assets and long-lived

assets represent
the charges incurred to write down such assets to their fair value

Other income expense net Other income expense net consists primarily of interest income

interest expense foreign currency translation and transaction gains and losses and for the
year

ended

December 31 2008 an other-than-temporary impairment of Verso common stock

Discontinued Operations On December 2008 we sold our NMS Communications Platforms

business to Dialogic On December 21 2007 we sold our NI Business to Verso Accordingly the

operating results of the NMS Communication Platforms business and the NI Business have been

reclassified as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations for all historic

reporting periods

The NMS Communications Platforms business had revenues of $48.3 million $69.2 million and

$87.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Income from the

discontinued operations was $5.9 million net of income tax provision of $0.6 million $18.9 million

net of income tax provision of $0.1 million and $28.4 million net of income tax provision of

$0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively For the year ended

December 31 2008 we recorded gain on the sale of the transaction of $16.3 million net of income

tax provision of zero

The NI Business had revenues of $5.4 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31

2007 and 2006 respectively Loss from the discontinued operations was $0.4 million net tax effect of

zero $2.4 million net of income tax benefit of $0.1 million and $7.7 million net of income tax

benefit of $0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively For the

year ended December 31 2007 we recorded gain on the sale of the transaction of $1.6 million net

of income tax expense of $6000

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Revenues

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Service revenues $10.2 65.6% 5.1 38.7% 99.9%

Product revenues 5.4 34.4 8.1 61.3 33.6%

Total revenues $15.6 100.0% $13.2 100.0% 18.1%

We experienced $2.4 million increase in total revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2007 Service revenues for the year ended December 31

2008 increased $5.1 million from $5.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007 primarily due to

revenues of $5.6 million from our recently introduced managed service offerings which includes

$4.2 million of revenues from the customer relationships obtained in connection with the acquisition of

Groove Mobile in March 2008 Product revenues of our ringback platform decreased $2.7 million due

to the variability in the timing of completion of these arrangements and an overall decline in the cap-ex

portion of this business through our channel partners The decrease caused by the variability of timing

was offset by the recognition of $2.3 million in handset software distribution royalties from one

customer We recorded $1.3 million of these royalties in the first quarter of 2008 We expect

significant decline in handset software distribution royalties during 2009 and thereafter as this customer

has phased out use of the handset product We expect continued decline in the cap-ex portion of our

ringback platform business as we plan to focus our resources on our managed service offerings in
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North America Additionally we notified channel partners in early 2009 that we do not expect to

extend our agreements with them beyond their current terms They may make last-time-buy purchases

in 2009 with maintenance and support available for limited time thereafter

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Americas 5.4 34.4% 3.4 25.6% 59.0%

EMEA 6.4 41.2 7.2 54.9 11.3%
Asia 3.8 24.4 2.6 19.5 47.0%

Total revenues $15.6 100.0% $13.2 100.0% 18.1%

Revenues derived from the Americas region increased during the year ended December 31 2008

as compared to the year ended December 31 2007 primarily due to variability in the timing of

completion of our ringback platform arrangements and increased revenue generated from the customer

relationships obtained in connection with the acquisition of Groove Mobile in March 2008 The decline

in revenues derived from the EMEA region was primarily related to decline in the cap-ex portion of

our business where we sell our services as bundled product and service including installation

maintenance and support and training primarily through channel partners in this region Revenues

derived from the Asia region increased during the year ended December 31 2008 as compared to the

year ended December 31 2007 primarily due to the recognition of $2.8 million in handset software

royalty and maintenance revenue related to the multiple-element customer license and support

arrangement described above

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Cost of service revenues 9.0 57.4% 5.0 37.8% 79.3%

Cost of product revenues 2.5 16.1 5.2 39.5 51.9%

Cost of revenues $11.5 73.5% $10.2 77.3% 12.2%

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Revenues $15.6 100.0% $13.2 100.0% 18.1%

Cost of revenues 11.5 73.5 10.2 77.3 12.2%

Gross profit $4.1 26.5% $3.0 22.7% 38.0%
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We experienced an increase in our cost of service revenues during the year ended December 31

2008 as compared to the year ended December 31 2007 primarily related to the acquisition of Groove

Mobile in March 2008 which increased costs related to delivery of our managed services as well as

amortization of related intangible assets namely acquired technology We experienced decrease in

our cost of product revenues during the year ended December 31 2008 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2007 primarily due to decline in product sales related to the cap-ex portion of our

ringback platform business Our gross profit increased during the year ended December 31 2008 as

compared to December 31 2007 primarily as result of the recognition of $2.8 million in handset

software royalties and maintenance revenues during 2008 which typically are at higher margin than

our other offerings We expect significant decline in handset software distribution royalties during

2009

Selling General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Selling general and administrative $24.5 157.1% $25.1 189.9% 2.3%

Selling general and administrative expenses decreased $0.6 million to $24.5 million during the year

ended December 31 2008 from $25.1 million in the year ended December 31 2007 The decrease was

primarily due to $2.6 million decrease in compensation expense due to headcount reductions and

deferred compensation due to the full vesting of Openera options and restricted stock as of August

2008 partially offset by $1.5 million increase in consulting expenses related to the purchase of

Groove Mobile and the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business As result of the sale of

the NMS Communications Platforms business and our restructuring actions in 2008 we expect selling

general and administrative costs to significantly decline in 2009

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Research and development $7.5 47.7% $5.7 43.5% 29.7%

Our research and development spending increased $1.7 million during the year ended

December 31 2008 as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2007 The increase was primarily

attributable to $1.8 million increase in personnel and related costs associated with current

development initiatives as well as the Groove Mobile acquisition during the first quarter of 2008 Our

research and development activities are primarily focused on opportunities relating to mobile

personalization applications and enhancing our current service offerings

Impairment of Intangible Assets and Long-lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS 144 we performed an assessment as of December 31 2008 and

determined that triggering event had occurred The continued marked decline of our common stock

during the fourth quarter of 2008 75% decline during the fourth quarter of 2008 along with an

anticipated impairment of goodwill were indicators that the carrying value of our long-lived assets

might not be recoverable We performed our assessment at the asset group level which represented the

lowest level of cash flows that are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities For

LiveWire Mobile this asset grouping is at the reporting unit level and consists of acquired technology

and customer relationships which were recorded as result of the acquisitions of Groove Mobile and
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Openera property
and equipment managed service assets and long term deposits on leased space

When performing this test at the reporting unit level goodwill is included in the carrying value of the

asset group We assessed the recoverability of the carrying value of our long-lived assets based on

estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from such assets The carrying value of the

reporting unit including goodwill prior to the goodwill impairment charge described below was

greater than the undiscounted cash flows indicating an impairment We performed step two of the

impairment test and determined there was full impairment of our intangible assets and partial

impairment of the property and equipment and deposits reducing those assets to their fair value The

fair value was determined based on the price that willing buyer would pay in an orderly liquidation of

those assets As result we recorded an impairment charge of $9.6 million related to the intangible

assets and $2.0 million related to other long-lived assets including managed service assets of

$1.1 million property and equipment of $0.8 million and other long-lived assets of $0.1 million We

also reassessed the depreciation method and remaining depreciation period for the property and

equipment and determined that no changes to the depreciation period or method were necessary

Impairment of Goodwill

We performed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill as of December 31 2008 Our

assessment for impairment was conducted in accordance with SFAS 142 which required us to

determine the fair value of the Company as whole since it is considered the reporting unit to which

all goodwill is allocated We estimated the fair value of the reporting unit utilizing industry accepted

valuation techniques that included the present value of estimated future cash flows using risk-adjusted

discount rate and market multiple approach which considered our market capitalization adjusted for

control premium These valuation techniques require significant judgments by management including

estimates and assumptions about our projected future operating results discount rates and long-term

growth rates Our forecasts of future revenue were based on expected future growth from new as well

as existing customers and historical trends In addition we considered the expected gross margins

attainable in the future and the required level of operating expenses needed to conduct our business

Step one of our impairment assessment resulted in the carrying value of the reporting unit

exceeding the fair value In step two of our impairment analysis we compared the implied fair value of

goodwill to its carrying value The implied fair value of goodwill was determined to be zero

Consequently we determined that goodwill was fully impaired resulting in an impairment charge of

$11.0 million as of December 31 2008

Restructuring and Other Related Charges

In the fourth quarter of 2008 we committed to several cost reduction plans focused on

streamlining our operations and the elimination of certain fixed costs We eliminated 27 employee

positions primarily in the sales and marketing area of our business to better position us to improve

operating margins in response to adverse market conditions experienced in 2008 This action resulted in

restructuring charges of $0.5 million consisting primarily of employee severance-related costs In

connection with the sale of our NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic and in an effort

to improve operating margins by eliminating business roles and functions which are not necessary for

the go-forward business we eliminated 20 employee positions which resulted in additional restructuring

charges of $2.1 million consisting primarily of employee severance-related costs

Also in connection with the sale of our NMS Communications Platforms business we pursued an

exit plan to reduce our costs under lease agreement for the office space at 100 Crossing Boulevard

located in Framingham Massachusetts On December 30 2008 we entered into Lease Termination

Agreement with our landlord and exited the space at 100 Crossing Boulevard by December 31 2008

As result we recorded additional restructuring charges of $3.6 million related to 100 Crossing

Boulevard including $2.4 million of lease termination expenses and associated facility-related costs
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$0.9 million of leasehold improvement write-off costs and $0.3 million of broker fees The Lease

Termination Agreement requires cash termination payments in 2009 totaling $2.0 million cash

termination payments in 2010 of $1.0 million and cash termination payments in 2011 of $0.1 million

The Lease Termination Agreement resulted in annual cost savings of approximately $2.6 million

through May 2012 We also recorded facility-related restructuring charge of $0.1 million related to

our London office

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we updated our analysis of the restructuring costs recorded in

the first quarter of 2008 in connection with restructuring event for an exit plan to vacate the Groove

Mobile corporate headquarters As result we recorded additional restructuring costs of approximately

$0.1 million relating to additional real estate tax and operating costs

In the third quarter
of 2008 in order to further reduce operating costs we eliminated one

employee position which resulted in restructuring charges of $39000

In the second quarter
of 2008 we recorded restructuring charge of $1.0 million Of this amount

$0.4 million related to exited office
space

located at our former headquarters at 100 Crossing

Boulevard in Framingham Massachusetts We consolidated our use of office space subsequent to our

relocation of our continuing operations to Littleton Massachusetts in May 2008 We also recorded

facility-related restructuring charge of $0.1 million related to consolidation of our France office In

connection with the facility exit activities we wrote down $0.5 million of fixed assets associated with the

exited space primarily consisting of leasehold improvements

In the first quarter of 2008 in order to reduce operating costs we eliminated nine employee

positions in anticipation of synergies associated with the acquisition of Groove Mobile which resulted

in restructuring charges of $0.4 million all of which was employee severance-related costs In

connection with the acquisition of Groove Mobile we created an exit plan to vacate the Groove Mobile

corporate headquarters and relocate employees to the LiveWire Mobile corporate headquarters We

recorded facility exit cost of $0.3 million which represents the estimated remaining net facility-related

costs during the lease term

There were no restructuring charges in 2007

The following table sets forth activity during the years ended December 31 2007 and 2008

3541

866

_______
74

_______ _____ _______

2749

3332

311

1251 1533

Facilities and employee related restructuring charges are expected to be settled by May 2012 and

June 2009 respectively

Employee Facility Fixed Asset

Related Related Write-offs Other

In thousands

Total

791

711
80

2898

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2006

Cash payments

Adjustments

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2007

Restructuring and other related charges

Restructuring for business combination

Cash payments

Non-cash adjustment

Write-off of property and equipment

Accretion of deferred rent

Reclassification of deferred rent

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2008

1398

$4332

1577

$2749
243 7871

311

2784
243 243

1398 1398
47 47

665 665

1647 5571 7218
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Other Income Expense Net

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In millions

Interest income 0.2 $1.2

Interest expense 0.4
Other 1.2 03
Total other income expense net $1.4 $0.5

The decrease in interest income for the year ended December 31 2008 compared with the year

ended December 31 2007 is attributable to decrease in our cash cash equivalents and marketable

securities We recorded $0.4 million of interest expense primarily attributable to our revolving line of

credit from which we obtained $2.6 million of net proceeds since June 30 2008 and capital leases

During the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge

of $1.9 million related to our Verso common stock holdings We deemed the impairment to be

other-than-temporary as result of Versos filing for bankruptcy in April of 2008 This charge is

included in other expense net Also included in other expense net in the year ended December 31

2008 is $0.8 million gain related to foreign currency translation Included in other expense net in

the year ended December 31 2007 is $0.5 million loss related to foreign currency rates

Income Tax Expense

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In millions

Income tax expense 0.2 0.2

Effective January 2007 we adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxesan Interpretation of FASB Statement 109 FIN 48 which resulted in no

material adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax positions

Income tax expense is primarily due to foreign income and withholding taxes incurred by foreign

subsidiaries and additional accruals for uncertain tax positions as discussed below

We conduct business globally and as result we or one or more of our subsidiaries files income

tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions In the normal

course of business we are subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world With few

exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax

examinations for years before 2000 We are no longer subject to IRS examinations for the years prior

to 2004 although carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2004 may still be adjusted upon
examination by the tax authorities if they either have been or will be used in the future Similar tax law

provisions may also apply for state and international tax purposes

We reached settlement with the French Authorities regarding the audit for the years 2003-2004

The settlement of $0.2 million was finalized and paid in January 2008 As part of the settlement we

agreed to adjust its gross net operating loss carryforwards and related valuation allowances from

$6.3 million to $1.6 million as of December 31 2006 These gross net operating loss carryforwards had

full valuation allowance against them at December 31 2007 Based upon the settlement there was no

material impact to net income accumulated deficit or net deferred taxes in any historic periods

For U.S federal income tax purposes we had net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce

taxable income of $310.6 million at December 31 2008 portion of which may be limited under
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Internal Revenue Code Section 382 in future years Unutilized carryforwards will begin to expire in

2009 if unutilized We also had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $18.8 million As of

December 31 2008 we had approximately $6.1 million of tax credits in the U.S that are composed of

federal research and development tax credits and state and local credits These unutilized credits will

begin to expire
in 2009 if unutilized In addition we had Canadian investment tax credits of

approximately $5.1 million as of December 31 2008 These credits will begin to expire in 2014 if

unutilized

United States income taxes were not provided on cumulative undistributed earnings for certain

non-U.S subsidiaries of approximately $5.8 million We intend to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in

our operations outside the U.S

Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Revenues

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Service revenues 5.1 38.7% $4.1 46.3% 24.4%

Product revenues 8.1 61.3 4.8 53.7 69.5%

Total revenues $13.2 100.0% $8.9 100.0% 48.6%

We experienced growth in our revenues during the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to

the year
ended December 31 2006 as result of increased demand for our MyCaller Ringback

Platform and related services This increase was due to expansion orders from existing customers as

our customers experienced growth in subscribers and additional new customers through our indirect

channel We continued to see growth in this area through new and existing operator deployments

around the world Also in the fourth quarter
of 2007 we recognized $0.5 million related to our

managed service offerings which we introduced in 2007

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Americas 3.4 25.6% $3.3 37.5% 1.3%

EMEA 7.2 54.8 5.4 60.9 33.9%

Asia 26 19.6 0.2 1.6 1667.8%

Total revenues $13.2 100M% $8.9 100.0% 48.6%

For the year
ended December 31 2007 revenues derived from the Americas region increased

slightly as compared to the year ended December 31 2006 due to expansions orders from existing

customers For the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to the year ended December 31 2006

we experienced an increase in the revenues from the EMEA region due to the increase in demand for

our products and services Revenues attributable to the Asia market increased during the year ended

December 31 2007 as compared to the year ended December 31 2006 due to growth in sales of our

MyCaller Ringback Platform and related services through our indirect channel
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Cost of service revenues 5.0 37.8% $1.8 19.8% 184.7%
Cost of product revenues 5.2 39.5 3.8 43.3 35.6%

Cost of revenues $10.2 $5.6 63.1% 82.3%

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Revenues $13.2 100.0% $8.9 100.0% 48.6%
Cost of revenues 10.2 77.3 5.6 63.1 82.3%

Gross profit $3.0 22.7% $3.3 39% 8.8%

We experienced decrease in gross profit in the
year ended December 31 2007 as compared to

the year ended December 31 2006 primarily due to increased costs associated with investments in our

professional and technical services delivery capabilities related to the
cap-ex portion of our business

Selling General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Selling general and administrative $25.1 189.9% $27.0 303.3% 6.9%

Selling general and administrative expenses decreased during the year ended December 31 2007
compared to the

year ended December 31 2006 The decrease was primarily comprised of

$1.7 million decrease in personnel and related costs including travel and related costs that resulted

from the restructuring actions taken in the second half of 2006 and other personnel reductions

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

Amount of Revenues Amount of Revenues Change

In millions In millions

Research and development $5.7 43.5% $8.2 92.3% 30.1%

Our research and development spending decreased during the year ended December 31 2007 in

comparison to the year ended December 31 2006 This decrease was primarily attributable to

decrease in personnel and related costs as result of the
restructuring actions taken in the second half

of 2006 Our research and development spending was directed to enhance our existing MyCaller

Ringback Platform product line

Restructuring and Other Related Charges

There were no restructuring charges in 2007
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In the fourth quarter
of 2006 in order to further reduce operating costs we eliminated 40

employee positions
which resulted in restructuring charges of $1.9 million These charges primarily

consisted of severance-related costs In the fourth quarter of 2006 we also entered into an agreement

to sublease to third party office space
located in Framingham Massachusetts which was formerly

used by the Company as supplementary conference training and corporate office space the 2006

sublease We exited this facility as of December 31 2006 and recorded pre-tax restructuring charges

of $1.4 million during the year ended December 31 2006 In 2001 and 2002 the Company recorded

restructuring charges related to other exited space in this facility equal to the difference between

committed lease payments and the estimated sublease rental income for such space During the fourth

quarter of 2006 we updated our analysis of the estimated sublease rental income based on the signing

of the 2006 sublease and other expected market conditions As result we recorded additional pre-tax

restructuring costs of approximately $0.9 million The actions resulted in annual costs savings of

approximately $2.6 million which consists of $2.1 million of personnel related costs and $0.5 million of

reduced facility related costs The following table illustrates the components of the restructuring and

other related charges incurred during the year
ended December 31 2006

In the third quarter
of 2006 in order to reduce operating costs we eliminated 17 employee

positions and closed our engineering facility in Red Bank New Jersey which resulted in restructuring

and other related charges of $1.3 million These charges consisted of $0.8 million of employee

severance-related costs $0.4 million of lease termination costs and $0.1 million of fixed asset write-offs

The following table sets forth restructuring activity during the years ended December 31 2006 and

2007
Fixed

Employee Facility Asset

Related Related Write-ofis Total

In thousands

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2005 916 916

Restructuring and other related charges 2653 2710 106 5469

Cash payments 1862 702 2564

Reclassification of deferred rent 617 617

Write-off of property
and equipment 106 106

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2006 791 $3541 4332

Cash payments 711 866 1577

Adjustments 80 74

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2007 $2749 2749

The facility related obligation is expected to be settled by May 2012

Other Income Expense Net

Year Ended

December 31

2007 2006

In millions

Interest income $1.2 $1.7

Other 0.7

Total other income expense net $0.5 $0.9

The decrease in interest income for the year ended December 31 2007 as compared with the year

ended December 31 2006 is attributable to $2.1 million decrease in our cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities as well as decrease in interest rates Included in other expense net in the
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years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 are $0.5 million and $0.7 million respectively of loss related

to foreign exchange

Income Tax Expense

Year Ended

December 31

2007 2006

In millions

Income tax expense $0.2 $0.1

Effective January 2007 we adopted the provisions of FIN 48 which resulted in no material

adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits

Income tax expense is primarily due to foreign income and withholding taxes incurred by foreign

subsidiaries withholding taxes in certain jurisdictions and additional accruals for uncertain tax

positions as discussed below

We conduct business globally and as result we or one or more of our subsidiaries files income

tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions In the normal

course of business we are subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world With few

exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax

examinations for
years before 1999

We reached settlement with the French Authorities regarding the audit for the years 2003-2004

The settlement of $0.2 million was finalized and paid in January 2008 As part of the settlement we

agreed to adjust its gross net operating loss carryforwards and related valuation allowances from

$6.3 million to $1.6 million as of December 31 2006 These gross net operating loss carryforwards had

full valuation allowance against them at December 31 2007 and December 31 2006 Based upon the

settlement there was no material impact to net income accumulated deficit or net deferred taxes in any
historic periods

For U.S federal income tax purposes we had net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce

taxable income of $201.2 million at December 31 2007 Of this amount $21.1 million related to

deductions from the exercise of stock options of which $1.5 million is tracked separately and not

included in our deferred tax asset in accordance with SFAS 123R The future benefit from these

deductions will be recorded as credit to additional paid-in capital when realized Under the provisions

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Internal Revenue Code Section 382
certain changes in our ownership structure may result in limitation on the amount of net operating

loss carryforwards and research and development tax credit carryforwards that may be used in future

years These carryforwards began to expire in 2008 We also had foreign net operating loss

carryforwards of $20.5 million As of December 31 2007 we had approximately $6.5 million of tax

credits in the U.S that are composed of federal research and development tax credits and state and

local credits These credits would begin to expire in 2009 if unutilized In addition we had Canadian

investment tax credits of approximately $5.0 million as of December 31 2007 These credits begin to

expire in 2014 if unutilized

United States income taxes were not provided on cumulative undistributed earnings for certain

non-U.S subsidiaries of approximately $4.5 million We intend to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in

our operations outside the U.S
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31

2008 2007

In millions

Cash cash equivalents
and marketable securities $19.3 $30.2

Working capital
$13.7 $32.0

As of December 31 2008 our liquid assets included cash of $19.3 million We intend to use our

cash for general corporate purposes which includes working capital and capital expenditures In

connection with the sale of the NMS Communication Platforms business in the fourth quarter of 2008

we received approximately $22.0 million in cash from Dialogic net of deal costs ii paid

$2.8 million funded into an escrow account to support any indemnification claims iii paid $0.4 million

which is being be held in escrow to settle certain contingencies that may arise related to levels of

working capital and iv immediately subsequent to the consummation of the Asset Sale on

December 2008 entered into Receivables Purchase Agreement with Dialogic to purchase

$4.0 million of certain billed accounts receivables owned by Dialogic for $3.8 million in cash Also in

connection with the sale of the NI Business in the fourth quarter
of 2007 we received consideration of

$0.9 million of cash and 5374033 shares of Verso common stock for which we recognized an

other-than-temporary impairment charge of $1.9 million during the three months ended March 31 2008

as result of Versos filing for bankruptcy in April 2008

On March 17 2008 we through one of our subsidiaries acquired Groove Mobile for total

purchase price of $15.9 million including cash consideration of $14.5 million and total transaction

costs and facility exit costs of approximately $1.4 million In connection with the acquisition
of Groove

Mobile we assumed short term debt of $0.5 million and subsequent to the acquisition repaid the

obligation in March 2008

On May 2008 we entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Original Credit Facility

with Silicon Valley Bank SVB which permitted us to borrow up to $6.0 million in the form of

revolving loan advances including up to $6.0 million in the form of letters of credit foreign exchange

contracts or cash management services Under the Original Credit Facility principal borrowings

accrued interest at floating per annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate Loans under the Original

Credit Facility were collateralized by security interest in substantially all our assets other than

certain intellectual property assets and ii guaranteed by certain of our domestic subsidiaries each of

which entered into an unconditional guaranty agreement and security agreement effective as of

May 2008 in favor of SVB

On June 30 2008 we together with our wholly-owned subsidiaries NMS Communications

International Corporation and Groove Mobile wholly-owned subsidiary of LiveWire Mobile later

renamed LWM Corporation collectively the Borrowers entered into an Amended and Restated

Loan and Security Agreement the Amended Credit Facility with SVB which permits the Borrowers

to borrow up to 80% of $5.0 million in the form of advances based on portion
of eligible accounts

receivable Principal borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility accrue interest at floating per

annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate plus one percentage point The Amended Credit Facility

terminates on June 29 2009 The Amended Credit Facility amends and restates in its entirety the

Original Credit Facility

On November 2008 we entered into Second Loan Modification Agreement the Loan

Modification Agreement which amends the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement

with SVB dated June 30 2008 together with the Loan Modification Agreement the Amended Credit

Facility The amount of the Amended Credit Facility was $6.25 million with borrowings of up to 80%

in the form of advances based on portion of eligible accounts receivable Upon closing of the sale of

the NMS Communications Platforms business the amount of the Amended Credit Facility was reduced
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to $3.75 million of which $3.0 million can be borrowed in the form of advances based on portion of

eligible accounts receivable Principal borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility accrue interest at

floating per annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate plus two percentage points As of December 31
2008 we borrowed $2.6 million under the Amended Credit Facility

The Amended Credit Facility includes customary lending and reporting covenants including

without limitation the periodic delivery of financial information to SVB and the provision of notice to

SVB upon the occurrence of specified events including threatened litigation and threats to protected

intellectual property The Amended Credit Facility also includes customary representations and

warranties including without limitation that the accounts receivable upon which SVB will advance

funds remain eligible in accordance with the terms of the Amended Credit Facility and that payment
of the accounts receivable by third-party debtors is not contingent in nature and is based on an actual

sale and delivery of goods and services The Amended Credit Facility also includes several potential

events of default which upon occurrence could cause interest to be charged at prime plus four

percentage points These events of default include without limitation payment defaults defaults in the

performance of affirmative and negative covenants the inaccuracy of representations or warranties

material adverse change conditions attachment of assets insolvency conditions defaults relating to

uninsured judgments or defaults under other agreements guarantees or indebtedness Any uncured

events of default may result in SVBs right to declare all outstanding obligations immediately due and

payable

The Amended Credit Facility contains negative covenants applicable to the Borrowers including

without limitation prohibitions on certain transfers of its business or property the payment of certain

dividends changes in business management or business locations certain mergers or acquisitions

incurrence or assumption of indebtedness encumbrance of assets certain distributions or investments

certain transactions with affiliates improper debt payments and certain actions related to the

Investment Company Act of 1940 and ERISA

Amounts borrowed under the Amended Credit Facility are secured by security interest in

substantially all assets and intellectual property of the Borrowers We intend to utilize the Amended
Credit Facility as source of capital for ongoing operations and working capital needs We incurred

approximately $0.2 million in deferred financing fees associated with the Original Credit Facility and

the Amended Credit Facility The deferred financing fees are capitalized as other current assets and are

amortized on straight-line basis over the term of the Amended Credit Facility

We believe that our available liquid assets net proceeds from the sale of the our NMS
Communications Platforms business and working capital are sufficient to meet our operating expenses

capital requirements and contractual obligations for the next twelve months Material risks to cash flow

include lower than anticipated revenues and delayed cash receipts from sales of our services and

products Our future liquidity and cash requirements will depend on numerous factors including but

not limited to the ability of our business to generate enough cash to sustain our operations the level

of revenue we will be able to achieve in the future the successful introduction of new services in the

market and capital expenditures required to support our business Long-term cash requirements for

normal operating expenses are anticipated for the continued development and deployment of new
services In the future we could require additional external financing through the sales of additional

equity or debt obtaining loans from financial institutions or other financing vehicles or selling our core

or non-core assets There is no assurance that such
financing can be obtained on favorable terms if at

all As result of expected payments of lease termination costs restructuring costs transaction costs

associated with the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business in 2008 and cash expected to

be used in operations in 2009 we estimate our cash balances to be approximately $8.0 million in the

fourth quarter of 2009 including anticipated receipt of escrow funds of $3.2 million relating to the sale

of the NMS Communications Platforms business
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Deterioration in the business environment and market conditions could negatively impact operating

results and liquidity
There is no assurance that if operations were to deteriorate and additional

financing were to become necessary we will be able to obtain financing in amounts sufficient to meet

operating requirements or at terms which are satisfactory and which allow us to remain competitive

There is also no assurance that if conditions deteriorate that our Amended Credit Facility will be

available Our expectation that existing resources will fund capital expenditure and working capital

requirements is forward-looking statement that is subject to risks and uncertainties Actual results

could differ from those indicated as result of number of factors including the use of currently

available resources for possible acquisitions and possible additional stock repurchases

During 2008 there has been distress in the global economy and the market price of our common

stock and our market capitalization
has declined significantly As result we performed an impairment

test on our intangible assets and our annual test for impairment of our goodwill as of December 31

2008 We incurred $11.0 million of charges related to the impairment of our goodwill and $11.6 million

of charges related to the impairment of intangible assets and other long-lived assets

Cash Flow

Sources and uses of cash for the 2008 2007 and 2006 years are summarized in the table below

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In millions

Net cash provided by used in operating activities $15.2 0.1 5.5

Net cash provided by used in investing activities $12.5 $5.2 1.4

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 2.1 0.2 $22.4

The principal
driver in the change in cash flows used in operations is net loss adjusted by certain

non-cash items such as impairments depreciation amortization and stock-based compensation Net loss

increased by $28.9 million from net loss of $9.3 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 to

net loss of $38.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 We recognized net loss of

$15.8 million in 2006 In the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we incurred amortization

expense of $3.8 million $1.2 million and $1.2 million respectively as result of the acquisition of

Groove Mobile in March 2008 and Openera in February 2006 In addition we recorded gain on the

disposal of our NMS Communications Platforms business aggregating $16.3 million during the year

ended December 31 2008 This gain was offset by an impairment loss of approximately $22.6 million

recorded as result of an impairment of the value of our goodwill intangibles and certain long-lived

assets On December 21 2007 we sold our NI Business to Verso for consideration of $0.9 million and

5374033 shares of Verso common stock which was valued at $1.8 million as of December 31 2007

We recognized gain of $1.6 million related to the transaction during the year ended December 31

2007 During the first quarter of 2008 we recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge of

$1.9 million related to our Verso common stock holdings We deemed the impairment to be

other-than-temporary as result of Versos filing for bankruptcy in April of 2008 We also incurred

stock-based compensation expense of $4.1 million of which $0.4 million was paid in cash in December

2008 $5.1 million and $4.8 million during the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively These amounts include stock-based compensation expense of $1.9 million $3.0 million and

$2.5 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively related to the

restricted stock and common stock consideration used to purchase Openera in February 2006

Our cash flows from operating activities are also affected by changes in our operating assets and

liabilities As of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 DSO from continued and discontinued operations

collectively was 82 days 57 days and 49 days respectively DSO is significantly affected by the timing

of customer shipments and invoicing For our services we generally invoice as delivered For most of
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our products we invoice at the time of shipment For other products we partially invoice our

customers at the time of order receipt with the remainder of the order being invoiced at certain

milestones Deferred revenues represent inventory in the channel systems shipped to customers that

are awaiting acceptance or other deferred elements of contract maintenance and support services

billed but not yet delivered and managed services where revenue is not yet recognized For the year

ended December 31 2008 cash flows provided by accounts receivable and deferred revenue activity

were $6.8 million and $1.1 million respectively These balances may vary based on timing of invoicing

cash receipts and timing of revenue recognition We used cash of $6.8 million to pay accounts payables

and accrued expenses during the year ended December 31 2008 primarily related to the payout of

vendors payroll and bonus and commissions earned during the fourth quarter of 2007 In addition we

paid $1.6 million for licensed technology we purchased in December 2007 The licensed technology was

sold to Dialogic as part of the Asset Sale in December 2008

Our cash flows provided by investing activities were primarily driven by the proceeds received in

connection with the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business aggregating $22.0 million in

net proceeds and proceeds from the sales and maturities of our marketable securities of approximately

$9.5 million during the year ended December 31 2008 We utilized cash in the amount of $13.6 million

related to the acquisition of Groove Mobile In 2007 and 2006 our cash flows used in investing

activities were primarily driven by the purchases of fixed assets and other long term assets and

purchases and maturities of our marketable securities On December 21 2007 we sold our NI Business

to Verso for consideration of $0.9 million and 5374033 shares of Verso common stock which was

valued at $1.8 million as of December 31 2007

Our cash flows provided by financing activities were primarily driven by the $2.6 million in net

proceeds obtained from our revolving line of credit The cash flows used in financing activities included

$0.5 million of debt we assumed and paid in connection with the Groove Mobile acquisition and

$0.3 million paid related to our capital lease obligations In 2006 as part of our board of directors plan

to repurchase our common stock we used $23.3 million to repurchase 7888985 shares of our common
stock The stock repurchase programs were completed in September 2006 In connection with the

acquisition of Openera we acquired debt of $0.7 million which was repaid in 2006

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements other than property and equipment

operating leases that are disclosed in the contractual obligations table below and in our consolidated

financial statements nor do we have any transactions arrangements or other relationships with any

special purpose entities established by us at our direction or for our benefit The following table details

our future contractual payment obligations
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Contractual Obligations

The following table details our future contractual payment obligations as of December 31 2008

Payments due by Period

Less than More than All

In Thousands Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years Other

Revolving line of credit 2610 2610

Operating lease obligations 7523 2345 3789 1389

Capital lease obligations 835 441 360 34

Purchase obligations 2011 2011

Lease termination obligations 3157 2043 1114

Uncertain tax positions and related

interest 1116 1116

Total contractual obligations $17252 9450 $5263 $1423 $1116

Operating lease obligations do not include estimated sublease income of $3.0 million which is

expected to be received over the next five years or ii $0.2 million of estimated payments from

Dialogic Inc related to space to be occupied in accordance with fransition Services Agreement

signed on December 2008 in conjunction with the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms

business

Lease termination obligations relate to Lease Termination Agreement we entered into on

December 30 2008 with our landlord and exited the space at 100 Crossing Boulevard by December 31

2008 The Lease Termination Agreement requires cash termination payments in 2009 totaling

$2.0 million cash termination payments in 2010 of $1.0 million and cash termination payments in 2011

of $0.1 million The Lease Termination Agreement resulted in annual cost savings of approximately

$2.6 million through May 2012

Purchase obligations are open purchase orders defined as agreements to purchase goods or

services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms including fixed

or minimum quantities to be purchased fixed minimum or variable pricing provisions and the

approximate timing of the transactions These obligations primarily relate to hardware components

software licenses and services and equipment rental and maintenance services The amounts are based

on our contractual commitments

As of December 31 2008 and included in the purchase obligations total in the table above we

had $0.8 million purchase commitment with our contract manufacturer Arrow Electronics for the

purchase of ringback platform components This commitment was reduced by agreement in January

2009 to $0.3 million and paid in February 2009

As of December 31 2008 we recorded liability related to uncertain tax positions of $1.0 million

and related interest of $0.1 million In January 2008 we paid $0.2 million of taxes and interest related

to an uncertain tax position recorded in 2007 We are unable to reasonably estimate the timing of the

remainder of uncertain tax positions and related interest in individual years beyond twelve months due

to uncertainties in the timing of the effective settlements of tax positions

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 SFAS 157

defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures

regarding fair value measurements SFAS 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that

require or permit fair value measurements the FASB having previously concluded in those accounting

pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute Accordingly SFAS 157 does not
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require any new fair value measurements SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 However in February 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2 Effective Date of

FASB Statement No 157 FSP FAS 157-2 which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair

value in the financial statements on recurring basis at least annually FSP FAS 157-2 partially defers

the effective date of SFAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 and interim periods

within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2 Effective January 2008 we

adopted SFAS 157 except as it applies to those nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities as noted

in FSP FAS 157-2 The adoption of SFAS 157 had no material impact on our financial statements upon
adoption and for the year ended December 31 2008 We are currently evaluating the potential impact

of adoption of FSP FAS 157-2 and have not yet determined the impact if any that its adoption will

have on our results of operations or financial condition

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities including an amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS 159 SFAS 159

permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value

that are not currently required to be measured at fair value Unrealized gains and losses on items for

which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings SFAS 159 does not affect any

existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value

SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The adoption of SFAS 159
effective January 2008 did not have material impact on our financial position results of operations

or cash flows as we elected not to apply SFAS 159 to any assets or liabilities

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations

SFAS 141R and SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an

amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 SFAS 160 SFAS 141R will change how business

acquisitions are accounted for and will impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in

subsequent periods SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests which

will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as component of equity The

provisions of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after

December 15 2008 The impact that SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 will have on our results of operations

or financial condition will depend on whether we complete acquisitions in the future

In March 2008 the FASB issued FASB Statement No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments

and Hedging Activities SFAS 161 SFAS 161 requires expanded disclosures regarding the location

and amounts of derivative instruments in an entitys financial statements how derivative instruments

and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial

position operating results and cash flows SFAS 161 is effective on January 2009 Since SFAS 161

affects only disclosures it will not impact our financial position or results of operations upon adoption

In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful

Life of Intangible Assets FSP 142-3 FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for the

fiscal
years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years which

means we will adopt FSP 142-3 in our fiscal year 2009 FSP 142-3 amends the factors that should be

considered in developing renewal of extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of

recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

SFAS 142 FSP 142-3 is intended to improve the consistency between the useful life of an

intangible asset under SFAS 141R and other US GAAE We are currently evaluating the impact if any
of the adoption of FSP 142-3 on our financial position results of operations or cash flows
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATiVE AND QUALITATiVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We maintain business operations in foreign countries As such we have exposure to adverse

changes in exchange rates associated with billings and operating expenses of our foreign operations

The majority of our orders are billed in U.S Dollars however we do accept orders and bill in

currencies other than U.S Dollars We regularly monitor the level of non-U.S Dollar accounts

receivable balances to determine if any actions should be taken to minimize the impact of fluctuating

exchange rates on our results of operations Our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk also relates

to the re-measurement of our intercompany balances The balances are re-measured at each reporting

period at the current foreign exchange rates We do not believe that 10% change in the foreign

currency exchange rates would have material adverse impact on our financial position or results of

operations

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash and cash equivalents of $19.3 million at December 31 2008 The cash and cash

equivalents are held for working capital and capital expenditures We do not enter into investments for

trading or speculative purposes Some of the securities in which we invest however may be subject to

market risk This means that change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of

the investment to fluctuate To minimize this risk we intend to maintain our portfolio
of cash

equivalents and short-term investments in cash and other low-risk securities including money market

funds certificates of deposit and U.S government and agency bonds The risk associated with

fluctuating interest rates is limited to this portfolio and we do not believe that 10% change in

interest rates would have material impact on our financial position or results of operations

Our exposure to market risk also relates to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest

expense we must pay on our bank line of credit The interest rate on our existing line of credit is

variable and based on the U.S prime rate plus 2% As of December 31 2008 we had $2.6 million of

borrowings under this facility We do not believe 10% change in the U.S prime rate would have

material impact on our financial position or results of operations
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of LiveWire Mobile Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under

Item 15a1 present fairly in all material respects the financial position of LiveWire Mobile Inc and

its subsidiaries at December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 and the results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion

the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing Item 15a2 presents fairly in all

material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related

consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material

respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for

these financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements on the financial

statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our

integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the

audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all

material
respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding

of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed

risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

As discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed the

manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions in 2007

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 31 2009
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LiveWire Mobile Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $96 and $113

respectively

Receivables under purchase agreement

Inventories

Cash in escrow

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment net

Goodwill

Other intangible assets net

Other assets net

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses
and other liabilities

Accrued restructuring current portion

Capital lease obligations current portion

Revolving line of credit

Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
_________

Accrued restructuring long term portion

Other long-term liabilities

Capital lease obligations long term portion

Accrued warranty expense long term portion

Total liabilities
________

Commitments and contingencies note 16
Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.05 par value 3000000 shares authorized at December 31
2008 and 2007 respectively no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 125000000 shares authorized at December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively 52991435 shares issued and 45941700 shares

outstanding at December 31 2008 and 52991435 shares issued and 45642905

outstanding at December 31 2007

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Treasury stock at cost 7049735 shares at December 31 2008 and 7348530
shares at December 31 2007

________

Total stockholders equity ________

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands except

share and per share

data

19261 20179

9993

3245 13762

2575

718 2720

3240

1771 3414

30810 50068

1060 5096

5427

4185

558 2964

32428 67740

3217

3641

4454

388

2610

2832

17142

2764

740

360

21006

530

436509

400971
3797

20849

11422

32428

6846

6843

938

3414

18041

1811

714

171

20737

530

433423

362821
2396

21733

47003

67740
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LiveWire Mobile Inc

Consolidated Statements of Operations

5378

15616

8963

2514

11477

4139

8101

13223

5000

5225

10225

2998

25108

5746

30854

27856

1213

669

544

27312
161

27473

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

4780

8896

1756

3853

5609

3287

26979

8215

5469

40663

37376

1730

786

944

36432
91

36523

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

tn thousands except for per share data

$10238 5122 4116Service revenues

Product revenues

Total revenues

Cost of service revenues

Cost of product revenues

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Selling general and administrative 24525

Research and development 7455

Restructuring and other related charges 7871

Impairment of intangibles and other long-lived assets 11616

Impairment of goodwill 11048

Total operating expenses 62515

Operating loss 58376
Other income expense

Interest income 223

Interest expense 374
Other 1201
Other expense income net 1352

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes 59728
Income tax expense 208

Loss from continuing operations 59936

Income from discontinued operations net of income tax

provision of $634 $61 and $147 respectively

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations net of income

tax expense of $0 and $6 respectively 16280 1631

Net loss $38150 9310 $15751

Loss from continuing operations per common sharebasic

and diluted 1.32 0.63 0.75

Net loss per common sharebasic and diluted 0.84 0.21 0.33

Shares used in net loss per common sharebasic 45395 43953 48467

Shares used in net loss per common sharediluted 45395 43953 48467

5506 16532 20772
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LiveWire Mobile Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flow from operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation of property and equipment
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations

Other-than-temporary impairment loss on marketable securities

Amortization of managed services assets

Impairment of intangibles and other long-lived assets

Impairment of goodwill

Amortization of intangible assets

Amortization accretion of marketable securities

Stock-based compensation expense

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

Foreign exchange translation loss gain
Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued restructuring

Deferred revenue

Cash used in provided by operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of managed services assets

Purchases of licenses

Purchases of marketable securities

Proceeds from the maturity of marketable securities

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities

Purchase of accounts receivable under purchase agreement
Proceeds from the collection of purchased accounts receivable under purchase

Proceeds from sale of the business net

Acquisition of business net of cash acquired

Supplemental cash flow information

Reclassification of inventory to property and equipment

Capital leases

Interest paid

Thxes paid

Acquisition of Openera
Fair value of assets acquired net of cash acquired

Fair value of liabilities acquired

Receipt of Verso common stock from sale of NI Business

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

$38150

2557

16280
1881

718

11616

11048

3796

58
3717

1982

791

6763

624
2025
3005
3840
4472

1064

15159

1078
403
148

1340
1920

7585

3816
1412

21966

13632

12466

531
255

2610

252

2076

301

918

20179

$19261

9310

2848

1631

170

1168

29

5128
94

343

492
737

121
3118

427

1583
848

77

1714
1662
1571
9805
8750

850

5152

175

175

97

4997

25176

$20179

agreement

Cash provided by used in investing activities

$15751

2832

1218

484
4768

367

433

4218

805
907

1170
5573
3416

171

5453

2864
224

23580
28000

42

1374

715

23332

1667

22380

423

26036

51212

25176

276

$11485

2775

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of debt

Payment of capital lease obligations

Repurchase of common stock

Proceeds from revolving line of credit net

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Cash used in provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents end of year

246

545

138

609 598

$1881

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business Description

LiveWire Mobile Inc the Company is provider of managed personalization services for

mobile operators and mobile subscribers The Companys offerings infuse personalization capabilities

into traditional mobile communications that are easy to use for mobile subscribers and generate

revenue for mobile operators The Companys integrated managed service offerings include ringback

tones ringtones full track downloads and other applications as well as dedicated content and service

marketing integrated storefront management and merchandising The Company sells these offerings as

managed service to mobile operators who then offer these services to their customers as la carte

purchases and through monthly subscriptions Mobile operators brand and offer the Companys services

to increase subscriptions and subscriber content consumption and grow average revenue per user

ARPU and reduce subscriber turnover The Company also sells its MyCaller ringback platform as

bundled product and service offering including installation maintenance and support professional

services and training which the Company refers to as cap-ex arrangement The Company sells its

services and products primarily through its direct sales force as well as through channel partners

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned

subsidiaries Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation All

amounts disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements relating to the consolidated

statements of operations are presented on continuing operations basis

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the

reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities On an on-going basis management evaluates estimates related to the allowance

for doubtful accounts and sales returns write-down of excess and obsolete inventories to the lower of

cost or market value the realizability of goodwill and other long-lived assets income taxes

restructuring and other related charges and accounting for acquisitions and dispositions Management

establishes these estimates based on historical experience and various assumptions that are believed to

be reasonable under the circumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments about

the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual

results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Companys subsidiaries operating outside the United States which

operate in functional currency other than U.S Dollars are translated into U.S Dollars using

year-end exchange rates Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates effective

during the year Foreign currency translation gains and losses are included as component of

accumulated other comprehensive income loss within stockholders equity Gains and losses resulting

from foreign currency transactions are included in other income expense net The foreign currency

translation gain or loss generated by the re-measurement of our long term intercompany debt at each

reporting period is recorded as component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss within

stockholders equity since the Company expects those loans to be permanently reinvested
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Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue from two sources services including managed services

maintenance and support services professional services and ii sales of products including hardware

and software licenses Managed services consist of supplying outsourcing and/or maintaining systems

for the benefit of customers These systems may be Company-owned pursuant to managed services

arrangement or customer-owned Maintenance and support services consist of on-site support

telephone and on-line support and training Professional services projects may consist of multiple

elements including hardware and/or software installation configuration integration and customization

services provided to customers The Company sells its services and products through its direct sales

force and through channel partners For products that are not software or software related we

recognize revenue pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Staff Accounting

Bulletin SAB No 104 Revenue Recognition When the software is more than incidental and is

essential to the functionality of the hardware the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the

provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants AICPA Statement of Position

SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition SOP 97-2 and related interpretations The Company

recognizes revenue from the sale of products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

delivery has occurred the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable For all

sales the Company uses binding contract and/or purchase order as evidence of an arrangement

with the customer or channel partner Sales to the Companys channel partners are evidenced by

master agreement governing the relationship together with binding purchase orders for individual

transactions The Company considers delivery to occur when it ships the product so long as title and

risk of loss have passed to the customer At the time of transaction the Company assesses whether

the sale amount is fixed or determinable based upon the terms of the documented agreement If the

Company determines the fee is not fixed or determinable the Company recognizes revenue when the

fee is fixed The Company assesses if collection is probable based on number of factors including

past
transaction history and the creditworthiness of the customer If the Company determines that

collection is not probable the Company does not record revenue until such time as collection becomes

probable which is generally upon the receipt of cash or when payments become due

For arrangements with customers that include acceptance provisions the Company recognizes

revenue upon the customers acceptance of the product which occurs upon the earlier of receipt of

written customer acceptance or expiration of the contractual acceptance period In some circumstances

the Company recognizes revenue on arrangements that contain certain acceptance provisions when it

has historical experience that the acceptance provision is perfunctory

When an arrangement involves multiple elements such as hardware and software products that are

more than incidental maintenance and/or professional services the Company allocates the entire sale

price to each respective element based on vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value

for each undelivered element When arrangements contain multiple elements and VSOE of fair value

only exists for all undelivered elements the Company recognizes revenue for the delivered elements

using the residual method in accordance with the provisions of the AICPA SOP 98-9 Modification of

SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions SOP 98-9 The

residual method requires that the portion of the total arrangement fee attributable to undelivered

elements as indicated by VSOE of fair value be deferred and subsequently recognized when delivered

The Company establishes VSOE of fair value for undelivered elements based on either substantial

renewal rates of maintenance and support agreements the price the Company charges when the same

element is sold separately or the price established by management who have the relevant authority to

set prices for an element not yet sold separately For arrangements containing multiple elements where

VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements the Company defers revenue for the

delivered and undelivered elements until VSOE of fair value exists for all undelivered elements or all

elements have been delivered
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In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 48 Revenue

Recognition when Right of Return Exists SFAS 48 for the NMS Communications Platforms business

the Company recognized revenue upon shipment of products to its stocking distributors net of

estimated returns The Company offered quarterly return rights to limited number of channel

partners that allow the channel partner to exchange percentage of its inventory based on its prior

purchases The Company provided for these return rights each quarter
in an amount equal to estimated

returns

When selling to resellers and distributors of the NMS Communications Platforms business the

Company defers revenue until collection was deemed probable When revenue was deferred if reliable

reporting from the reseller or distributor existed the Company recognized revenue when the reseller or

distributor sold the product to an end-user sell-through Where reliable reporting didnt exist

revenue was recognized upon the Companys receipt of payment or in limited circumstances upon

receipt of letter of credit or similar arrangement

Services revenue is primarily comprised of managed services professional services and

maintenance and support services The Company provides managed services under long term

arrangements typically two to three years The arrangements may contain provisions requiring

customer acceptance of the set-up activities including installation and implementation activities prior

to the commencement of the ongoing services arrangement The Company recognizes revenue as the

subscription services or download transactions are performed or as and when reported by customer if

its reporting is used The Company recognizes revenue from professional
services as the services are

performed Maintenance and support services which are typically sold separately from products consist

of on-site support bug-fixes telephone and on-line support and training The Company defers

maintenance and support services revenue whether sold separately or as part of multiple element

arrangement and recognizes it ratably over the term of the maintenance contract generally twelve

months

When there are shipping and handling fees the Company invoices customers for such fees The

Company recognizes the invoiced amounts as revenue and the related costs as cost of revenue

Capitalization of Managed Services Costs

The Company may capitalize certain costs associated with the set-up activities of managed

services arrangement These costs represent
incremental external costs or internal costs that are directly

related to the set-up enhancement or expansion of certain managed services offerings The types of

costs that are capitalized may include labor and related fringe benefits subcontractor costs consulting

costs travel costs inventory costs and third
party product costs The Company begins to capitalize costs

in the period when there is existence of an arrangement Managed services arrangements may also

require the procurement of equipment development of internally developed software and consulting

services related to system enhancements and expansions These related costs are also capitalized The

Company amortizes these capitalized costs upon acceptance or commercial launch of the initial set-up

enhancement or expansion over the expected relationship period or the expected economic useful life

as appropriate using the straight-line method Expenses incurred to maintain and sustain the service

delivery after the initial setup enhancement or expansion of managed service arrangement are

expensed as incurred The Company evaluates the lives and realizability of the capitalized costs on

periodic basis or when events or circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be

recoverable

In the event indications exist that capitalized managed service cost balances may be impaired

undiscounted estimated cash flows of the contract or series of contracts are projected over the

remaining term and compared to the unamortized managed services cost balance If the projected cash

flows are not adequate to recover the unamortized cost balance the balance would be adjusted to
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equal the fair value in the period such determination is made The primary indicator used to determine

when impairment testing should be performed is when material contract is materially

underperforming or is expected to materially underperform in the future as compared to the financial

model that was developed as part of the original proposal process and subsequent annual budgets or in

the event of non-renewal or loss of major managed service customer

In accordance with SFAS 144 the Company evaluated the carrying value of these long-lived assets

in December 2008 when it was deemed triggering event occurred in its impairment test of goodwill

SFAS 144 first requires an assessment of whether circumstances currently exist which suggest the

carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable At December 31 2008 the Company
believed such conditions existed related to specific long-lived assets that it believed had no third party

liquidation value including managed service assets The Company assessed the recoverability of the

carrying value of its long-lived assets based on estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from

such assets In assessing the recoverability of these assets the Company projected estimated enterprise-

level flows based on expected future revenues The Company performed discounted cash flow analysis

using risk-adjusted discount rate of 30% based on its projected losses early operating stage and

broader market risks in the current economic environment Given the fair value of the Companys

enterprise value as compared to the fair value of its tangible assets to its enterprise value the Company
determined that the intangible assets have no fair value and were fully impaired as of December 31
2008 As result the Company recorded an impairment charge of $2.0 million including $1.1 million

of managed service assets $0.8 million of property plant and equipment and $0.1 million of other

long-lived assets

Capitalization of Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development costs incurred after products technological

feasibility has been established and before it is available for general release to customers Amortization

of capitalized software costs is computed on an individual product basis and is the greater of the

ratio that current gross revenues for product bear to the total of current and anticipated future gross

revenues of that product or the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the

product Costs qualifying for capitalization have been immaterial for all periods presented and

accordingly have not been capitalized

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term liquid investments with remaining maturities of three months

or less at date of purchase

Accounts Receivable

The Companys accounts receivable balances are comprised of trade receivables The Company has

recorded receivables associated with product and services that have been delivered but not yet

accepted

The Company establishes allowances against doubtful accounts for potential credit losses when it

determines receivables are at risk for collection based upon the length of time the receivables are

outstanding as well as various other criteria Receivables are written off against these allowances in the

period they are determined to be uncollectible

The Company does not require collateral on accounts receivable or letters of credit on all foreign

export sales The Company evaluates its customers creditworthiness before extending credit and

performs periodic credit reviews on existing customers
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Receivables Purchase Agreement

On December 2008 subsequent to the consummation of the Asset Sale the Company entered

into Receivables Purchase Agreement with Dialogic to purchase $4.0 million of certain billed

accounts receivable owned by Dialogic for $3.8 million in cash In accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 140 Accounting for Financial Assets and Extinguishments

of Liabilities SFAS 140 the arrangement was accounted for as sale of financial assets SFAS 140

states the transferee shall recognize all assets obtained and any liabilities incurred at fair value

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 157 Fair Value

Measurements SFAS 157 upon execution of the agreement the Company recorded the purchase of

receivables at the fair value equal to the purchase price of $3.8 million The Company expects these

receivables to be collected by June 30 2009

Investments

The Company classifies all of its investments in marketable securities as available-for-sale

securities These securities are stated at market value with unrealized gains and losses reflected in

other comprehensive income loss in stockholders equity The amortized cost of debt securities is

adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity Such amortization and

accretion are included in interest income Realized gains and losses and other-than-temporary

impairment on marketable securities are included in earnings and are derived using the specific

identification method for determining the cost of securities The Company periodically evaluates the

carrying value of its investments for other-than-temporary impairment During the year ended

December 31 2008 the Company recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of $1.9 million related

to Verso common stock As of December 31 2008 the Company had no investments

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed in the period when incurred and were immaterial for each of the

years presented

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-out method or market Inventories consist

of raw materials work in process finished goods and inventory at customer sites Inventory at customer

sites represents inventory associated with product that has not yet been accepted by the customer

Write-downs of inventory to lower of cost or market value are based primarily on the estimated

forecast of product demand and production requirements over the next twelve months

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost Depreciation is based on the following estimated

useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method

Machinery and equipment years

Computer software and equipment 3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures years

Telecommunications computer equipment years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or economic life

Expenditures for additions renewals and betterments of property and equipment are capitalized

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred As assets are retired or
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sold the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting

gain or loss is included in the results of operations

Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS 144 the Company performed an assessment as of December 31 2008

and determined that triggering event had occurred The continued marked decline of the Companys

common stock during the fourth quarter of 2008 75% decline during the fourth quarter
of 2008

along with an anticipated impairment of goodwill were indicators that the carrying value of our long-

lived assets might not be recoverable The Company performed its assessment at the asset group level

which represented the lowest level of cash flows that are largely independent of cash flows of other

assets and liabilities For LiveWire Mobile Inc this asset grouping is at the reporting unit level and

consists of acquired technology and customer relationships which were recorded as result of the

acquisitions of Groove Mobile and Openera property
and equipment managed service assets and

long term deposits on leased space When performing this test at the reporting unit level goodwill is

included in the carrying value of the asset group The Company assessed the recoverability of the

carrying value of our long-lived assets based on estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated

from such assets The carrying value of the reporting unit including goodwill prior to the goodwill

impairment charge described below was greater than the undiscounted cash flows indicating an

impairment The Company performed step two of the impairment test and determined there was full

impairment of our intangible assets and partial impairment of the property and equipment and

deposits reducing those assets to their fair value The fair value was determined based on the price

that willing buyer would pay in an orderly liquidation of those assets As result we recorded an

impairment charge of $9.6 million related to the intangible assets and $2.0 million related to other

long-lived assets including managed service assets of $1.1 million property and equipment of

$0.8 million and other long-lived assets of $0.1 million The Company also reassessed the depreciation

method and remaining depreciation period for the property and equipment and determined that no

changes to the depreciation period or method were necessary

The Company also reviews any legal and contractual obligations associated with the retirement of

its long-lived assets and records assets and liabilities as necessary related to the cost of such

obligations Costs associated with such obligations that are reasonably estimable and probable are

accrued and expensed or capitalized as appropriate The asset recorded shall be recorded during the

period in which it occurs and shall be amortized over the useful life of the related long-lived tangible

asset The liability recorded is relieved when the costs are incurred to retire the related long-lived

tangible asset

Goodwill

The Company performed its annual impairment assessment of goodwill at December 31 2008 The

Companys assessment for impairment was conducted in accordance with FAS 142 which required us to

determine the fair value of the Company as whole since it is considered the reporting unit to which

all goodwill is allocated The Company estimated the fair value of the reporting unit utilizing industry

accepted valuation techniques that included the
present

value of estimated future cash flows using

risk-adjusted discount rate and market multiple approach which considered the Companys market

capitalization adjusted for control premium These valuation techniques require significant judgments

by management including estimates and assumptions about the Companys projected future operating

results discount rates and long-term growth rates The Companys forecasts of future revenue were

based on expected future growth from new as well as existing customers and historical trends In

addition the Company considered the expected gross margins attainable in the future and the required

level of operating expenses needed to conduct our business
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Step one of the impairment assessment resulted in the carrying value of the reporting unit

exceeding the fair value In step two of the impairment analysis the Company compared the implied

fair value of goodwill to its carrying value The implied fair value of goodwill was determined to be

zero Consequently the Company determined that goodwill was fully impaired resulting in an

impairment charge of $11.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008

Discontinued Operations

On December 2008 the Company sold its NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic

On December 21 2007 the Company sold its NI Business to Verso In accordance with SFAS No 144

Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets SFAS 144 the operating results of

the NMS Communication Platforms business and the NI Business have been reclassified as

discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations and related disclosures in the

notes to the consolidated financial statements for all historical reporting periods

The NMS Communications Platforms business had revenues of $48.3 million $69.2 million and

$87.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Income from the

discontinued operations was $5.9 million net of income tax provision of $0.6 million $18.9 million

net of income tax provision of $0.1 million and $28.4 million net of income tax provision of

$0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively For the
year

ended

December 31 2008 we recorded gain on the sale of the transaction of $16.3 million net of income

tax provision of zero

In the fourth quarter of 2007 the Company sold its NI Business and certain assets and liabilities of

the NI Business to Verso and recognized $1.6 million gain net of income tax expense of $6000 for

the year ended December 31 2007 The NI Business had revenues of $5.4 million and $3.6 million for

the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively Loss from the discontinued operations was

$0.4 million net tax effect of zero $2.4 million net of income tax benefit of $0.1 million and

$7.7 million net of income tax benefit of $0.1 million for the
years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries personnel expenses and prototype

fees related to the design development testing and enhancement of the Companys services and

products All research and development costs are expensed as incurred

Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments include cash marketable securities accounts receivable

purchased receivables debt and accounts payable The fair value of marketable securities accounts

receivable purchased receivables and accounts payable are equal to their carrying value at

December 31 2008 and 2007 Debt is recorded at its face value The fair value of the revolving line of

credit borrowings at December 31 2008 was $2.6 million

Restructuring and Other Related Charges and Accrued Restructuring

The Company continually evaluates its staffing levels to meet its business objectives and its

strategies to reduce its cost of operations Severance costs are reviewed periodically to determine

whether severance charge is required to be recorded in accordance with SFAS No 112 Employers

Accounting for Post-employment Benefits SFAS 112 The provisions of SFAS 112 require the

Company to accrue post-employment benefits if certain specified criteria are met Post-employment

benefits include salary continuation severance benefits and continuation of benefits such as health and

life insurance
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From time to time the Company will announce reorganization plans that may include eliminating

positions within the Company Each plan is reviewed to determine whether restructuring charge is

required to be recorded in accordance with SFAS No 146 Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or

Disposal Activities SFAS 146 The provisions of SFAS 146 require the Company to record an

estimate of the fair value of any termination costs based on certain facts circumstances and

assumptions including specific provisions included in the underlying reorganization plan Also from

time to time the Company may cease to use certain facilities prior to expiration of the underlying lease

agreements Exit costs are reviewed in each of these circumstances on case-by-case basis to determine

whether restructuring charge is required to be recorded in accordance with SFAS 146 The provisions

of SFAS 146 require the Company to record an estimate of the fair value of the exit costs based on

certain facts circumstances and assumptions including remaining minimum lease payments potential

sublease income and specific provisions included in the underlying lease agreements

Subsequent to recording such accrued liabilities changes in market or other conditions may result

in changes to assumptions upon which the original liabilities were recorded that could result in an

adjustment to the liabilities and depending on the circumstances such adjustment could be material

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed based on pre-tax income included in the consolidated

statements of operations The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected

future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements Under this

method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial

statement carrying amounts and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for

the year
in which the differences are expected to reverse

The Company determines its effective tax rate by dividing its income tax expense by its income

before taxes as reported in its consolidated statement of operations For reporting periods prior to the

end of the Companys fiscal year the Company records income tax expense based upon an estimated

annual effective tax rate This rate is computed using the statutory tax rate and an estimate of annual

net income adjusted for an estimate of non-deductible expenses

On January 2007 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan Interpretation of FASB Statement

109 FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an

enterprises financial statements in accordance with FASB SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes

SFAS 109 FIN 48 prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the financial

statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken in or expected to be taken in tax

return This interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition classification interest and

penalties accounting in interim periods and disclosure and transition The Company had no

adjustments to retained earnings as result of the implementation of FIN 48 The Company has

established valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets in certain jurisdictions including the

United States because the Company believes that it is more likely than not that the tax assets in those

jurisdictions will not be realized prior to their expiration The Company will continue to assess the

valuation allowance and to the extent it is determined that such allowance is no longer required the tax

benefit of the remaining net deferred tax assets would be recognized in the future As of December 31

2008 and December 31 2007 the Company had accrued $1.0 million and $0.6 million for uncertain tax

positions respectively all of which will impact the Companys effective tax rate when recognized It is

reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease in the

next twelve months Such changes would occur based on the results of ongoing tax audits in various

jurisdictions around the world As of the filing date of this annual report on Form 10-K an estimate of

the range of reasonably possible outcomes cannot be made Estimated interest and penalty charges

related to unrecognized tax benefits are classified as income tax expense in the accompanying
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consolidated statements of operations At December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 the Company

had $0.1 million and $0.1 million respectively of accrued interest expense related to uncertain tax

positions which is recorded as component of tax expense For the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 the Company recorded $44000 $41000 and $29000 respectively of interest expense

and penalties

The evaluation of tax position in accordance with FIN 48 is two-step process The first
step

is

recognition The enterprise determines whether it is more likely than not that tax position
will be

sustained upon examination including resolution of any litigation The second step is measurement

tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the

amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements The tax position is measured at the largest

amount of benefit that is greater
than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate resolution

The Company reached settlement with the French Authorities regarding the audit for the years

2003-2004 The settlement of $0.2 million was finalized and paid in January 2008 This amount was

accrued for as of December 31 2007 As part
of the settlement the Company agreed to adjust its gross

net operating loss carryforwards and related valuation allowances from $6.3 million to $1.6 million as of

December 31 2006 These gross net operating loss carryforwards had full valuation allowance against

them at December 31 2007 Based upon the settlement there was no material impact to net income

accumulated deficit or net deferred taxes in any historical periods

Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans

Effective January 2006 the Company implemented the provisions
of SFAS No 123 revised

2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R and related interpretations See Note of Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements SFAS 123R requires that all share-based payments to employees

including grants
of stock options be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair value

The Company selected the modified prospective transition method for implementing SFAS 123R and

began recognizing compensation expense for stock-based awards granted on or after January 2006

plus any unvested awards granted prior to January 2006 Under this transition method prior periods

have not been restated Stock-based compensation expense for awards granted on or after January

2006 is based on the
grant

date fair value calculated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R

Stock-based compensation related to any unvested awards granted prior to January 2006 is based on

the grant date fair value calculated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No 123

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation The fair value of the Companys stock-based awards less

estimated forfeitures is amortized over the awards vesting periods on straight-line basis

The fair value of each option award on the grant
date was estimated using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model with the following assumptions expected dividend yield expected stock price

volatility weighted average risk-free interest rate and weighted average expected life of the options

Under SFAS 123R the Companys expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model was based exclusively on historical volatility and the expected life assumption was

established based upon an analysis of historical option exercise behavior The risk-free interest rate

used in the Black-Scholes model was based on the implied yield currently available on U.S Treasury

zero-coupon issues with remaining term approximately equal to the Companys expected term

assumption The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on the Common Stock and

has no current plans to pay cash dividends on the Common Stock The payment of any future cash

dividends will be determined by the Companys board of directors in light of conditions then existing

including the Companys earnings financial condition and capital requirements restrictions in financing

agreements business conditions tax laws certain corporate law requirements and various other factors

The choice of valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying

assumptions for that technique involve significant judgments These judgments reflect managements

assessment of the most accurate method of valuing the stock options the Company issues based on
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historical experience knowledge of current conditions and beliefs of what could occur in the future

given available information The Companys judgments could change over time as additional

information becomes available or the facts underlying the assumptions change over time Any change

in judgments could have material impact on the Companys financial statements The Company
believes that these estimates incorporate all relevant information and represent reasonable

approximation in light of the difficulties involved in valuing non-traded stock options

Stock Option Acceleration

As result of the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business the Company accelerated

options to purchase 747966 shares of its common stock The acceleration occurred as result of

certain employees having change of control clause in their stock option or related agreements

Accordingly the unvested portion of the related stock option grants was accelerated and the Company

recognized expenses totaling $0.6 million during the year ended December 31 2008

Stock Option Modification

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company canceled 300000 shares of restricted

stock that was granted to an executive of the Company in 2007 in exchange for bonus payout

contingent upon change in control of the Company Pursuant to FAS 123R the Company considers

modification of the terms or conditions of an existing equity award as an exchange of the original

award for new award The Company determined that the original equity based award was modified to

liability-based award due to the nature of the bonus arrangement Accordingly upon change of

control of the Company in December 2008 in connection with the sale of the NMS Communications

Platforms business to Dialogic the Company recorded stock compensation liability in the amount of

$0.4 million and expensed the amount of unrecognized compensation expense to date The difference

between the original fair value of the restricted stock award and the actual amount paid was recognized

as stock compensation expense The Company paid the stock compensation liability of $0.4 million in

December 2008

Basic and Diluted Net Earnings Loss Per Common Share

Basic net earnings loss per common share are computed by dividing net income loss by the

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period Diluted net earnings loss

per common share is computed by dividing the net income loss by the sum of the weighted-average

number of common shares outstanding plus all additional common shares that would have been

outstanding if potentially dilutive common stock equivalents had been issued Outstanding treasury

stock is excluded from the computations of basic and diluted net earnings loss per share

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 SFAS 157

defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures

regarding fair value measurements SFAS 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that

require or permit fair value measurements the FASB having previously concluded in those accounting

pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute Accordingly SFAS 157 does not

require any new fair value measurements SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 However in February 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2 Effective Date of

FASB Statement No 157 FSP FAS 157-2 which delays the effective date of SEAS 157 for all

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair

value in the financial statements on recurring basis at least annually FSP FAS 157-2 partially defers

the effective date of SEAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 and interim periods

within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2 Effective January 2008 the
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Company adopted SFAS 157 except as it applies to those nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities

as noted in FSP FAS 157-2 see Note 19 Fair Value Measurements to the consolidated financial

statements for additional information The adoption of SFAS 157 had no material impact on our

financial statements upon adoption The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of

adoption of FSP FAS 157-2 and has not yet determined the impact if any that its adoption will have

on the Companys results of operations or financial condition

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities including an amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS 159 SFAS 159

permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value

that are not currently required to be measured at fair value Unrealized gains and losses on items for

which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings SFAS 159 does not affect any

existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value

SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The adoption of SFAS 159

effective January 2008 did not have material impact on the Companys financial position results of

operations or cash flows as we elected not to apply SFAS 159 to any assets or liabilities

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations

SFAS 141R and SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an

amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 SFAS 160 SFAS 141R will change how business

acquisitions are accounted for and will impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in

subsequent periods SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests which

will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as component of equity The

provisions
of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after

December 15 2008 The Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 141R and SFAS 160

will have on the Companys results of operations or financial condition

In March 2008 the FASB issued FASB Statement No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments

and Hedging Activities SFAS 161 SFAS 161 requires expanded disclosures regarding the location

and amounts of derivative instruments in an entitys financial statements how derivative instruments

and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial

position operating results and cash flows SFAS 161 is effective on January 2009 Since SFAS 161

affects only disclosures it will not impact the Companys financial position or results of operations

upon adoption

In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful

Life of Intangible Assets FSP 142-3 FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for the

fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years which

means the Company will adopt FSP 142-3 in its fiscal year 2009 FSP 142-3 amends the factors that

should be considered in developing renewal of extension assumptions used to determine the useful life

of recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

SFAS 142 FSP 142-3 is intended to improve the consistency between the useful life of an

intangible asset under SFAS 141R and other U.S GAAP The Company is currently evaluating the

impact if any of the adoption of FSP 142-3 on its financial position results of operations or cash

flows

2Stock-Based Compensation

The following table presents
stock-based compensation expense inclusive of expense associated

with discontinued operations by the type of award and the effect of recording stock-based

71



compensation expense in the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 under SFAS 123R

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award

Stock options

Restricted stock and options

Employee stock purchase plan

Total stock-based compensation expense

Effect of stock-based compensation on income by line item

Cost of revenues

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Restructuring

Transaction costs

Discontinued operations

Total stock-based compensation expense

The Company estimates the fair value of each equity award i.e stock options restricted stock and

options and stock related to the employee stock purchase plan using the Black-Scholes pricing model

This valuation model uses the exercise price of the award and the following significant assumptions the

expected term of the award the expected volatility of the Companys common stock over the expected

term the risk-free interest rate over the expected term and the Companys expected annual dividend

yield The Company believes that the valuation method and the approach utilized to develop the

underlying assumptions are appropriate in calculating the fair values of the Companys equity awards

on respective grant dates during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 Estimates of fair

value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by persons who

receive equity awards

Assumptions used to determine the fair value of stock options granted during the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 using Black-Scholes valuation model were

In thousands except per share data

Expected term1
Expected common stock price volatility2

Risk-free interest rate3

Expected annual dividend yield

The expected term of options granted during the
years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 were

determined based on our historical stock option exercise experience The expected term for

options granted during the year ended December 31 2006 was estimated based on the midpoint

between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term known as the simplified method

as described by SAB No 107

The expected common stock price volatility for each grant is estimated based on an average of

historical daily price changes of the Companys common stock over the periods that match the

expected term of the stock option

$1682 $2063 $2144

2420 3031 2548

15 34 102

$4117 $5128 $4794

79 150

2786 4261

97 103

236

98

4171

104

421

$4794

44

875

$4117

614

$5128

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

3.1 to 5.0 years 3.3 to 4.2 years 3.3 to 3.5 years

61 to 97% 61 to 71% 69 to 73%

1.4 to 3.2% 2.4 to 5.0% 4.4 to 5.2%
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The risk-free interest rate for each grant is based on the interest rates of zero coupon U.S

Treasury Notes in effect at the time of grant for period approximately equal to the expected term

of the stock option

Stock-based compensation expense related to the Purchase Plan as defined below was

determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The compensation expense is recorded over the

period in which the awards are earned During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the

Company recorded stock-based compensation expense based on actual shares less forfeiture rate and

an estimate of actual shares to be issued under the Companys Employee Stock Purchase Plan in the

second fiscal quarter of 2008 and 2007 respectively

Stock Option Acceleration

As result of the sale of the Communications Platforms business the Company accelerated

options to purchase 747966 shares of its common stock The acceleration occurred as result of

certain employees having change of control clause in their stock option or related agreements

Accordingly the unvested portion of the related stock option grants was accelerated and the Company

recognized expenses totaling $0.6 million during the year ended December 31 2008

Stock Option Modification

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company canceled 300000 shares of restricted

stock that were granted to an executive of the Company in 2007 in exchange for bonus payout

contingent upon change in control of the Company Pursuant to FAS 123R the Company considers

modification of the terms or conditions of an equity award as an exchange of the original award for

new award The Company determined that the original equity based award was modified to liability-

based award due to the nature of the bonus arrangement Accordingly upon change of control of the

Company in December 2008 the Company recorded stock compensation liability in the amount of

$0.4 million and expensed the amount of unrecognized compensation expense to date The difference

between the original fair value of the restricted stock award and the actual amount paid was recognized

stock compensation expense The Company paid the stock compensation liability of $0.4 million to the

executive in December 2008

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company has stock option and stock purchase plans authorizing various types of stock option

awards that may be granted to officers directors and employees The following is summary of all of

the plans of the Company

1993 Stock Option Plan

In October 1993 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Stock Option Plan the

1993 Plan The 1993 Plan permits both incentive and non-statutory options to be granted to

employees directors and consultants Options granted under the 1993 Plan generally vest over four

years The terms of options granted under the 1993 Plan do not exceed ten years In March 1998 the

Board of Directors adopted and in April 1998 the Companys stockholders approved an increase in

the number of shares available under the 1993 Plan from 3000000 to 3800000 and ii requirement

that the exercise price of options granted under the 1993 Plan be at least equal to the fair market value

of the Companys common stock on the date of grant In March 2000 the Board of Directors

superseded the 1993 Plan with the Companys 2000 Equity Incentive Plan the 2000 Plan and no

further grants under the 1993 Plan will be made Options granted previously under the 1993 Plan will

continue to be governed by the terms of the 1993 Plan As of December 31 2008 there were 254000

options outstanding under the 1993 Plan The outstanding options under the 1993 Plan were fully

vested as of December 31 2008 As of December 31 2008 254000 shares of common stock have been

reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 1993 Plan
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1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan

In October 1993 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Non-Employee Directors

Stock Option Plan the Directors Plan which provides for the purchase of up to 240000 shares of

common stock pursuant to the grant of non-statutory stock options to directors who are not employees

of the Company Options granted under the Directors Plan generally vest over four years The terms of

options granted under the Directors Plan do not exceed ten years In March 1996 the Board of

Directors adopted and in May 1996 the Companys stockholders approved an increase in the

number of shares for which options shall be granted to newly elected non-employee directors from

20000 to 30000 and ii an increase in the number of shares for which options shall be granted

annually to incumbent non-employee directors from 4000 to 10000 In March 1999 the Board of

Directors adopted and in April 1999 the Companys stockholders approved an increase in the number

of shares available under the Directors Plan from 240000 to 480000 shares The exercise price of the

options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the

date of the grant In March 2000 the Board of Directors superseded the Directors Plan with the 2000

Equity Incentive Plan and no further grants under the Directors Plan will be made As of

December 31 2008 there were 10000 options outstanding under the Directors Plan The outstanding

options under the Directors Plan were fully vested as of December 31 2008 Options granted

previously under the Directors Plan will continue to be governed by the terms of the Directors Plan As

of December 31 2008 10000 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance upon the

exercise of stock options under the Directors Plan

1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan

In October 1995 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option

Plan the 1995 Plan The 1995 Plan expired in October 2005 The exercise price of options

outstanding under the 1995 Plan is not less than 100% of the fair market value of the Companys
common stock on the date of grant Options outstanding under the 1995 Plan generally vest over two

years The terms of options granted under the 1995 Plan do not exceed ten years As of December 31

2008 there were 387548 options outstanding under the 1995 Plan As of December 31 2008 there

were 387548 options vested under the 1995 Plan As of December 31 2008 387548 shares of common
stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 1995 Plan

2000 Equity Incentive Plan

In March 2000 the Companys Board of Directors adopted and in April 2000 the Companys
stockholders approved the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan the 2000 Plan The 2000 Plan provides for

the grant of incentive stock options and stock appreciation rights to employees and non-statutory stock

options stock bonuses rights to purchase restricted stock and other awards based on the Companys
common stock collectively Stock Awards to employees non-employee directors and consultants

On April 28 2005 the Companys stockholders approved amendments to the 2000 Plan to increase

the number of shares which may be issued under the 2000 Plan by 2050000 shares ii eliminate the

Companys ability to grant non-statutory stock options at an exercise price less than fair market value

of the Companys common stock on the date of grant and iii amend certain other terms and

conditions of the 2000 Plan The aggregate number of shares which may be issued under the 2000 Plan

as amended is 7050000 plus any shares of the Companys common stock covered by options granted

under the 1993 Plan and the Directors Plan both of which are superseded by the 2000 Plan which are

forfeited expire or are canceled The exercise price of options granted pursuant to the 2000 Plan may
not be less than the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the date of grant Options

granted under the 2000 Plan generally vest over two years except that options granted to new hires

generally vest over three years The terms of options granted under the 2000 Plan do not exceed ten

years The terms of options granted during 2007 do not exceed years As of December 31 2008 there
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were 7317315 options outstanding under the 2000 Plan As of December 31 2008 there were

5019215 options vested under the 2000 Plan As of December 31 2008 7738057 shares of common

stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 2000 Plan

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2003 the Board of Directors adopted and in April 2003 the Companys stockholders

approved the 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the Purchase Plan The Purchase Plan permits

employees and officers of the Company to participate in periodic plan offerings in which payroll

deductions may be used to purchase shares of common stock The purchase price is 85% of the lower

of the fair market value at the date the offering commences or terminates In May 2006 the Board of

Directors adopted the Indian Supplement to the Purchase Plan As result the Company allocated

150000 shares from the Purchase Plan to be used for the Indian Supplement The Company has

reserved total of 750000 shares for the Purchase Plan The Company issued 50428 shares under the

Purchase Plan during the year
ended December 31 2008 As of December 31 2008 96913 shares of

common stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the Purchase

Plan This plan was cancelled in the fourth quarter of 2008

2005 Openera Plan

In connection with the acquisition of Openera Technologies Inc Openera on February 24

2006 the Company assumed the Openera 2005 Equity Incentive Plan the Openera Plan The

Openera Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to employees and non-statutory stock

options to employees non-employee directors and advisors and consultants total of 762065 shares

may be issued under the Openera Plan The exercise price of incentive stock options granted pursuant

to the Openera Plan may not be less than the fair market value of the companys common stock on the

date of grant Options granted under the Openera Plan generally vest over two years except that

options granted to new hires generally vest over three years The terms of options granted under the

Openera Plan do not exceed ten years The terms of options granted during 2008 do not exceed five

years As of December 31 2008 there were 209993 options outstanding under the Openera Plan As

of December 31 2008 there were 209993 options vested under the Openera Plan As of December 31

2008 331266 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock

options
under the Openera Plan

2006 India Stock Option Plan

In May 2006 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 2006 India Stock Option Plan the

2006 India Plan The 2006 India Plan provides for the grant of non-statutory stock options to

purchase shares of the Companys common stock to India residents non-executive office employees of

and consultants to the Company or any of its subsidiaries total of 600000 options may be issued

under the 2006 India Plan Options granted under the 2006 India Plan generally vest over two years

except that options granted to new hires generally vest over three years The terms of options granted

under the 2006 India Plan do not exceed five years As of December 31 2008 there were

37693 options outstanding under the 2006 India Plan As of December 31 2008 there were

37693 options
vested under the 2006 India Plan As of December 31 2008 40000 shares of common

stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 2006 India Plan

As of December 31 2008 total of 8857784 shares of common stock have been reserved for

issuance upon the exercise of stock options As of December 31 2008 total of 544322 shares of

common stock have been reserved for grants of stock options under the Companys stock option plans

and total of 96913 shares of common stock have been reserved for grants of stock options under the

Purchase Plan
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The following table summarizes the Companys stock option activity for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 The intrinsic value of stock option is the amount by which the

market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option

Weighted

Weighted Weighted Average

Average Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Grant Date Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Fair Value Term Value

In years In thousands

Balance at January 2006 7679308 $4.90

Granted 3467476 2.55 $1.43

Exercised 808922 1.64 $1745

Forfeited and cancelled 2276295 5.44

Balance at December 31 2006 8061567 $4.06

Exercisable and vested at December 31 2006 4642062 $5.07 475

Balance at January 2007 8061567 $4.06

Granted 2332812 1.39 $0.93

Exercised 114605 0.42 148

Forfeited and cancelled 2021953 4.98

Balance at December 31 2007 8257821 $3.13

Exercisable and vested at December 31 2007 5031394 $4.11 241

Balance at January 2008 8257821 $3.13

Granted 2656900 0.88 $0.34

Exercised 248367 0.86 129

Forfeited and cancelled 2449805 3.38

Balance at December 31 2008 8216549 $2.40

Exercisable and vested at December 31 2008 5918449 $3.02 2.3

Options expected to vest at December 31 2008 2298100 $0.80 4.6

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company granted options to

purchase 2656900 2032812 and 3098301 shares respectively of its common stock with exercise

prices equal to the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the grant date

In connection with the acquisition of Openera in 2006 the Company issued 369175 options with

exercise prices less than fair market value of the Companys common stock on the grant date the

Openera Options The Openera Options vest 40% at the time of acquisition and 20% at the 12 24

and 30 month intervals of the acquisition date February 24 2006 Openera Options to purchase

147670 shares were vested at the acquisition date The exercise prices of such options ranged from

$0.01 to $0.03 per option

At December 31 2008 unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options

net of estimated forfeitures was $0.6 million which is expected to be recognized over weighted

average period of 0.9 years
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The following table summarizes the activity associated with the unvested restricted shares of

common stock for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Restricted Weighted Average Restricted Weighted Average Restricted Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Non-vested restricted shares at

beginning of period 1480922 $3.48 2384299 $3.48

Issued in connection with the

acquisition of Openera 2386511 3.48

Vested 1480922 3.48 795504 3.48

Repurchased 107873 3.48

Forfeited 2212 3.48

Non-vested restricted shares at

end of period $3.48 1480922 $3.48 2384299 $3.48

The weighted-average grant-date fair value was equal to the weighted average exercise prices in

the disclosed amounts in the table above The fair values of restricted shares vested during the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 were $5.2 million and $2.8 million respectively There was no

vesting of the restricted shares presented in the table above during the year ended December 31 2006

At December 31 2008 there were no non-vested restricted shares and no unrecognized

compensation expense relating to non-vested restricted shares

3Income Loss per Common Share

The following table provides the computations of basic and diluted income loss from continuing

operations per common share and net income loss per common share

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands except per share data

Numerator

Loss from continuing operations $59936 $27473 $36523
Income from discontinued operations net of income tax expense of

$634 $61 and $147 respectively 5506 16532 20772

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations net income tax expense

of $0 and $6 16280 1631

Net loss $38150 9310 $15751

Denominator

Shares used in net income loss from continuing operations per

common sharebasic and diluted 45395 43953 48467

Net income loss per common sharebasic and diluted

Continuing operations 1.32 0.63 0.75

Discontinued operations 0.48 0.42 0.42

Net loss per common sharebasic and diluted 0.84 0.21 0.33

All of the Companys outstanding options and unvested restricted stock were anti-dilutive for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 due to the net loss position of the Company
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4Acquisitions

Groove Mobile

On March 17 2008 the Companys wholly-owned subsidiary LiveWire Mobile Inc later renamed

LWM Corporation acquired Groove Mobile Inc Delaware corporation Groove Mobile whose

operations were based in Bedford Massachusetts for total purchase price of $15.9 million including

total transaction costs and facility exit costs of approximately $1.4 million Groove Mobile was leading

provider of mobile solutions for mobile operators and record labels Groove Mobile had 12 global

mobile operator customers including Sprint UK and Bell Mobility as well as relationships with the

major music labels including EMI Sony BMG Universal Music Group and Warner Music Group

In connection with the acquisition of Groove Mobile the Company created an exit plan to vacate

the Groove Mobile corporate headquarters and relocate employees to the LiveWire Mobile corporate

headquarters In the first quarter of 2008 the Company recorded facility exit cost of $0.3 million

which represents the estimated remaining net facility-related costs during the lease term

The acquisition of Groove Mobile was accounted for as purchase business combination

Accordingly the results of the operations of Groove Mobile were included with those of the Company
for periods subsequent to the date of the acquisition The Company has allocated the purchase price

based upon the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on March 17 2008 During

2008 Groove Mobile was allocated to the Companys single reporting segment LiveWire Mobile

summary of the purchase price is as follows

Amount

In thousands

Cash paid $14500

Transaction costs 1117

Facility exit costs 311

Total purchase price $15928

The following table presents the allocation of the purchase price and the lives of the acquired

intangible assets The acquired intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using

the straight-line method

Amount Estimated Life

In thousands In years

Cash and cash equivalents 868

Accounts receivable 794

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 290

Fixed assets 743

Core technology 7500 2.8

Customer relationships 2940 7.0

Goodwill 5747

Total assets acquired $18882

Total liabilities assumed 2954

Total net assets acquired $15928
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The unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of

operations of the Company and Groove Mobile on pro forma basis as though the companies had

been combined as of the beginning of each period The pro forma financial information is presented

for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that actually

would have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of each period The pro

forma financial information includes amortization charges from acquired intangible assets and

adjustments to interest expense

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands except

per share data

Revenue $16620 20549

Loss from continuing operations $64120 $38139
Loss from continuing operations per common sharebasic and

diluted 1.40 0.87

Openera

Effective February 24 2006 the effective date the Company acquired Openera with operations

based primarily
in Bangalore India for total purchase price of $11.5 million including transaction

costs of approximately $0.4 million and liabilities assumed of $2.8 million Openera developed mobile

application handset solutions for converged mobile networks

In connection with the acquisition of Openera the Company issued 3977518 shares of its

common stock to employee and non-employee stockholders of Openera subject to certain restrictions

The shares vested 40% at the effective date of the acquisition and 20% each at 12 24 and 30 month

intervals subsequent to the effective date total of 1981047 shares issued to employees are subject to

their continued employment over the 30-month period following the effective date of the acquisition

These restricted shares have been excluded from the purchase price of the acquisition The fair value

of the shares issued was determined based on five-day average market price of the Companys

common stock two days before and ending two days after the acquisition was publicly announced The

table below summarizes the allocations of the shares issued

Shares Fair Value

In thousands

Shares issued to employees 3301747 $12061

Shares issued to non-employees 675771 2645

Total shares issued 3977518 $14706

Shares issued and included in the purchase price of

Openera 1996471 7814

Shares issued and excluded from the purchase price of

Openera 1981047 6892

Total shares issued 3977518 $14706

In addition the Company granted options to purchase 369175 shares of its common stock to

certain employees of Openera The options vested 40% at the effective date of the acquisition and

20% each at 12 24 and 30 month intervals subsequent to the effective date Options to purchase

221505 shares of the Companys common stock are subject to the employees continued employment

with the Company over the 30-month period following the acquisition The values of the unrestricted

options
have been excluded from the purchase price of the acquisition The fair value of the options
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was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model The table below summarizes the allocation of

the options granted in the purchase price

Options Fair Value

In thousands

Options granted and included in the purchase price of

Openera 147670 577

Options granted and excluded from the purchase price of

Openera 221505 771

Total options granted 369175 $1348

The value of the vested portion of the shares and options issued in connection with the acquisition

was recorded as part of the purchase price The unvested portion is being amortized as compensation

expense ratably over the 30-month period following the date of acquisition

The acquisition was accounted for as purchase business combination Accordingly the results of

the operations of Openera were included with those of the Company for periods subsequent to the

date of acquisition Proforma results of operations are not presented as the acquisition of Openera was

determined not to be significant to the Companys condensed consolidated financial statements at the

time of the transaction The Company has allocated the purchase price based upon the fair values of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on February 24 2006 The allocation of the purchase price

related to deferred revenue was finalized in the first
quarter of 2007

The following table presents the allocation of the purchase price and the lives of the acquired

intangible assets

Amount Estimated Life

In thousands In years

Consideration exchanged

Fair value of restricted shares issued 7814

Fair value of options issued 577

Transaction costs 361

8752
Liabilities assumed 2775

Total purchase price 11527

Less estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired

Cash and cash equivalents 42

Accounts receivable 592

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 217

Fixed assets 198

Core technology 4000 1.8 4.8

Customer relationships 1000 6.8

Goodwill 5469

Other assets

Total assets acquired $11527

In connection with the Openera acquisition the Company assumed short-term debt of $0.7 million

and repaid the obligation in March 2006 There were no expenses associated with the retirement of the

debt for the year ended December 31 2006
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5Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company recorded goodwill and other intangible assets as result of the acquisitions of

Groove Mobile in March 2008 and Openera in February 2006 The following table sets forth the

change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31 2008

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

Goodwill at beginning of period 5427 $5469

Additions to goodwill 5747

Impairment of goodwill 11048
Effect of foreign exchange 126 42
Goodwill at end of period $5427

The Company performed its annual impairment assessment of goodwill at December 31 2008 The

Companys assessment for impairment was conducted in accordance with FAS 142 which required us to

determine the fair value of the Company as whole since it is considered the reporting unit to which

all goodwill is allocated The Company estimated the fair value of the reporting unit utilizing industry

accepted valuation techniques that included the present value of estimated future cash flows using

risk-adjusted discount rate and market multiple approach which considered the Companys market

capitalization adjusted for control premium These valuation techniques require significant judgments

by management including estimates and assumptions about the Companys projected future operating

results discount rates and long-term growth rates The Companys forecasts of future revenue were

based on expected future growth from new as well as existing customers and historical trends In

addition the Company considered the expected gross margins attainable in the future and the required

level of operating expenses needed to conduct our business

Step one of the impairment assessment resulted in the carrying value of the reporting unit

exceeding the fair value In step two of the impairment analysis the Company compared the implied

fair value of goodwill to its carrying value The implied fair value of goodwill was determined to be

zero Consequently the Company determined that goodwill was fully impaired resulting in an

impairment charge of $11.0 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008

In accordance with SFAS 144 the Company performed an assessment as of December 31 2008

and determined that triggering event had occurred The continued market decline of the Companys

common stock during the fourth
quarter of 2008 75% decline during the fourth

quarter
of 2008

along with an anticipated impairment of goodwill were indicators that the carrying value of our long-

lived assets might not be recoverable The Company performed its assessment at the asset group level

which represented the lowest level of cash flows that are largely independent of cash flows of other

assets and liabilities For LiveWire Mobile Inc this asset grouping is at the reporting unit level and

consists of acquired technology and customer relationships which were recorded as result of the

acquisitions
of Groove Mobile and Openera property and equipment managed service assets and

long term deposits on leased space When performing this test at the reporting unit level goodwill is

included in the carrying value of the asset group The Company assessed the recoverability of the

carrying value of our long-lived assets based on estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated

from such assets The carrying value of the reporting unit including goodwill prior to the goodwill

impairment charge described below was greater than the undiscounted cash flows indicating an

impairment The Company performed step two of the impairment test and determined there was full

impairment of our intangible assets and partial impairment of the property and equipment and

deposits reducing those assets to their fair value The fair value was determined based on the price

that willing buyer would pay in an orderly liquidation of those assets As result we recorded an
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impairment charge of $9.6 million related to the intangible assets and $2.0 million related to other

long-lived assets including managed service assets of $1.1 million property and equipment of

$0.8 million and other long-lived assets of $0.1 million The Company also reassessed the depreciation

method and remaining depreciation period for the property and equipment and determined that no

changes to the depreciation period or method were necessary

As of December 31 2008 the Companys other intangible assets had zero balance

The components of other intangible assets are as follows as of December 31 2007

Gross

Estimated Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

In years In thousands

Other intangible assets

Core technology 1.8 4.8 $4000 $2176 $1824

Customer relationships 6.8 1000 210 790

Licenses 1571 1571

Other intangible assets $6571 $2386 $4185

The following table
presents

amortization expense of the acquired intangible assets for the
years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Year Ended

December 31

In thousands 2008 2007

Cost of revenues $2977 $1058

Selling general and administrative 500 110

Total amortization expense of intangible assets $3477 $1168

As of December 31 2008 there is no expected remaining amortization of the acquired intangible

assets

During 2008 goodwill and intangible assets were allocated to our single reporting segment
LiveWire Mobile

6Restructuring and Other Related Charges

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company committed to several cost reduction plans focused on

streamlining its operations and the elimination of certain fixed costs The Company eliminated 27

employee positions primarily in its LiveWire Mobile business to better position it to improve operating

margins in response to adverse market conditions experienced by the Company in 2008 This action

resulted in restructuring charges of $0.5 million consisting primarily of employee severance-related

costs In association with the sale of its NMS Communications Platforms business to Dialogic and in an

effort to improve operating margins by eliminating business roles and functions which are not necessary

for the go-forward business the Company eliminated 20 employee positions which resulted in

restructuring charges of $2.1 million consisting primarily of employee severance-related costs

Also in connection with the sale of its NMS Communications Platforms business the Company

pursued an exit plan to reduce the Companys costs under lease agreement for its office space at

100 Crossing Boulevard located in Framingham Massachusetts On December 30 2008 the Company
entered into Lease Termination Agreement with its landlord and exited the space at 100 Crossing

Boulevard by December 31 2008 As result the Company recorded additional restructuring charges

of $3.6 million related to 100 Crossing Boulevard including $2.4 million of lease termination expenses
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and associated facility-related costs $0.9 million of leasehold improvements write-off costs and

$0.3 million of broker fees The Lease Termination Agreement requires cash termination payments in

2009 totaling $2.0 million cash termination payments in 2010 of $1.0 million and cash termination

payments in 2011 of $0.1 million The Lease Termination Agreement resulted in annual cost savings of

approximately $2.6 million through May 2012 The Company also recorded facility-related

restructuring charge of $0.1 million related to its London office

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company updated its analysis of the restructuring costs

recorded in the first quarter of 2008 in connection with restructuring event for an exit plan to vacate

the Groove Mobile corporate headquarters As result the Company recorded additional restructuring

costs of approximately $0.1 million relating to additional real estate tax and operating costs

In the third quarter of 2008 in order to further reduce operating costs the Company eliminated

one employee position which resulted in restructuring charges of $39000

In the second
quarter

of 2008 the Company recorded restructuring charge of $1.0 million Of

this amount $0.4 million related to exited office space located at its former headquarters at 100

Crossing Boulevard in Framingham Massachusetts The Company consolidated its use of office space

subsequent to the LiveWire Mobile businesss relocation of its operations to Littleton Massachusetts in

May 2008 The Company also recorded facility-related restructuring charge of $0.1 million related to

consolidation of its France office In connection with the facility exit activities the Company wrote

down $0.5 million of fixed assets associated with the exited space primarily consisting of leasehold

improvements

In the first quarter of 2008 in order to reduce operating costs the Company eliminated nine

employee positions in anticipation of synergies associated with the acquisition of Groove Mobile which

resulted in restructuring charges of $0.4 million all of which was employee severance-related costs In

connection with the acquisition of Groove Mobile the Company created an exit plan to vacate the

Groove Mobile corporate headquarters and relocate employees to the LiveWire Mobile corporate

headquarters The Company recorded facility exit cost of $0.3 million which represents the estimated

remaining net facility-related costs during the lease term

There were no restructuring charges in 2007

In the fourth quarter of 2006 in order to further reduce operating costs the Company eliminated

40 employee positions which resulted in restructuring charges of $1.9 million These charges primarily

consisted of severance-related costs In the fourth quarter of 2006 the Company also entered into an

agreement to sublease to third party office space located in Framingham Massachusetts which was

formerly used by the Company as supplementary conference training and corporate office space the

2006 sublease The Company exited this facility as of December 31 2006 and recorded pre-tax

restructuring charges of $1.4 million during the year ended December 31 2006 In 2001 and 2002 the

Company recorded restructuring charges related to other exited space in this facility equal to the

difference between committed lease payments and the estimated sublease rental income for such space

During the fourth quarter
of 2006 the Company updated its analysis of the estimated sublease rental

income based on the signing of the 2006 sublease and other expected market conditions As result

the Company recorded additional pre-tax restructuring costs of approximately $0.9 million The actions

resulted in annual costs savings of approximately $2.6 million which consists of $2.1 million of

personnel related costs and $0.5 million of reduced facility related costs

In the third quarter of 2006 in order to reduce operating costs the Company eliminated 17

employee positions and closed its engineering facility in Red Bank New Jersey which resulted in

restructuring and other related charges of $1.3 million These charges consisted of $0.8 million of

employee severance-related costs $0.4 million of lease termination costs and $0.1 million of fixed asset

write-offs
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The following table sets forth activity during the
years

ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

related to restructuring and other action taken

Employee Facility Fixed Asset

Related Related Write-offs Other Total

In thousands

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2005 916 916

Restructuring and other related charges 2653 2710 106 5469

Cash payments 1862 702 2564
Reclassification of deferred rent 617 617

Write-off of property and equipment 106 106

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2006 791 3541 4332

Cash payments 711 866 1577
Adjustments 80 74

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2007 2749 2749

Restructuring and other related charges 2898 3332 1398 243 7871

Restructuring for business combination 311 311

Cash payments 1251 1533 2784
Non-cash adjustment 243 243
Write-off of property and equipment 1398 1398
Accretion of deferred rent 47 47

Reclassification of deferred rent 665 665

Restructuring accrual balance at December 31 2008 $1647 5571 7218

Facilities and employee related restructuring charges are expected to be settled by May 2012 and

June 2009 respectively

At December 31 2008 the restructuring activities were allocated to the Companys single reporting

segment LiveWire Mobile

7Business and Credit Concentration

At December 31 2008 two customersEricsson AB and Sprint Nextel Corporationrepresented

39% and 26% respectively of the Companys outstanding accounts receivable balance At

December 31 2007 two customersEricsson AB and Jabil Circuit Inc.represented 14% and 11%
respectively of the Companys outstanding accounts receivable balance

During 2008 three customersEricsson AB Samsung and Sprint Nextel Corporation

represented 24% 18% and 17% respectively of the Companys total revenues During 2007 three

customersEricsson AB Leap Wireless International Inc and Acisionrepresented 59% 22% and

17% respectively of the Companys total revenues During 2006 three customersEricsson AB
Acision and Nokia Corporationrepresented 72% 13% and 13% respectively of the Companys total

revenues

8Marketable Securities

The Companys investments in marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and are

carried at fair value As of December 31 2008 the Companys marketable securities had zero

balance
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The Companys marketable securities consisted of the following at December 31 2007

December 31 2007

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses

In thousands

54 ______

$56
Included in cash and cash equivalents 6926

Marketable securities $10043 $6
_______

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company sold $7.6 million of short-term

marketable securities As result the Company recognized $39000 of gross realized gains and no gross

realized losses for the year ended December 31 2008 There were no gross realized gains or losses

from the sale of securities for the year ended December 31 2007 and 2006

During the Companys review of its marketable securities portfolio in the first quarter of 2008 the

Company determined that the decline in the value of its investment in Verso common stock issued to

the Company in connection with the sale of the NI Business was other-than-temporary as result of

Versos filing for bankruptcy in April 2008 As result the Company recorded $1.9 million

impairment charge in the first quarter of 2008 resulting in zero cost basis of the investment

At December 31 2007 all marketable securities with the exception of the Verso common stock

were due to mature within one year

9Inventories

Inventories were comprised of the following

1040

347

$1387

669

718

3236
654

5412

2692

2720

Money market mutual funds

Certificate of deposit

U.S government and agency bonds

Verso common stock

5826

2702

6560

1881

$16969

Fair

Value

5826

2702

6564

1827

$16919

6926

9993$56

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

In thousands

$1522Raw materials

Work in process

Finished goods

Inventory at customer sites

Write-down of inventory to lower of cost or market value

Total inventory

Inventory at customer sites represents products that have not yet been accepted by the customer
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10Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

3233 20546

10939

3100

2594

5952

Property and equipment gross

Less accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment net

Included in the table above as of December 31 2008 the Company had $1.0 million gross of

computer equipment including $0.5 million acquired from Groove Mobile as described in Note

under capital leases Related accumulated depreciation totaled $0.3 million at December 31 2008

There were no capital leases as of December 31 2007

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment was $1.5 million $0.5 million and

$1.1 million for the
years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

As discussed in note above in accordance with SFAS 144 the Company recorded an impairment

charge of $0.8 million of property plant and equipment during the year ended December 31 2008

11Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of income loss from continuing operations before income

taxes as shown in the consolidated statements of operations are as follows

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

$27991 $37055

________
679 623

________
$27312 $36432

Computer equipment

Computer software

Furniture and fixtures

Machinery and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Software in
process

3233

2173

$1060

28

43159

38063

5096

Domestic $60689

Foreign 961

$59728
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The domestic and foreign components of income tax expense related to continuing operations as

shown in the consolidated statements of operations are as follows

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Current income tax expense benefit

Federal

State

Foreign 248 196 91

252 196 91

Deferred income tax expense benefit
Federal

State

Foreign 44 35
Total income tax provision $208 $161 $91

The total income tax expense benefit for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is

as follows

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Continuing operations $208 $161 91

Discontinued operations 634 61 147

Total income tax provision $842 $222 $238

Significant components of the Companys deferred tax assets liabilities as of December 31 2008

and 2007 are as follows

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

Deferred tax assets liabilities

Net operating loss carryforwards $126595 84276

Research and development tax credit carryforwards 10506 10468

Capital loss carryforwards 342 3040

Inventories 393 543

Fixed assets 855

Intangible assets 17063 48030

Accrued expenses 3804 2651

Acquisition costs 310 298

Other 2766 1387

$161779 $151548

Acquired intangible assets 1007
Fixed assets 1237 643

Less valuation al1owance 160411 149844

Net deferred taxes 131 54
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For United States federal income tax purposes we have net operating loss carryforwards available

to reduce taxable income of $310.6 million at December 31 2008 Of this amount $21.1 million relates

to deductions from the exercise of stock options of which $1.6 million is tracked separately and not

included in the Companys deferred tax assets in accordance with FAS 123R The future benefit from

these deductions will be recorded as additional paid in capital when realized Under the provisions of

the Internal Code Section 382 certain changes in the Companys ownership structure may result in

limitation on the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development tax credit

carryforwards that may be used in future years These unutilized carryforwards begin to expire in 2009

if unutilized The Company also had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $18.8 million As of

December 31 2008 the Company had $6.1 million of tax credits in the United States that are

comprised of federal research and development tax credits and state and local credits These unutilized

credits begin to expire in 2009 In addition the Company had Canadian investment tax credits of

approximately $5.1 million These credits begin to expire in 2014 if unutilized

The Company has established valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets in certain

jurisdictions including the United States because the Company believes that it is more likely than not

that the tax assets in those jurisdictions will not be realized prior to their expiration During fiscal 2008

the deferred tax valuation allowance increased by $10.6 million primarily as result of the Companys

current year net operating loss position increase to its tax credit carry-forwards and the write-off of its

deferred tax liabilities associated with acquired intangibles

As result of tax law change in India the Company can no longer avail itself to the Indian Tax

Holiday Openera India instead must avail itself to minimum tax and related minimum tax credit

The Companys Indian Tax Holiday will expire in 2009 The Company will continue to assess the

valuation allowance and to the extent it is determined that such allowance is no longer required the

tax benefit of the remaining net deferred tax assets would be recognized in the future Approximately

$7.5 million of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets relates to benefits for stock option

deductions which if realized will be allocated to additional paid in capital

For each of the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 our United States Federal

statutory tax rate was 34% and our effective tax rate was 0.3% 0.6% and 0.2% respectively from

continuing operations Our effective tax rate varies from our statutory tax rate for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 principally due to the following

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Computed expected tax expense at U.S federal statutory rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%

State income taxes net of U.S federal tax expense benefit 1.6 10.0 1.2

Tax rate and tax law differential of foreign operations 0.1 0.2

Change in valuation allowance 21.3 44.1 35.4

Foreign loss disallowance

Non-deductible goodwill 14.0

Other 0.7 Ii5 0.2

Effective tax rate 0.3%0.6%0.2%

At December 31 2008 United States income taxes were not provided on permanently

undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S subsidiaries of approximately $5.8 million The Company
will reinvest these earnings indefinitely in its operations outside the United States

Effective January 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 As result of the

implementation of FIN 48 the Company recognized no material adjustment in the liability for

unrecognized income tax benefits
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Income tax expense is primarily due to foreign income taxes incurred by foreign subsidiaries and

additional accruals for uncertain tax positions as discussed below

We conduct business globally and as result we or one of more of our subsidiaries files income

tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions In the normal

course of business we are subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world With few

exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax

examination for
years

before 2000 We are no longer subject to IRS examination for the
years prior to

2004 although carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2004 may still be adjusted upon
examination by tax authorities if they either have been or will be used in the future Similar tax law

provisions may also apply for state and international tax purposes

The Company reached settlement with the French Authorities regarding the audit for the years

2003-2004 The settlement of $0.2 million was finalized and paid in January 2008 This amount was

accrued for as of December 31 2007 As
part

of the settlement the Company agreed to adjust its
gross

net operating loss carryforwards and related valuation allowances from $6.3 million to $1.6 million as of

December 31 2006 These gross net operating loss carryforwards had full valuation allowance against

them at December 31 2007 Based upon the settlement there was no material impact to net income

accumulated deficit or net deferred taxes in any historical periods

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax expense is as follows

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007

In millions

Beginning balance upon adoption as of January 2008 $0.6 $0.4

Additions

Tax positions for current year 0.2

Tax positions for prior years 0.4 0.2

Reductions

Tax positions for current year

Tax positions for prior years

Settlements of prior year positions 0.2

Ending balance $1.0 $0.6

As of December 31 2008 the Company had accrued $1.0 million for uncertain tax positions all of

which will impact the Companys effective tax rate when recognized The $1.0 million of unrecognized

tax expense represents tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly uncertain It is

reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease in the

next twelve months As of the filing date of this annual report on Form 10-K an estimate of the range

that will reverse in the next twelve months of reasonably possible outcomes cannot be made

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income taxes as component of the

provision for income taxes on the consolidated statement of operations During the year ended

December 31 2008 the Company recognized $44000 in interest and penalties As of December 31

2008 the amount accrued for the payment of interest and penalties was $0.1 million
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12Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Components of accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

Accrued compensation and related expenses $1603 $2198

Deferred rent 148 657

Other liabilities 1890 3988

$3641 $6843

13Indebtedness

Revolving Line of Credit

On May 2008 the Company entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Original Credit

Facility with Silicon Valley Bank SVB which permitted the Company to borrow up to

$6.0 million in the form of revolving loan advances including up to $6.0 million in the form of letters

of credit foreign exchange contracts or cash management services Under the Original Credit Facility

principal borrowings accrued interest at floating per annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate Loans

under the Original Credit Facility were collateralized by security interest in substantially all assets

of the Company other than certain intellectual property assets and ii guaranteed by certain

domestic subsidiaries of the Company each of which entered into an unconditional guaranty agreement

and security agreement effective as of May 2008 in favor of SVB

On June 30 2008 the Company together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries NMS

Communications International Corporation LiveWire Mobile later renamed LWM Corporation and

Groove Mobile wholly-owned subsidiary of LiveWire Mobile collectively the Borrowers entered

into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement the Amended Credit Facility with

SVB which permits the Borrowers to borrow up to 80% of $5.0 million in the form of advances based

on portion of eligible accounts receivable Principal borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility

accrue interest at floating per annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate plus one percentage point The

Amended Credit Facility terminates on June 29 2009 The Amended Credit Facility amends and

restates in its entirety the Original Credit Facility

On November 2008 the Company entered into Second Loan Modification Agreement the

Loan Modification Agreement which amends the Amended and Restated Loan and Security

Agreement with SVB dated June 30 2008 together with the Loan Modification Agreement the

Amended Credit Facility The amount of the Amended Credit Facility was $6.25 million with

borrowings of up to 80% in the form of advances based on portion of eligible accounts receivable

Upon closing of the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business the amount of the Amended

Credit Facility was reduced to $3.75 million of which $3.0 million can be borrowed in the form of

advances based on portion of eligible accounts receivable Principal borrowings under the Amended

Credit Facility accrue interest at floating per annum rate equal to SVBs prime rate plus two

percentage points

The Amended Credit Facility includes customary lending and reporting covenants including

without limitation the periodic delivery of financial information to SVB and the provision of notice to

SVB upon the occurrence of specified events including threatened litigation and threats to protected

intellectual property The Amended Credit Facility also includes customary representations and

warranties including without limitation that the accounts receivable upon which SVB will advance

funds remain eligible in accordance with the terms of the Amended Credit Facility and that payment
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of the accounts receivable by third-party debtors is not contingent in nature and is based on an actual

sale and delivery of goods and services The Amended Credit Facility also includes several potential

events of default which upon occurrence could cause interest to be charged at prime plus four

percentage points These events of default include without limitation payment defaults defaults in the

performance of affirmative and negative covenants the inaccuracy of representations or warranties

material adverse change conditions attachment of assets insolvency conditions defaults relating to

uninsured judgments or defaults under other agreements guarantees or indebtedness Any uncured

events of default may result in SVBs right to declare all outstanding obligations immediately due and

payable

The Amended Credit Facility contains negative covenants applicable to the Borrowers including

without limitation prohibitions on certain transfers of its business or property the payment of certain

dividends changes in business management or business locations certain mergers or acquisitions

incurrence or assumption of indebtedness encumbrance of assets certain distributions or investments

certain transactions with affiliates improper debt payments and certain actions related to the

Investment Company Act of 1940 and ERISA

Amounts borrowed under the Amended Credit Facility are secured by security interest in

substantially all of the assets and intellectual property of the Borrowers other than certain intellectual

property assets The Borrowers intend to utilize the Amended Credit Facility as source of capital for

ongoing operations and working capital needs The Company incurred approximately $0.2 million in

deferred financing fees associated with the Original Credit Facility and the Amended Credit Facility

The deferred financing fees are capitalized as other current assets and are amortized on straight-line

basis over the term of the Amended Credit Facility

As of December 31 2008 the Company had borrowed $2.6 million under the Amended Credit

Facility During the year ended December 31 2008 the weighted average interest rate on the

outstanding balance of borrowings under our line of credit of $2.6 million at December 31 2008 was

8.3%

14Employee Retirement Plan

The Company has established an employee retirement plan under Section 401k of the Internal

Revenue Code the 401k plan covering all eligible full-time employees of the Company
Contributions to the 401k plan are made by the participants to their individual accounts through

payroll withholding Additionally the 401k plan provides for the Company to make contributions to

the 401k plan in amounts at the discretion of management For the year ending December 31 2008
the Company matched contributions each pay period at 50% of the employees contributions up to 6%
of employees compensation not to exceed the federal limit of $15500 per calendar year The

employer contribution for the
years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $0.3 million

$0.3 million and $0.5 million respectively Beginning in February 2009 the Company ceased making

matching contributions to the 401k plan

15Equity

Stock Repurchase Program

During 2001 the Companys Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing

the Company to repurchase up to 2500000 shares of its outstanding common stock for an aggregate

purchase price not to exceed $5.0 million As of December 31 2006 the Company had repurchased

915000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $4.7 million

In July 2006 the Companys Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $20000000 of

the Companys common stock by March 31 2007 the July Program The July Program superseded
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the stock repurchase program previously
authorized by the Board of Directors in April 2006 for the

repurchase of up to 1100000 shares of the Companys common stock by December 31 2006 the

April Program All repurchases under the July Program and the April Program were made in

open-market transactions As of December 31 2006 the Company had repurchased 7613773 shares of

its outstanding common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $22.5 million which included

$0.2 million of broker fees The Company made no repurchases during 2007 or 2008

Other Stock Repurchases

In May 2006 the Company repurchased 275212 shares of the Companys common stock in

private negotiated transaction for $0.8 million from an entity that had acquired those shares at fair

value in connection with the Companys acquisition of Openera This transaction was not pursuant to

the publicly announced stock repurchase program described above

During 2008 and 2007 in conjunction with the exercise of stock options and issuance of stock

under the employee stock purchase plan the Company issued 298795 and 201722 treasury shares

respectively

Preferred Stock

Under its restated certificate of incorporation the Company has authorized 3000000 shares of

preferred stock par value $0.05 per share As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company had no

shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding In connection with its stockholder rights plan 15000

of such shares have been designated Series Junior Preferred Stock none of which is issued and

outstanding The Companys board of directors has the authority to issue preferred stock in one or

more classes or series and to fix the rights preferences privileges and restrictions thereof including

dividend rights dividend rates conversion rights exchange rights voting rights terms of redemption

redemption prices liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any class or series or

the designation of such class or series without any further action by the stockholders

Stockholders Rights Plan

The Companys Board of Directors adopted Stockholders Rights Plan the Rights Plan on

December 23 1998 under which dividend of one Common Stock Purchase Right each Right
was declared for and attached to each outstanding share of the Companys Common Stock $0.01 par

value per share Common Stock held by stockholders of record as of January 1999 The Rights

Plan was amended on April 22 1999 Shares of Common Stock issued after December 23 1998 also

contain such Rights The Rights become exercisable following the tenth day after person or group

acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Companys outstanding shares of Common

Stock or announces tender or exchange offer or exchange offer the consummation of which

would result in ownership by person or group of 30% or more of the Companys Common Stock an

Acquiring Person The plan entitles Right holders to purchase one-one thousandth of share of

the Companys Series Junior Preferred Stock for $60 the Purchase Price Under some

circumstances the Plan entitles Right holders other than an Acquiring Person to purchase Common

Stock having value equal to two times the Purchase Price of the Right for the Purchase Price once

the Rights become exercisable Under some circumstances the Board of Directors of the Company

may exchange the Rights at an exchange rate of one Share of Common Stock per Right Rights are

redeemable at the Companys option for $0.01 per Right at any time after the acquisition of 15% or

more of the Companys Common Stock The Rights expired on December 23 2008 and were not

renewed or replaced
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16Commitments and Contingencies

The following table details our future contractual payment obligations

Payments due by Period

More

Less than than All

In Thousands Total year years years years Other

Revolving line of credit 2610 2610

Operating lease obligations 7523 2345 3789 1389

Capital lease obligations 835 441 360 34

Purchase obligations 2011 2011

Lease termination obligations 3157 2043 1114

Uncertain tax positions and

related interest 1116 1116

Total contractual obligations $17252 9450 $5263 $1423 $1116

Operating Leases

The Company leases its current corporate office headquarters facilities under non-cancelable leases

extending to June 30 2013 The Company occupies other facilities which serve as development or

technical support offices in North America and India under leases that expire within the next year

The Company also has future obligations relating to our previous training and conference space at 200

Crossing Boulevard in Framingham Massachusetts which is being subleased to various third parties

One lease for this
space expires in April 2009 and the remaining lease expires in May 2012 Rental

expenses under all operating lease agreements during the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 were approximately $1.1 million $1.3 million and $1.2 million respectively The amounts

presented in the table above do not include estimated sublease income of $3.0 million which is

expected to be received over the next five years or ii $0.2 million of estimated payments from

Dialogic Inc related to space to be occupied in accordance with Transition Services Agreement

signed on December 2008 or iii facility leases that were terminated

Future minimum payments payable under operating leases are as follows as of December 31 2008

Fiscal Year In thousands

2009 2345

2010 1838

2011 1951

2012 1124

2013 265

Total minimum lease payments 7523

On December 30 2008 the Company entered into Lease Termination Agreement with our

landlord and exited the space at 100 Crossing Boulevard by December 31 2008 As result the

Company recorded additional restructuring charges of $3.6 million related to 100 Crossing Boulevard

including $2.4 million of lease termination expenses and associated facility-related costs $0.9 million of

leasehold improvement write-off costs and $0.3 million of broker fees The Lease Termination

Agreement requires cash termination payments in 2009 totaling $2.0 million cash termination payments

in 2010 of $1.0 million and cash termination payments in 2011 of $0.1 million The Lease Termination

Agreement resulted in annual cost savings of approximately $2.6 million through May 2012
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Capital Leases

In connection with the acquisition of Groove Mobile the Company assumed certain capital lease

obligations with future minimum payments of $0.5 million of which $0.3 million remains to be settled

over the next two years In addition in 2008 the Company entered into capital lease obligation for

the purchase of computer equipment with future minimum lease payments of $0.5 million to be settled

over the next six years

Future minimum payments payable under capital leases are as follows as of December 31 2008

Fiscal Year In thousands

2009 $441

2010 213

2011 147

2012 25

2013

Total minimum lease payments 835

Less interest and taxes 87
Present value of minimum payments $748

Purchase Commitments

Purchase obligations are open purchase orders defined as agreements to purchase goods or

services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms including fixed

or minimum quantities to be purchased fixed minimum or variable pricing provisions and the

approximate timing of the transactions These obligations primarily relate to hardware components
software licenses and services and equipment rental and maintenance services The amounts are based

on our contractual commitments

As of December 31 2008 and included in the purchase obligations total in the table above the

Company had $0.8 million purchase commitment with our contract manufacturer Arrow Electronics

for the purchase of ringback platform components This commitment was reduced by agreement in

January 2009 to $0.3 million and paid in February 2009 As of December 31 2008 the Company also

had purchase commitment to Dialogic for the purchase of $0.3 million of inventory The Company
had no other significant capital spending or purchase commitments other than facility leases equipment

leases and purchase orders in the ordinary course of business

Uncertain tax positions

As of December 31 2008 the Company recorded liability related to uncertain tax positions of

$1.0 million and related interest of $0.1 million In January 2008 the Company paid $0.2 million of

taxes and interest related to an uncertain tax position recorded in 2007 The Company is unable to

reasonably estimate the timing of the remainder of uncertain tax positions and related interest in

individual years beyond twelve months due to uncertainties in the timing of the effective settlements of

tax positions

Litigation

The Company is party to various legal proceedings incidental to its business However the

Company has no material legal proceedings currently pending
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Guarantees

The Companys NMS Communications Platforms business products were generally sold with an

18-24 month warranty period Parts and labor were covered under the terms of the warranty agreement

The warranty provision was based on historical experience by product configuration and geographic

region Warranty provisions were related to the past one and half to two years revenues and warranty

consumption is associated with current and prior years revenues

The Companys LiveWire Mobile products are generally sold with twelve month warranty which

is covered by the manufacturer

Changes in the aggregate warranty liability were as follows

December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Beginning balance 400 285 370

Provisions for warranty 172 263 44

Expenditures 201 148 129
Sale of warranty liability to Dialogic 371

Ending balance 400 285

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification agreements with certain of its customers in its ordinary

course of business Pursuant to these agreements the Company agrees that in the event its products

infringe upon any proprietary right of third party the Company will indemnify its customer against

any loss expense or liability from any damages that may be awarded against the customer As

described in FASB Staff Position FIN No 45-1 Accounting for Intellectual Properly Infringement

Indemnifications under FIN No 45 Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees

including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others indemnifications related to infringement on

intellectual property such as the ones the Company has entered into are considered guarantees and

therefore within the scope of FIN 45 These arrangements have been recorded at fair value of zero as

there have been no claims brought against the Company under such arrangements in the past five

years

The Company provides indemnity to the extent permitted by law to its officers directors

employees and agents for liabilities arising from certain events or occurrences while the officer

director employee or agent is or was serving at the Companys request in such capacity As matter

of practice the Company maintains directors and officer liability insurance coverage

In connection with the sale of the NMS Communications Platforms business the Company has

agreed to indemnify Dialogic until December 2009 for number of specified matters including the

breach of any representations warranties and covenants contained in the asset purchase agreement

and in some cases until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations following the closing of

the asset sale Under the agreement with Dialogic $2.8 million of the total upfront cash payment was

deposited into an escrow account to secure our indemnification obligations to Dialogic following the

closing The Company cannot predict the liabilities that may arise as result of the Asset Sale

17Segment and Geographic Information

Effective January 2007 the Company consolidated two of its former reportable segments

Platform Solutions and Mobile Applications into single segment Technology and Mobile

Applications and re-organized its business primarily according to functional business area
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Effective July 2007 the Company reorganized its previously reported Technology and Mobile

Applications segment into two separate business divisions Communications Platforms and Mobile

Applications The change in organization was the result of the Companys efforts to organize product

development sales services and marketing teams to better align to serve each of these divisions

distinct markets During the fourth quarter of 2007 these divisions were renamed as the NMS
Communications divisions formerly Communications Platforms and the LiveWire Mobile division

formerly Mobile Applications The Companys Network Infrastructure NI division remained

unchanged and continued to focus on solutions for the radio access network RAN portion of

mobile operators infrastructure The NI Business was sold to Verso Technologies Inc Verso on

December 21 2007 Corporate and unallocated costs include general and administrative functions and

restructuring charges of the Company

Prior to 2007 the Company had organized into three business units which constituted our

reportable segments Platforms Solutions Mobile Applications and NI

On December 2008 the Company sold the NMS Communications Platforms business to

Dialogic Corporation for cash consideration of $28.0 million The NMS Communications Platforms

business provided embedded technology and platforms that enabled the rapid creation and deployment

of broad range of value-added services for mobile and converged networks ranging from voice mail

and interactive voice response solutions to video portals and mobile TV and multi-media messaging

systems After the sale the Company is one reportable segment

As of December 31 2008 the Company had operations established in three countries outside the

United States Its services and products are sold throughout the world through the Companys direct

sales force and channel partners The Company is exposed to the risk of changes in social political and

economic conditions inherent in foreign operations and the Companys results of operations and the

value of its foreign assets are affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

The following table
presents

the Companys revenue and long-lived assets by geographic region

Revenues by geographic region are presented by attributing revenues from external customers on the

basis of where products are sold

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Revenues by geographic area

Americas 5373 3379 $3334

Europe Middle East and Africa 6433 7253 5416

Asia 3810 2591 146

Total revenues $15616 $13223 $8896

The following table includes information about the Companys long-lived assets by geographic

region as of

December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

Long-lived assets by geographic area

Americas 943 $4316

Europe Middle East and Africa 341

Asia 115 439

Total long-lived assets $1060 $5096
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18Discontinued Operations

On November 19 2008 at Special Meeting of stockholders of LiveWire Mobile Inc formerly

known as NMS Communications Corporation NMS the NMSs stockholders adopted and

approved proposal to sell substantially all of its assets under Delaware law through the sale of its

NMS Communications Platforms business the Business to Dialogic Corporation Dialogic

pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of September 12

2008 by and between the Company and Dialogic such asset sale being the Asset Sale and such

agreement being the Asset Purchase Agreement

On December 2008 Dialogic purchased the Business including accounts receivable inventory

equipment records and related intellectual property and assumed certain liabilities as set forth in the

Asset Purchase Agreement In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Asset Purchase

Agreement the Company received cash payment of $22.8 million which represents the purchase

price of $28.0 million and certain customary adjustments set forth in the Purchase Agreement

including $0.3 million for closing date payroll payment less $2.8 million funded into an escrow

account to support any indemnification claims $2.3 million payment to Silicon Valley Bank to pay the

portion
of the outstanding line of credit that was secured by the Businesss accounts receivable and

$0.4 million which is being held in escrow to settle certain contingencies that may arise related to levels

of working capital at closing of the Asset Sale As result of the disposition of the Business the

Company recognized $16.3 million gain net of income tax provision of zero and the operating

results of the Business have been reclassified as discontinued operation in the consolidated statement

of operations The Business had revenues of $48.3 million $69.2 million and $87.1 million for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Income from the discontinued operations was

$5.9 million net of income tax provision of $0.6 million $18.9 million net of income tax provision of

$0.1 million and $28.4 million net of income tax provision of $0.1 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

On December 21 2007 the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement the

Agreement with Verso Technologies Inc Minnesota corporation Verso to sell the Companys

Network Infrastructure NI division to Verso the Transaction The closing of the Transaction

occurred on December 21 2007 the Closing Date Under the terms of the Agreement Verso

acquired the NI Business and certain assets and liabilities of the NI Business for cash consideration of

$0.9 million and 5374033 shares of Verso common stock which had fair market value of $1.8 million

as of December 31 2007 The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations warranties

covenants and agreements of the Company and Verso and the terms of the Transaction provide

registration rights of the Company with respect to the Verso common stock issued in the Transaction

As result of the disposition of the NI Business the Company recognized $1.6 million gain net of

income tax expense of $6000 and the operating results of the NI Business have been reclassified as

discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of operations The NI Business had revenues of

$5.4 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively Loss from

discontinued operations was $0.4 million net of income tax provision of zero $2.4 million net of

income tax benefit of $0.1 million and $7.7 million net of income tax benefit of $0.1 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

19Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted SFAS No 157 as of January 2008 to measure the fair value of certain of

its financial assets required to be measured on recurring basis Under SFAS No 157 based on the

observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques the Company is required to provide the

following information according to the fair value hierarchy The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality
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and reliability of the information used to determine fair values Financial assets and liabilities carried at

fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories

Level 1Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2Inputs other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly such as

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for

substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities

Level 3Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are

significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

As of December 31 2008 the Company did not have assets or liabilities that fall under SFAS

No 157

20Quarterly Information Unaudited

The following table sets forth certain unaudited consolidated quarterly statements of operations

data for each of our last eight quarters In our opinion this quarterly information reflects all

adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair statement for the

periods presented Such quarterly results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations

and should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes

thereto included elsewhere herein As result of the disposition of the NMS Communications

Platforms business and the NI Business in the fourth quarters of 2008 and 2007 respectively the

Company are reporting these businesses as discontinued operations for all periods presented See

Note 18 Discontinued Operations for further discussion of the disposition of the NMS
Communications Platforms and NI Businesses On March 17 2008 the Company acquired Groove

Mobile Inc The acquisition of Groove Mobile was accounted for as purchase business combination
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and accordingly the results of the operations of Groove Mobile were included with those of the

Company for periods subsequent to the date of the acquisition

Quarter Ended

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Impairment charges

Restructuring and other related charges

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss

Other income expense net

Loss from continuing operations before

income taxes

Income tax expense benefit

Loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations net

of income tax expense benefit of $154

$85 $161 $234 $94 $181 $28 and

$2 respectively

Gain on disposal of discontinued

operations net of income tax expense of

$0 and $6

Net income loss

Loss from continuing operations per

common sharebasic and diluted

Net income loss per common share

Sept 30 June 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30
2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007

Unaudited

In thousands except per share amounts

3580 3575 3257 5204 4268 3460

2803 3015 3312 2348 2988 2186

777 560 55 2856 1280 1274

June 30 Mar 31
2007 2007

4182

2864

1318

3502

1652

22664

6417

34235

33458
463

32995
94

33089

7089

2044

39

9172

8612
126

8486
18

8504

7012 6923 6703 6351 5954

2151 1606 1220 1388 1631

1025 390

10188 8919 7923 7739 7585

10243 6063 6643 6465 6267
72 2013 181 47 144

$1312

2188

876

6100

1507

7607

8483
266

8217
25

8242

10171
31

10202

8076
66

8142

6462
72

6534

6512
41

6553

6123
23

6146

259 1390 1953 1905 5283 5036 3091 3124

16280 1631

$16550 $7114 8249 $6237 380 $1517 $3055 5118

0.72 0.19 0.22 0.18 0.15 0.15 0.14 0.19

basic and diluted 0.36 0.16 0.18 0.14 0.01 0.03 0.07 0.12
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Schedule II

In thousands

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Additions charged Additions charged to

Balance at to costs gain on sale of Balance at

Beginning of Year and expenses discontinued operations Deductions1 End of Year

12/31/08 113 62 165 244 96
12/31/07 829 36 752 113
12/31/06 794 64 29 829

Amounts include write-offs of accounts receivable deemed to be uncollectible

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

Balance at Balance at

Beginning of Year Additions Deductions1 End of Year

12/31/08 149844 $10567 $160411
12/31/07 144509 5335 $149844
12/31/06 147286 2777 $144509

Amounts relate to the utilization of various deferred tax assets exclusive of net operating losses

100



ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer our principal executive and principal financial officers respectively evaluated the effectiveness

of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of December 31 2008 This evaluation included consideration of

the controls processes and procedures that comprise our internal control over financial reporting

Based on such evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as

of December 31 2008 our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable

assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and

communicated to our management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such item is defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f Our internal

control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain

to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of our assets ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of our management and directors and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of our assets that could

have material effect on the financial statements

Our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Office and Chief Financial Officer

assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 In

making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework Based

on this assessment management concluded that as of December 31 2008 our internal control over

financial reporting was effective and no material weaknesses were identified

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting

firm as stated in their attestation report which appears herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended
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December 31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTWE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information appearing under the captions Directors and Officers Board of Directors and

Committee Meetings Section 16 Reporting and Code of Ethics will be contained in our definitive

proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

The proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC not later

than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year

ITEM 11 EXECUTiVE COMPENSATION

The information appearing under the captions Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Compensation Committee Report Executive Compensation Narrative DisclosureDirector

Compensation and Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation will be contained

in our definitive proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference The proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the

close of the fiscal year

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information about the shares of our common stock that may be

issued upon the exercise of options and other rights under all of the Companys existing equity plans

Number of Shares

Remaining Available for

Future Issuance

Number of Shares Weighted Average under Equity

to be issued upon Per Share Compensation Plans

Exercise of Exercise Price excluding shares

Outstanding of Outstanding reflected in

Plan Category Options Options first column

Plans approved by stockholders

1993 Stock Option Plan 254000 $3.59

1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option

Plan 10000 $2.56

2000 Equity Incentive Plan 7317315 $2.14 420742

2005 Openera Incentive Plan 209993 $1.93 121273

2006 India Incentive Plan 37693 $1.94 2307
2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 96913

Plans not approved by stockholders

1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan1 387548 $6.70

Total 8216549 $2.40 641235

The 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan expired in October 2005 There are no shares

remaining for future issuances

Other additional information appearing under the captions Security Ownership of Directors

Executive Officers and Principal Stockholders and Equity Compensation Plans will be contained in

our definitive proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein

by reference The proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of

the fiscal year
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ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information appearing under the captions Board of Directors and Committee Meetings

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation and Related Person Transactions

will be contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is

incorporated herein by reference The proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later than

120 days after the close of the fiscal year

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information appearing under the caption Information Regarding Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm is incorporated herein by reference and will be contained in our definitive

proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders The proxy statement will be filed with

the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are included in the annual report on Form 10-K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements required to be filed by Item of this annual report on

Form 10-K are included on the indicated pages of this annual report on Form 10-K

Page No

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 56

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2007 and 2008 57

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31

2006 2007 and 2008 58

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Years Ended

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 59

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008 60

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 61

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following financial statement schedules required to be filed by Item of this annual report on

Form 10-K are included on the indicated pages of this annual report on Form 10-K

Page No

Schedule TIValuation and Qualifying Accounts 100

Schedules not listed above are omitted because they are not required or because the required

information is given in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and Item 15b of this annual report on

this Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index appearing after the signature page and are

incorporated herein by reference

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and are listed in the Exhibit Index appearing

after the signature page and are incorporated herein by reference

Not applicable

105



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned

thereunto duly authorized

LIVEWIRE MOBILE INC

By Is JOEL HUGHES

Joel Hughes
Chief Executive Officer and

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 31 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Name Title Date

Is JOEL HUGHES Chief Executive Officer and March 31 2009

Joel Hughes
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Principal Executive Officer

Is TODD DoNIuE Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial March 31 2009

Todd Donahue and Accounting Officer

Is THOMAS DUsENBERRY Director March 31 2009

Thomas Dusenberry

Is FRANK KING PH.D Director March 31 2009

Frank King Ph.D

Is ROBERT PONS Director March 31 2009

Robert Pons

Is PJv1ELA REEvE Director March 31 2009

Pamela Reeve

Is JILL THOERLE Director March 31 2009

Jill Thoerle
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Exhibit Index

The Company will furnish to any stockholder of record who so requests copy of this annual

report on Form 10-K including copy of any exhibit listed below provided that the Company may

require payment of reasonable fee not to exceed our cost of furnishing such exhibit

No Title

2.1 Merger Agreement dated as of May 18 2000 by and among the Registrant 3758982

Canada Inc Michel Laurence Michel Brule Stephane Tremblay and Investissements

Novacap Inc incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed July 2000

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 13 2006 by and among the Registrant

Openera Technologies Inc and the other parties thereto incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed February 17 2006

2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 20 2007 by and between Registrant and Verso

Technologies Inc incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed

December 28 2007

2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among NMS Communications Corporation LiveWire

Mobile Inc Quarry Acquisition Corp Groove Mobile Inc and the Securityholders

Representative named therein dated March 16 2008 incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed March 19 2008

2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement by and between NMS Communications Corporation and

Dialogic Corporation dated as of September 12 2008 incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed September 12 2008

2.6 Receivables Purchase Agreement by and between NMS Communications Corporation and

Dialogic Corporation dated as of December 2008 incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed December 11 2008

3.1 Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant incorporated by reference to

the Registrants registration statement on Form S-i 33-72596
3.2 By-laws of Registrant as amended incorporated by reference to the Registrants registration

statement on Form S-i 33-72596
33 Certificate of Amendment to Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant

incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 2001

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant

4.1 Specimen Certificate for the Common Stock incorporated by reference to the Registrants

registration statement on Form S-i 33-72596
i0.i 1993 Employee Stock Option Plan as amended and restated incorporated by reference to

the Registrants registration statement on Form S-8 333-57141

10.2 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended and restated incorporated by reference to

the Registrants registration statement on Form S-8 333-i06820

10.3 1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan as amended and restated incorporated by

reference to the Registrants registration statement on Form S-8 333-40940

10.4 Openera Technologies Inc 2005 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2005

10.5 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan as amended and restated incorporated by reference

to the Registrants registration statement on Form S-8 333-40940

10.6 Lease Agreement between the Registrant and National Development of New England LLC
dated October 1996 incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 10-K for the

year

ended December 31 1996

10.7 2000 Equity Incentive Plan as amended and restated incorporated by reference to the

Registrants registration statement on Form S-8 333-106820 as amended

10.8 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2005



No Title

10.9 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to the Registrants

Form 10-0 for the quarter
ended March 31 2005

10.10 Lease Agreement between the Registrant and National Development of New England LLC

dated April 2000 incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter

ended March 31 2001

10.11 Form of NMS Communications Corporation Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for

Openera Technologies Inc 2005 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 2006

10.12 Offer Letter from NMS Communications Corporation to Todd Donahue entered into as of

January 12 2007 incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed January 19

2007

10.13 Sublease dated December 28 2006 between NMS Communications Corporation and

Genzyme Corporation incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2006

10.14 Half 2007 Management Bonus Program incorporated by reference to the Registrants

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

10.15 Severance Protection Agreement dated as of October 2007 by and between the Registrant

and Todd Donahue incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2007

10.16 Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and NMS
Communications Corporation dated as of May 2008 incorporated by reference to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed May 12 2008

10.17 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and among Silicon Valley Bank

NMS Communications Corporation NMS Communications International Corporation

LiveWire Mobile Inc and Groove Mobile Inc dated as of June 30 2008 incorporated by

reference to the Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 2008

10.18 Second Loan Modification Agreement by and among Silicon Valley Bank and NMS
Communications Corporation NMS Communications International Corporation LiveWire

Mobile Inc and Groove Mobile Inc dated as of November 2008 incorporated by

reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed November 10 2008

10.19 Severance Protection Agreement between the Registrant and Joel Hughes dated as of

June 2008

10.20 Amendment to Severance Protection Agreement between the Registrant and Joel Hughes
dated as of October 2008

10.21 Amendment to Severance Protection Agreement between the Registrant and Todd Donahue

dated as of October 2008

10.22 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated as of November 18 2008 by and between NMS and

Singer Childrens Management Trust incorporated by reference to the Registrants

Form 8-K filed November 19 2008

10.23 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated as of November 18 2008 by and between NMS
Lloyd Miller Trust A4 Lloyd Miller Trust and Milfam II LP incorporated by

reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed November 19 2008

10.24 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated as of November 18 2008 by and between NMS and

Sidus Investment Management LLC incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K

filed November 19 2008

10.25 Voting and Standstill Agreement dated as of November 18 2008 by and between NMS
Special Situations Fund III QP L.P Special Situations Cayman Fund L.P Special Situations

Technology Fund II L.P and Special Situations Technology Fund L.P incorporated by

reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed November 19 2008

10.26 Lease Termination and Termination Payment Agreement by and between NDNE 9/90

Crossing Limited Liability Company and LiveWire Mobile Inc dated as of December 30

2008 incorporated by reference to the Registrants Form 8-K filed January 2009



No Title

10.27 Standard Form Commercial Lease by and between LiveWire Mobile Inc and FPK

Realty LLC dated as of February 2008 as amended the Littleton Lease
10.28 Amendment to the Littleton Lease dated February 2008

10.29 Standard Form Commercial Lease between LiveWire Mobile Inc and FPK Realty LLC
dated as of April 25 2008 for 1474 square feet of lab space

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Chief Executive Officer certification required by Rule 13a-14a 17 CFR 240.13a-14a or

Rule 15d-14a 17 CFR 240.15d-14a

31.2 Chief Financial Officer certification required by Rule 13a-14a 17 CFR 240.13a-14a or

Rule 15d-14a 17 CFR 240.15d-14a

32.1 Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Chief Financial Officer certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Previously filed with the registration statement or report indicated

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company

LWM Corporation formerly LiveWire Mobile Inc

Monarch Drive

Suite 203

Littleton MA 01460

NMS Communications Europe Ltd

200 Brook Drive

Green Park

Reading Berkshire RG2 6UBUK

NMS Communications Europe S.A.S

Immeuble Pericles

144 Avenue Roger Salengro

92370 Chaville France

NMS Communications International Inc

Monarch Drive

Suite 203

Littleton MA 01460

NMS Communications Securities Corporation

Monarch Drive

Suite 203

Littleton MA 01460

Openera Technologies Inc

Monarch Drive

Suite 203

Littleton MA 01460



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8

File Nos 333-09135 333-57141 333-40940 333-65084 333-106280 333-125961 333-133185 and

333-134781 of LiveWire Mobile Inc of our report dated March 31 2009 relating to the financial

statements financial statement schedules and the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting which appears in this Form 10-K

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 31 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTiVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AS AMENDED AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Joel Hughes certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LiveWire Mobile Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e
and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and

15d-15f for the registrant and we have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this
report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

March 31 2009

Is JOEL HUGHES

Joel Hughes
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AS AMENDED AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Todd Donahue certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LiveWire Mobile Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e
and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and

15d-15f for the registrant and we have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

March 31 2009

Is TODD DONAHUE

Todd Donahue

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of LiveWire Mobile Inc the Company on Form 10-K for

the period ending December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the

date hereof the Report Joel Hughes Chief Executive Officer of the Company certify pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to my

knowledge that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Is JOEL HUGHES

Joel Hughes

Chief Executive Officer

March 31 2009

This Certification shall not be deemed part of the Report or incorporated by reference into any of

the Companys filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission by implication or by any reference

in any such filings to the Report



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of LiveWire Mobile Inc the Company on Form 10-K for

the period ending December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the

date hereof the Report Todd Donahue Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify

pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to

my knowledge that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Is TODD DONAHUE

Todd Donahue

Chief Financial Officer

March 31 2009

This Certification shall not be deemed part of the Report or incorporated by reference into any of

the Companys filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission by implication or by any reference

in any such filings to the Report



Board of Directors Shareholder Information

Joel Hughes STOCK TRADING INFORMATION

Chairman of the Board NASDAQ Global Market

and Chief Executive Officer Symbol LVWR

LiveWire Mobile Inc

TRANSFER AGENT

Thomas Dusenberry Computershare Trust Company N.A

Founder and Chief Executive Officer P0 Box 43078

Dusenberry Entertainment Providence RI 02940-3078

Shareholder Inquiries 877 282-1169

Frank King Corporate Website www.computershare.com

Private Investor

Former President LEGAL COUNSEL

and Chief Executive Officer Goodwin Procter LLP

PSW Technologies Exchange Place

53 State Street

Robert Pons Boston MA 02109

Senior Vice President of Capital Markets

TMNG Global INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pamela Reeve One International Place

Consultant Boston MA 02110

Former Chief Executive Officer

Lightbridge Inc ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held

Jill Thoerle on Wednesday May 27 2009 at 830 am ET

Chief Financial Officer at the offices of Goodwin Procter LLP

Mediaport Entertainment Inc Exchange Place 53 State Street

Boston Massachusetts 02110

FORM 10-K

Corporate Officers Stockholders that would like copy of Form 10-K

may receive one free of charge by visiting the

Joel Hughes LiveWire Mobile investor web site URL below or

Chairman of the Board contacting Investor Relations at 866 971 -4230 or

and Chief Executive Officer by e-mail at investorrelations@livewiremobile.com

EugeneDiDonato FORMOREINFORMATION
Vice President and General Counsel Visit our web site at www.livewiremobile.com

In the investor section you can sign-up for email

Todd Donahue delivery of news view financial reports retrieve

Chief Financial Officer stock prices and submit question

Joanne Mavroides

Vice President of Operations Denotes Directors and Officers subject to

the reporting requirements of Section 16

John Orlando of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Chief Marketing Officer

William Yapp

Vice President of Sales
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